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Section �: Introduction and Overview

�.� Introduction and Director-General’s overview

Since the establishment of District Health Boards (DHBs), the Ministry of Health (the Ministry) 
has played an important role in implementing the reform process. We have been central to the 
development and implementation of a wide range of health strategies and action plans. In short, 
we have made a significant contribution to the devolved health management environment we 
have now. 

After a review was commissioned in late 2006,  the Ministry underwent a change management 
process to enable the organisation to drive ‘harder and faster’ on priorities. As Director-General, 
and given the evolution of the sector over the past six years, I felt it was important to obtain 
feedback and the views of stakeholders, find out where they would like to see the Ministry place 
greater emphasis for the next three to five years. What really matters to me personally and to my 
staff is whether we make a difference to achieving improvement in the health and wellbeing of 
all New Zealanders. 

For this reason I have strengthened the measurement framework that will allow the Ministry to 
show that progress is being made. A set of headline indicators map to the Ministry’s outcomes 
that allow focus on better health and reduced inequalities. The 10 health targets map to the 
Minister’s priorities of chronic disease, child and youth services, elective services, primary 
health care, health of older people, infrastructure and value for money. The majority of these 
indicators will be analysed by ethnicity so we can measure progress on improving Māori health 
and reducing inequalities.

Reporting against indicators and outcomes is covered in detail in the Health and Independence 
Report, which is to be read in conjunction with this report. The Health and Independence Report 
now includes the Minister of Health’s responsibilities under the New Zealand Public Health and 
Disability Act 2000 to report annually on the implementation of the New Zealand Health Strategy 
and on progress implementing the Quality Improvement Strategy.

This Annual Report details the Ministry of Health’s financial and non-financial performance for 
the year ended 30 June 2007 and analyses Ministry progress towards a fair and functional health 
system. This report includes detailed information on the Ministry’s roles and functions, and 
outlines progress towards the outcomes identified in the Ministry’s 2006/07 Statement  
of Intent.
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Section 2:  The Ministry’s Contribution to the 
Health of new Zealanders

2.� Achieving Healthy new Zealanders
The Ministry contributes to improving health and independence by providing advice to 
government, and through its influence on and relationships with DHBs, practitioners, iwi and 
Māori organisations, Pacific communities, providers, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), 
other government sectors and the public. The Ministry also manages the provision of funding for 
some services that have not been devolved to DHBs. The Ministry’s aim is to ensure that the health 
and disability support system works for all New Zealanders. Achieving this means having a clear 
overview of the design, function and focus of the system, its strengths and weaknesses, and a 
thorough understanding of how appropriate change can be brought about. 

The conceptual link between the Ministry, the whole health and disability support sector and the 
overall goal of healthy New Zealanders is demonstrated in the Ministry’s outcomes framework 
(set out in Figure 1 below). The outcomes framework reflects the directions established by the two 
overarching strategies: the New Zealand Health Strategy and the New Zealand Disability Strategy. 

Figure �: The Ministry of Health outcomes framework
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The outcomes framework has three outcome levels, which are logically connected: 

1. societal outcomes – healthy New Zealanders 

2. system outcomes – a fair and functional health system 

3. Ministry outcomes – ensuring the system works for all New Zealanders.  

Reporting against the system and societal outcome levels of the outcomes framework for 2006/07 
is covered in detail in the Health and Independence Report, a statutory report that fulfils the 
Minister of Health’s responsibilities under the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 
to report annually on the implementation of the New Zealand Health Strategy and on progress 
implementing the Quality Improvement Strategy.  In addition, the Health and Independence Report 
fulfils the Director-General of Health’s obligation under the Health Act 1956 to report on the state 
on public health. 

System outcomes reflect the health and disability support system’s achievements, encompassing 
how people access services, the quality and effectiveness of services, the extent to which the 
system uses public resources in the best way, and how the system interacts with other sectors 
to enhance health and independence outcomes. Societal outcomes are the health and disability 
support outcomes valued by the Government and citizens, and which are necessary for healthy 
New Zealanders. They are influenced by the health and disability support sector as well as the 
broader activities of the Government and society.

Reporting against Ministry outcomes reflects the levers the Ministry has available to it to achieve 
a well-functioning health and disability support system. Achievement of outcomes at this level are 
largely determined by the functions the Ministry performs. A report against each outcome for the 
financial year is detailed below.

2.�.� Direction of leadership
There is a coherent, stable and widely understood direction for the system, informed by evidence 
and horizon scanning. Resourcing and incentives are aligned with this direction (including 
collaboration, co-ordination and service development).

• Discussions with key sector and internal stakeholders took place during 2006/07 to assist with 
scoping the basis for work on a long-term sector plan. This work will be a key deliverable for the 
Ministry during 2007/08. 

• Ministry planning culminated in a work programme, commencing in July 2007, for long-term 
strategy development, long-term demand modelling, high-level advice on the budget process 
and the level of Vote Health, advice on the population-based funding of DHBs, and a strategy on 
the public–private interface. 

• Development and implementation of health sector targets and the associated work programme 
began in 2006/07. 

• Analysis and support were provided for the introduction and consideration by select committee 
of the Therapeutic Products and Medicines Bill and the Human Tissue Bill (the latter in 
conjunction with consideration of a private member’s Bill).

• New Zealand hosted a very successful 57th session of the World Health Organization Western 
Pacific Regional Committee in Auckland in September 2006.

• The EXG review was incorporated into the work of the Performance Assessment and 
Management Steering Group.  The EXG Review has included:  

– the development and introduction of health targets
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– a DHB accountability arrangements review, resulting in streamlined and more focused 
accountability relationships 

– services area reviews in well child care, cardiovascular disease and diabetes, resulting in 
greater value for money

– the development of health sector productivity measurement tools, making the Ministry one 
of the first public sector agencies to have these

– a greater focus in the Ministry and health sector on evidence-based prioritisation, as 
demonstrated by the Vote Health process.  

• The Ministry provided advice to the Government on an amendment to the Smoke-free 
Environments Regulations 1999 to meet New Zealand obligations as a party to the Framework 
Convention on Tobacco Control.

• The Ministry managed the government-led review of the regulatory framework for alcohol 
advertising and provided secretariat and policy advice (by 30 June 2007).

• The Ministry has been working with the DHB Chief Executives and/or senior managers of 
Tairawhiti, Northland, Whanganui and Lakes DHBs on the Four DHBs Inequalities Project. The 
project aims to address the inequalities identified in the report Monitoring Neighbourhood 
Inequality Through Neighbourhood Life Expectancy: Public Health Intelligence occasional 
bulletin no. 28 by working closely with these DHBs to improve their respective average levels of 
health and distribution of health through a suite of targeted interventions.

• The platform for action, Whakatātaka Tuarua: Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011, was 
launched (Minister of Health and Associate Minister of Health 2006). This plan sets objectives 
for Māori health over the next five years, building on Whakatātaka: The Māori Health Action Plan 
2002–2005 (Minister of Health and Associate Minister of Health 2002).

2.�.2 System monitoring 
Monitoring of the performance of the system and of specific organisations within it is used to 
improve the design and operation of the system including the performance of organisations  
within it.

• Twenty-one DHBs were monitored in accordance with the Monitoring Intervention Framework.

• Eight Crown entities were monitored against the output agreements and/or Statement of Intent 
(SOI), as appropriate, in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.

• Reports on DHBs’ progress against the Crown funding agreements were produced.

• Assessments of DHB performance using indicators of DHB performance (IDPs) were completed.

• Reports on Crown entities’ progress against output agreements and/or the SOI (as appropriate, 
in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004) were produced.

• Two reviews of individual DHBs were completed.

2.�.3 Operating environment 
Unnecessary constraints on participants in the system are minimised and there are widely 
understood mechanisms and structures in place to protect public safety and equity.

• The Ministry began work with the Electoral Working Party of the Society of Local Government 
Managers, the Department of Internal Affairs and DHBs in preparation for the October 2007  
DHB elections.
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• The Ministry promoted continuous improvement in the provision of safe and quality-focused 
health and disability services through the administration and enforcement of statutory 
obligations in the Health and Disability Services (Safely) Act 2001.

• The National Health Epidemiology and Quality Assurance Committee (EPIQUAL) was renamed 
the Quality Improvement Committee (QIC), with revised terms of reference and an increased 
membership. QIC is building on the Scoping the Priorities for Quality in the Health and Disability 
Sector report produced by EPIQUAL by developing national programmes, which include 
improving medication safety.

• The HealthPAC audit programme identified recoveries or savings of $13,410,722 from 
inappropriate claiming for health service and changes in claimant behaviour following audit 
intervention. This involved the completion of five prosecutions of service providers and the start 
of another three.

• The Ministry continued to process new medicine applications, and changed medicine 
notifications and licences for radiation protection. 

2.�.4 System funding 
Financial resources are secured for the system and are allocated on a fair and transparent  basis 
within it.

During 2006/07 the Ministry continued to: 

• manage the distribution of funding to DHBs and Crown entities

• fund disability support services, including negotiating service agreements with providers, 
payments for services, provider audit and monitoring, and payment of claims from people with 
a disability

• fund a range of national personal and public health services

• purchase post-clinical education and training.

2.�.5 Systems capability 
Ensuring (within the ambit of the Ministry’s functions) that the key inputs – including  physical 
resources, workforce and information – are in place.

• The Health Workforce Taskforce was established in September and given six months to provide 
a report on streamlining medical education. The report was completed on time in March and 
released in May.

• An application by psychotherapists for regulation under the Health Practitioners Competence 
Assurance Act 2003 was successfully consulted on and managed by the Ministry to completion, 
with Cabinet approving an order to establish a psychotherapy board.

• A discussion document, Career Framework, which will be a key part of the future development of 
the health and disability workforce, was developed with sector involvement from November to 
March and agreed by Cabinet in May. It is currently out for consultation.

• A new Nursing Entry to Practice programme (NETP) for nurses was implemented in September 
2006. All DHBs have passed their initial Nursing Council audit and NETP is now available 
across the country. An evaluation framework has been developed, and the programme will be 
evaluated over the next two years.

• A Midwifery First Year of Practice programme commenced in February 2007. The programme is 
designed to provide the support needed to develop the specific knowledge and skills required 
to progress from a competent to a confident midwife.
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• The stage 2 business case for the National Systems Development Programme was signed off 
by Ministers in July 2007. A number of significant improvements, mostly to national health 
payment systems, have already been delivered within the first funded stage of the programme.  
Areas focused on included improvements to the maternity payment system, the introduction 
of electronic scanning of agreements, improvements to the contract management system, 
electronic entry of national travel assistance information, and stabilisation of the current Health 
Information Network. Overall, these improvements relate to replacing manual methods with 
more efficient electronic processes. The programme is now moving into the detailed planning 
and design phase.

• A public document outlining the Key Directions for Information Systems to support the 
achievement of the Primary Health Care Strategy was developed. Written submissions 
were invited, and eight regional workshops on the document were co-hosted with the 
Health Information Strategy Action Committee. Analysis was completed and a high-level 
implementation road map was developed by June 2007.

2.2 Intersectoral activities and links to government 
priorities 

Working towards an overall aim of healthy New Zealanders often involves co-ordinating Ministry 
activities and projects with other state agencies. During 2006/07 the Ministry was involved in 
many inter-agency activities and projects, as mentioned throughout this report. In addition to 
these, the Ministry:

• led the whole-of-government initiative to plan for a pandemic, with the Ministry of Agriculture 
and Forestry and the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet

• worked with: 

– the New Zealand Immigration Service to reduce the incidence of tuberculosis in New Zealand, 
particularly among new arrivals

– PHARMAC and DHBs to source and deliver vaccines for vaccination programmes 

worked on: 

– issues relating to alcohol, illicit and other drug use under the interagency framework of the 
National Drug Policy with NZ Police, Customs, the Ministry of Justice, the Department of 
Corrections and ALAC

– suicide prevention strategies with the Ministries of Social and Youth Development and  
Te Puni Kōkiri.

The Ministry’s contribution to the Government goal: Families Young and Old, via intersectoral and 
interagency activities, is described below.

2.2.� Health of Older People
The Ministry released an issues paper, Care and Support in the Community for Older People in New 
Zealand. This paper was used to focus discussions with stakeholders about community-based 
services and programmes, including the issues and challenges of implementing care and support 
in the community. The findings from the discussions and written feedback will inform Ministry of 
Health work on defining the range of support services that should generally be available for older 
people in the community.  
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2.2.2 Taskforce for Action on Violence within Families (TAVF)
In addition to contributing to the overall work of the Taskforce, the Ministry undertook a Family 
Violence Death Review, which was completed on time. The Ministry is awaiting feedback 
and approval from the Ministerial Taskforce on the Death Review for any further action and 
development of the Review.  

2.2.3 Kia Puawai
Kia Puawai is a cross-agency early intervention initiative led by the Ministry of Social Development.  
The aim of Kia Puawai is to integrate early invention and prevention initiatives for children and 
families across a range of social service agencies. The Ministry’s contribution to Kia Puawai is 
in the area of the Well Child Framework Review, infant mental health initiative, and a review of 
maternity and free under-six doctor visits policy.

2.2.4 Improving outcomes for young people in Counties Manukau and 
Otahuhu

This work started with a focus on addressing issues with youth gangs in the Counties Manukau 
area. The project, which is a major interagency collaboration, is being led by the Ministry of Social 
Development. The Ministry of Health has been involved in national across-agency decision-making, 
and in supporting the sterling work that is being done by Counties Manukau DHB on the ground 
in terms of providing health services, supporting youth workers and working collaboratively with 
other agencies.  

2.2.5 Implementing the Youth Offending Strategy
As part of the implementation of this strategy, the Ministry has been working with the Department 
of Child, Youth and Family Services, the Ministry of Education and local providers to develop a 
process that allows children and youth (10–16 years) to have their health and education needs 
assessed and appropriate referrals made when they come to the attention of the youth justice 
system. The effectiveness of these interventions is currently being evaluated. Work is also under 
way with key youth justice agencies to explore ways in which young offenders can have better 
access to mental health and alcohol and other drug services, including forensic services.

2.2.6 Addressing the health and disability needs of children and youth 
involved with Child, Youth and Family

Initially led by Child, Youth and Family, and now led by the Ministry of Social Development, this 
is a suite of work aimed at improving the health and education status of children involved with 
Child, Youth and Family, including those with disabilities. Work is almost complete on strategies to 
support parents with mental illness and those with disabilities. 

A significant piece of work was undertaken to clarify what can be done to proactively identify 
and address the needs of children with severe antisocial behaviour, including conduct disorder.  
We now have a clear direction for future investment in this area. A review of the memorandum 
of understanding between the Ministry and Child, Youth and Family relating to children with 
disabilities is under way. Improving access to health services for Child, Youth and Family clients 
has been the focus of a major project involving all 21 DHBs and has improved access to health 
services, particularly for children in Child, Youth and Family residences. A final report on the project 
is due out before Christmas.
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2.3 Reducing inequalities 
2.3.� Māori health
The health and disability sector has a focus on improving Māori health and reducing health 
inequalities for Māori. Health inequalities for Māori are complex and require system-wide 
approaches. The Ministry of Health and District Health Boards (DHBs) will be working over the 
coming years to identify successful approaches to reducing health inequalities, improving Māori 
health, and to support the adaptation and implementation of these approaches throughout the 
country as appropriate.

The New Zealand health system is concerned with building on the considerable gains already made 
in Māori health. Major gains in Māori provider development and Māori workforce development 
have begun, and will continue, to strengthen Māori infrastructure and leadership.

Activities in 2006/07 included the following.

• The platform for action, Whakatātaka Tuarua: Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011, was 
launched (Minister of Health and Associate Minister of Health 2006). This plan sets objectives 
for Māori health over the next five years, building on Whakatātaka: The Māori Health Action Plan 
2002–2005 (Minister of Health and Associate Minister of Health 2002).

• The Ministry has been working with the DHB Chief Executives and/or senior managers of 
Tairawhiti, Northland, Whanganui and Lakes DHBs on the Four DHBs Inequalities Project. The 
project aims to address the inequalities identified in the report Monitoring Neighbourhood 
Inequality through Neighbourhood Life Expectancy: Public Health Intelligence occasional 
bulletin no. 28 by working closely with these DHBs to improve their respective average levels of 
health and distribution of health through a suite of targeted interventions.  

• The Ministry  continued to facilitate communication and information sharing through its 
newsletter Ngā Kō rero. A variety of presentations and workshops were also held with health and 
disability sector organisations, DHB boards and management teams, and iwi and Māori providers 
on Whakatātaka Tuarua, Māori health research, and other Māori health and disability issues. 

• A portfolio of research, evaluation and statistical information, including a new web resource 
that is an easy to use and accessible source of Māori health statistical information  
(see http://www.Maorihealth.govt.nz/moh.nsf/menuma/Statistics), and the Māori Health 
Review (see: www.maorihealthreview.co.nz), an online monthly publication for disseminating 
Māori research findings, were launched. 

• The Ministry has been negotiating with the WAI 692 – Napier Hospital and Health Services 
claimants to resolve issues related to the health needs of Māori in the Napier (Ahuriri) area. 

• The Ministry of Health has  been working with WAI 1315 Primary Health Organisations claimants 
to address issues around the constraints for small practices participating in the very low cost 
access scheme, while serving Māori populations and other populations with high health needs.

• The Whānau Ora Awards (held every two years) were held in Wellington in November 2006 to 
showcase Māori health provider excellence and innovation. The Māori Provider Development 
Scheme continued to be administered with more than 500 scholarships granted to assist 
students studying in relevant Māori health fields. An evaluation of the Hauora Māori 
Scholarship Programme (part of the Māori Provider Development Scheme) found that the 
scholarships made a substantial contribution to developing and expanding the Māori health 
and disability workforce.
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• The Ministry of Health will be working with DHBs to ensure the targets agreed for addressing 
equity are met; particularly, how DHBs will work to not only improve the health of Māori in their 
districts but also to ensure Māori have equitable health outcomes.  

Fundamental to reducing inequalities is having a solid evidence base. More activity will occur 
to improve the quality and collection of ethnicity data and to understand more about the nature 
and extent of inequalities in the target areas. The Ministry of Health will continue to develop and 
support Māori providers and to develop the Māori health workforce.

2.3.2 Pacific peoples’ health
The increased focus by the Ministry of Health and the broader health sector on the health of Pacific 
peoples over the last few years has produced positive results in some areas, such as the success 
of the Meningococcal B immunisation programme, improved access for Pacific peoples to primary 
health care services and the strengthening of Pacific health service providers.  However, significant 
health inequalities remain for Pacific peoples in New Zealand.  

In 2006/07, the Ministry of Health’s work focused on:

• building a Pacific health knowledge and information base

•  building capacity and capability in Pacific providers and the Pacific workforce to support 
them to lead service innovation and to implement the Pacific Health and Disability Workforce 
Development Plan (Ministry of Health 2004a)

• supporting mainstream health services, including DHBs and PHOs, to deliver high-quality, 
culturally competent services for Pacific peoples by monitoring DHB activity and providing  
policy advice

• facilitating communication and information sharing within the Pacific health sector and with 
the wider health sector with publications such as Voyages magazine and the Pacific Health 
Research Review.

A review of the Pacific Health and Disability Action Plan (Minister of Health 2002) identified child 
health and chronic disease as key clinical priority areas.  Addressing these priorities requires the 
health sector to provide effective, culturally competent health services and leadership from the 
Pacific community to support lifestyle changes.

2.3.3 Headline indicators
A primary set of headline indicators are monitored and reported for each of the Ministry’s societal 
and system-level outcomes. High level indicators of inequality include life expectancy, healthy 
life expectancy, mortality disparity, and infant mortality. Inequalities are also measured across 
cancer screening and cancer survival, immunisation coverage, ambulatory-sensitive (avoidable) 
hospital admissions, diabetes management, cardiovascular disease mortality, smoking prevalence 
and consumption, and obesity. In future years as data quality improves, more indicators will be 
analysed by ethnicity and deprivation. The headline indicators were selected by the Director-
General of Health’s Performance Assessment and Management (PAM) Steering Group to achieve 
a more complete understanding of the functioning and achievements of the sector and to use 
this understanding to direct the actions and investments of the sector. Health sector progress on 
the headline indicators is analysed in the Health and Independence Report, tabled annually in 
Parliament (to be read in conjunction with this Annual Report).
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2.3.4 Health Targets
As part of the Health Expenditure Review a range of performance improvement initiatives were 
implemented, including the announcement of a set of 10 national Health Targets in priority 
areas. The targets are the joint responsibility of the Ministry of Health and DHBs and they became 
effective on 1 July 2007 (Ministry of Health 2007).

A key principle underpinning all the Health Targets is the reduction of inequalities for those 
groups who currently have worse health status than other New Zealanders, particularly Māori, 
Pacific peoples and those who are most deprived. For 2007/2008, targets are set by ethnicity for 
improving diabetes and reducing ambulatory-sensitive (avoidable) hospital admissions and for 
the year following, this will include childhood immunisations, oral health, tobacco harm reduction, 
and nutrition/physical activity/obesity reduction. In future years, as data quality improves, we will 
measure performance in all relevant target areas by ethnicity.

The Ministry will be working with DHBs to ensure the targets address equity; particularly, how DHBs 
will work to not only improve the health of the Māori and Pacific populations in their districts but 
also to ensure equity in health outcomes for these populations.

Progress against the Health Targets will be published on the Ministry website each quarter, with the 
first report scheduled for November 2007. The dedicated Health Targets website: www.moh.govt.
nz/healthtargets currently includes general information on targets and the targets agreed by DHBs 
for 2007/08. As performance information becomes available on a quarterly basis (for the majority of 
indicators) the website will be updated to provide views of comparative performance by target area 
as well as by individual DHB.

2.3.5 Tracking disparities
The Decades of Disparity series (Ajwani et al 2003, Blakely et al 2007, Ministry of Health 2005, 
Ministry of health and University of Otago 2006) represent key Ministry-led research efforts to track 
the ethnic and socio-economic inequalities in mortality since 1980. The most recent finding is that 
the pattern of a recent stabilisation or narrowing in mortality inequalities (from 1996–99 to  
2001–04) does not apply to all groups. For example, low income young adults have shown 
no reduction in mortality over the whole period (from 1981–2004), while their high income 
counterparts have shown a steady improvement, leading to a continuous widening of income 
inequality in mortality among young adults. Also, the recent improvement in mortality has been 
greater for Māori than for Pacific ethnic groups.

Findings also show that cardiovascular disease is becoming relatively less important (although it is 
still the leading cause), and cancer relatively more important, as a contributor to both ethnic and 
income inequalities in mortality.

Finally, estimates indicate that socioeconomic mediation accounts for at least half of the Māori : 
European/Other inequality in mortality, and (in working age groups) at least half of the widening  
in this inequality that occurred from the mid 1980s to the mid to late 1990s.  Similarly, the 
possible more recent stabilisation or narrowing of mortality inequalities (from 1996–99 to  
2001–04) may in turn reflect the recent narrowing in social inequalities between Māori and 
European/Other ethnic groups.

2.3.6 Improving ethinicity data collection
The ability to analyse health information by ethnicity is crucial in determining progress in  
achieving reducing inequality goals. The quality of ethnicity data underpins the accuracy of 
monitoring and the ability of providers and policy makers to adjust health interventions to reach 
the outcomes sought. 
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District Health Boards receive regular feedback on ethnicity quality indicators on a monthly and 
quarterly basis via the DHB Accountability Framework. This information is also discussed annually 
with each DHB CEO.

Education on ethnicity data collection is provided through:

• the distribution of the Ethnicity Data Protocols for the Health and Disability Sector

• specific training on using the Protocols

• providing a help-desk service to answer specific queries on ethnicity data quality. 

Advice and assistance has been provided to:

• software vendors to resolve technical issues related to ethnicity data recording

• Mental Health Information Collection (MHINC) Māori Health providers on data quality issues 
identification, resolution and improvements.

The Ministry is working with Statistics NZ to agree how best to implement the Statistics NZ Ethnicity 
Standard (2005) in the health and disability sector. Dialogue with Statistics NZ on proposed 
changes to the Ethnicity Standard is ongoing to ensure that use of the Standard, and associated 
communications about ethnicity by Statistics NZ, do not result in the inaccurate recording of counts 
of Māori populations. 

The Ministry is re-examining indicators of ethnicity data quality, use of standard computer 
interfaces to improve recording quality, and improvements in the processes it uses to inform 
collectors of quality issues to ensure that ethnicity data quality continues to improve.
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Section 3:  2006/07 Priorities and Initiatives
3.� Reporting against health priorities
3.�.� The overarching strategies
The New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 requires the New Zealand Health Strategy 
and the New Zealand Disability Strategy to be in place to provide the framework for the health and 
disability sector’s overall direction. Reporting against the New Zealand Health Strategy is covered 
within the Health and Independence Report, to be read in conjunction with this report. The Ministry 
of Health contributes to an annual parliamentary report on progress in implementing the New 
Zealand Disability Strategy in a separate publication produced by the Office for Disability Issues, 
on behalf on the Minister for Disability Issues.  

3.�.2 The specific strategies and 2006/07 priorities and initiatives
Reporting on achievements against specific strategies and priorities and initiatives are reported 
as part of the ‘Statement of Service Performance’ (section 5). Links to relevant departmental 
output classes and links to system and societal outcome levels of our outcomes framework (where 
appropriate) are identified below. Progress towards system and societal outcomes are reported 
within the Health and Independence Report.

Table �: Specific strategies and priorities and initiatives

Specific strategies Relevant output class for reporting

Mental Health Strategy Mental Health

Health of Older People Strategy Sector Policy

Primary Health Care Strategy Clinical Services 

He Korowai Oranga Māori Health

 Getting ahead of the chronic disease burden

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• cancer control 

• maternal and newborn information system 

• cardiovascular disease and diabetes

Clinical Services

• colorectal Cancer screening

• breast cancer screening

Management of National Screening 
Programmes 

• Healthy Eating – Healthy Action

• tobacco control

• reducing alcohol use

Public Health 

• provision of long-term support for chronic medical conditions Sector Policy

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcomes as reported within the Health 
and Independence Report:
• radiotherapy waiting times

• CVD mortality rates 

• cancer survival rates (2) 

• diabetes management (HbA1c)

• smoking prevalence and consumption 

• cancer screening coverage 

• obesity.
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Child and youth services

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• universal newborn hearing screening programme

• newborn metabolic screening progamme

• phased implementation of universal routine-offer antenatal HIV 
screening for women in New Zealand 

• antenatal screening for Down’s syndrome 

Management of National 
Screening Programmes

• Well Child services 

• strengthening oral health services for young people 

• primary health care for under-sixes

Clinical Services

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcome:

• immunisation coverage.

Primary health care

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• low-cost access 

• focus on prevention and early detection 

• broadening the range of health professionals involved in the 
continuum of care 

• access to primary health care for under-sixes. 

Clinical Services 

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcome:

• primary health care utilisation (contacts/enrolee per annum) 

• ambulatory-sensitive hospitalisations (1)

• diabetes management (HbA1c) 

Health of Older People

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• implementing the Health of Older People Information Strategic 
Plan 

• assessment 

• ageing in place 

• improving the quality and safety of services for older people 

• income and asset testing legislation 

• sustainability of services.

Sector Policy

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcome:

• Age-related residential care admissions (as a percentage of older people’s population).
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Health infrastructure and workforce

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• business cases for national data capability for long-term 
conditions 

• key directions for information systems to support the Primary 
Health Care Strategy 

• maternal and newborn information system development 

Clinical Services

• national systems review Information Services

• National Cervical Screening Programme Register  
– Replacement Register 

Management of National 
Screening Programmes

• health workforce information programme 

• implementing a new entry to practice programme for nurses 

• development of a national non-admitted patients (outpatient) 
collection 

• workforce education and training 

DHB Funding and Performance 
and 
Sector Policy

• development of the Public Health Bill Public Health

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcome:

• matching of health workforce to population characteristics

• proportion of health records with NHI  number.

Cost effectiveness

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• Primary Health Care Strategy monitoring framework 

• service planning and new health interventions (SPINA) 

Clinical Services

• DHB cost effectiveness and efficiency reviews DHB Funding and Performance

Associated system level indicators to measure progress towards outcome:

• day case rates

• age-related residential care admissions (as a percentage of older people’s population)

• efficiency of primary health care (PHO expenditure for pharms and labs in relation to target levels).

Quality and safety

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• delegated Statutory duties (certification)

• analytical and secretariat support to statutory committees

Clinical Services
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Elective services

2006/07 initiatives Relevant output class

• targets and deliverables agreed with DHBs

• reporting on DHB performance

DHB Funding and Performance

3.�.2 Measuring the cost effectiveness of interventions
In 2006/07 the Ministry used cost per output in DHB provider arms as a measure of cost 
effectiveness. Progress against this is reported in the Health and Independence Report under 
section 2.9: Efficiency and Value for Money. Cost per output is viewed against measures of health 
gain to ensure that health gain is not made at the expense of efficiency.

Against a backdrop of stronger Ministry of Health leadership, as set out in the December 2006 
interim report to Cabinet,1 the Minister of Health set out to advance the health sector  
performance by:

• setting and integrating national health targets to lift outcomes in key priority areas

• reorienting the role of the Ministry of Health to drive ‘harder and faster’ in priority areas

• reconfiguring services in priority areas within existing resources (starting with well child 
services, cardiovascular disease and diabetes).

3.�.3 Strengthening performance management
In February 2006 Cabinet agreed that the health sector should be reviewed with the aim of ‘lifting 
productivity and improving performance management processes in specific health areas’. A set of 
national health target areas was announced and incorporated into the 2007/08 planning process.  
Achievement in these target areas will be the joint responsibility of the Ministry and DHBs. In 
2007/08 the health target areas include:

• improving immunisation coverage

• improving oral health 

• improving elective services

• reducing cancer waiting times

• reducing ambulatory-sensitive hospitalisations

• improving diabetes services

• improving mental health services

• improving nutrition, increasing physical activity and reducing obesity

• reducing the harm caused by tobacco use

• reducing the percentage of the health budget spent on the Ministry of Health.

The Ministry is looking closely at each target area to understand performance trends and the 
factors related to success. This analysis will help to identify DHBs that may require additional 
assistance to achieve their targets. It will also help to identify new target areas as progress is 
achieved on some of the existing targets. The international evidence suggests that it is more 
effective to limit the number of targets, and that the target set needs to be refreshed from time 
to time.

1 EXG Min (06) 6/6 refers
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In many countries health targets are introduced alongside incentives for achieving against the 
targets – or sanctions for poor performance. Pay-for-performance is an increasingly common 
phenomenon in health systems throughout the world. Launched in January 2006, the PHO 
Performance Management Programme, which includes modest payments to PHOs (primary health 
organisations) based on performance, is New Zealand’s initial effort at pay-for-performance.  
To the extent that the national health target areas align with indicators of PHO performance, there 
are indirect financial incentives in place.

A review of DHB accountability arrangements was also conducted in collaboration with DHBs and 
central government agencies, and is on course to deliver practical proposals to streamline and 
simplify the DHB accountability arrangements and sharpen the focus of the Ministry and DHBs 
on performance improvement. An assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of the existing 
arrangements has resulted in the following early conclusions.

• More emphasis should be placed on district strategic plans relative to annual plans as a key 
tool for driving sector performance, supported by an assessment of the health needs of DHB 
populations.

• The accountability arrangements – especially the district strategic plans – should reflect all the 
dimensions of a ‘well-performing DHB’.

• It would be more meaningful for DHBs to produce an annual statement (replacing the existing 
cumbersome district annual plan) that reports on progress towards the district strategic plan 
and sets objectives and targets for the coming year.

• There should be a collaborative (Ministry and DHB) assessment of each DHB’s performance 
against their district strategic plan.

• There should be active review and greater support for performance improvement in priority 
areas, with selective use of background monitoring in other areas.

• Processes for dealing with Crown funding agreement variations and variations to services can be 
streamlined.

3.�.4 Improving PHO performance management
With PHO establishment completed, the new phase of PHO performance management sees 
DHBs becoming much more responsible for supporting performance improvement in PHOs. The 
Ministry’s role is now shifting from operational implementation to monitoring and supporting DHB 
performance improvement activities.

PHO performance is monitored by DHBs through service provision reports, yearly reporting 
mechanisms and the PHO Performance Management Programme. This programme has been 
designed to improve the health of enrolled populations and reduce inequalities by supporting 
clinical governance and rewarding quality improvement within PHOs. Improvements in 
performance against a range of nationally consistent indicators have resulted in incentive 
payments to PHOs. Started in January 2006 with 29 PHOs, the programme now includes 77 of the 
81 PHOs, with the remaining four due to come on board in July 2007.

Through ongoing improvements to PHO data systems, the PHO Performance Management 
Programme will be able to deploy a greater array of performance indicators. Many of these second-
phase indicators, which will be implemented during the 2007/08 year, will encompass priority 
areas such as reducing the chronic disease burden, particularly for cardiovascular disease and 
diabetes. The indicators will link to the health targets and send a clear signal to the sector about 
this priority area.
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Since the roll-out of very-low-cost access payments to PHOs in October 2006, regional fee 
review committees have been established to ensure PHO fee increases do not occur outside the 
acceptable parameters, and that a low-fees environment is maintained.

3.�.5 leadership, collaboration and greater responsiveness
The Ministry has also focused more on providing practical assistance to help DHBs both use 
resources efficiently and fund services and facilities appropriate to their populations. During 
2006/07 a joint Whanganui DHB review provided an example of a new model of helping DHBs in 
this collaborative way, with a focus on regional co-ordination of service provision where needed. 
The review aimed to assist Whanganui DHB to fund services and facilities appropriate to its 
population, and to live within its means. One of the key findings was that the DHB should establish 
a regional task force to develop a concept plan for regional women’s and children’s health services 
in the Whanganui-MidCentral region. 

The Ministry has been working with the DHB Chief Executives and/or senior managers of Tairawhiti, 
Northland, Whanganui and Lakes DHBs on the Four DHBs Inequalities Project. The project aims 
to address the inequalities identified in the report Monitoring Neighbourhood Inequality through 
Neighbourhood Life Expectancy: Public Health Intelligence occasional bulletin no. 28 by working 
closely with these DHBs to improve their respective average levels of health and distribution of 
health through a suite of targeted interventions. 

The Ministry has shifted the focus of its Statement of Intent (SOI) and budget from managing 
funding pressures to an approach that actively seeks evidence of value for money and benefit, 
clarifies the link between funding and expected health outcomes, and is more closely focused on 
government priorities. In particular, the Ministry interventions included in the 2007/08 SOI were 
co-ordinated around key priority areas and a series of remaining core functions which the Ministry 
is required (by legislation, for example) to undertake. The purpose of this alignment is to focus 
resources on a limited number of priority areas, which should enable greater co-ordination and 
rationalisation of efforts and therefore achieve goals faster.  

3.�.6 Emergency planning
The Ministry led a nationwide test to respond to an influenza pandemic which was one of the 
bigger exercises staged by the New Zealand Government. The exercise tested every phase of the 
response to an influenza pandemic as set out in the New Zealand Influenza Pandemic Action 
Plan (NZIPAP). As part of the overarching National Health Emergency Plan, two exercises were 
conducted: Exercise Makgill and Exercise Cruickshank. Exercise Makgill allowed the health sector 
to practice the ‘Stamp it out’ phase of response to a pandemic. Exercise Cruikshank was an all-of-
government drill to practice and strengthen the NZIPAP plans and test the intersectoral response at 
all four stages of an influenza pandemic. Lessons learnt from Exercise Makgill enabled planning in 
a wide range of areas to progress significantly before Exercise Cruickshank.  



�8 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2007

Section 4: Managing the Ministry of Health 
There have been major changes in the health sector over the last six years, including increased 
investment in health and disability services, the development of PHOs, and the setting up 
and implementation of DHBs. The Ministry of Health has played a leading role in successfully 
introducing these current health settings.

Given where the sector is placed now, the Review of the Current State of the Ministry of Health was 
undertaken between October and December 2006 to assess whether the Ministry is in the right 
position to successfully advance the next phase for the health sector. Feedback was sought from 
a wide audience to clarify the Ministry’s role and purpose, and to assess the Ministry’s planning, 
ability to perform its role, and capability to deliver.  

The review also set out to assess the quality and effectiveness of the Ministry’s relationships, 
and to assess performance and responsiveness to priorities. In other words, as part of the review 
stakeholders were asked what the Ministry needs to do to improve. Key findings  included:

• a number of potential roles for the Ministry of Health are not clearly evident within current 
Ministry plans and actions, and these warrant a significantly increased emphasis

• a need to establish an enhanced internal annual planning and strategic planning process

• there are opportunities for improvement within the Ministry’s people capability, organisational 
capability and infrastructural capability

• there is variability in the quality and effectiveness of the Ministry’s relationships with key 
stakeholders

• the Ministry is achieving planned actions as established within the SOI and Output Plan  

• New Zealand compares well internationally on a wide range of health measures

• responsiveness to key priorities and core responsibilities tends to be reactive rather than 
proactive, so there is a need to improve Ministry performance timeliness.

4.� Change and Development Work Programme
In response to the review findings, a Change and Development Work Programme was implemented, 
which covers three key three workstreams.

•  Ministry of Health functions and organisational form – this work included looking at the role of 
the Ministry within the wider health sector, how the Ministry functions as a whole organisation, 
and how the Ministry could be more innovative and support innovation in the sector. As a 
result, a new organisation structure will take effect from 1 July 2007.

• Organisational Performance Framework – this work is about improving internal systems for 
monitoring our performance as an organisation, with processes and systems in place before 
the end of June to focus on the implementation of our SOI and Output Plan commitments for 
2007/08.

•  Long-term strategy development and health sector planning – longer-term planning and working 
with the health sector will pick up momentum during 2007/08.
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4.2 Ministry people: staff numbers as at 30 June 2007 
The total number of staff (both ongoing and fixed-term) in the core Ministry was 806.3 full-time 
equivalents as at 30 June 2007.

Table 2: number of core Ministry staff

Directorate Ongoing staff Fixed term Total

Corporate and Information 231.9 64.5 296.4

Clinical Services 61.0 13.0 74.0

DHB Funding and Performance 89.2 4.0 93.2

Disability Services 52.7 3.0 55.7

Māori Health 24.8 0.0 24.8

Mental Health 38.9 5.5 44.5

Public Health 133.9 14.3 148.2

Sector Policy 65.1 4.5 69.6

Total 6�7.4 �08.� 806.3

A further 457.3 full-time equivalents (36% of total Ministry staff) are employed in the Ministry’s 
business units providing services for the sector.

Table 3: Business unit staff numbers, as at 30 June 2007

Business unit Ongoing staff Fixed term Total

HealthPAC 147.2 5.0 152.2

New Zealand Health Information Service 68.0 3.0 71.0

Information Technology Services 85.1 2.7 87.7

Clinical Training Agency 7.7 1.0 8.7

Medsafe 51.3 4.1 55.4

National Radiation Laboratory 25.3 0.0 25.3

National Screening Unit 37.1 1.0 38.1

Public Health Intelligence 11.0 8.0 19.0

Total 432.6 24.7 457.3

The annual turnover for ongoing staff (excluding redundancies and fixed-term staff) up to  
30 June 2007 was 16.2 percent. The ratio of female (62.8% ) to male (37.2% ) staff in the Ministry 
has remained consistent over the last five years.
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4.2.� Distribution of staff, by ethnic origin

Figure 2: Distribution of staff, by ethnic origin

Figure 3: Distribution of Māori staff, by work role group

At 30 June 2007, Māori made up 7.7 percent of the Ministry workforce (down from 1% from last 
year). By contrast, Māori made up almost 17 percent of the total public service at 
30 June 2004.2

2  Human Resource Capability Survey of Public Service Departments as at 30 June 2006 (workforce profile).  State 
Services Commission, November 2006.
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Eighteen percent of the Ministry’s Māori staff held a management or supervisory position in  
the Ministry at June 2007; 21 percent were in support positions and the remaining 61 percent held 
advisory, analyst or technical positions. Twenty-five percent of Māori staff were male and  
75 percent  were female. The majority of female Māori staff (20%) held support positions. The 
majority of male Māori staff (20%) held support analyst positions and a further 16 percent  of male 
Māori staff held advisory positions.

4.2.2 Developing and maintaining our capability
The Ministry’s own capacity and capability initiatives have been mapped on to the State Services 
Commission development goals 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6. Commentary is provided below on progress 
against these initiatives.

SSC Development Goal �:  
Employer of choice: ensuring the state services is an employer of choice, attractive to 
high achievers with a commitment to service

During 2006/07, the Ministry completed:

•  an analysis of critical recruitment and retention areas within the Ministry  

• provision of additional support to staff through the redesign phase of the change programme

• an employment and pay equity review  

• a review of the protocols to support rotation and secondment

• a publication (booklet) that provides a sample of career histories of employees who have made 
a career in the Ministry of Health, for use in recruitment  

•  a Māori competency planner

• promoting policies for flexible work opportunities.

SSC Development Goal 2:  
Excellent state servants: a framework for learning and development across  
government agencies

• A proposed programme for new managers and the Career Pathing resource have been designed 
to assist in developing management capability.

• A review of managerial delegations has been completed.

• A report  on team performance and rewards.

• Contracting has been included within the internal training programme.  

• Consistent positive feedback and good attendance levels have been achieved for the internal 
training programme.

•	 HRIS Strategy: evaluations are complete, and a business case for purchase is currently being 
undertaken and is due for consideration by ELT in the first quarter of 2007/08.  

SSC Development Goal 3: 
networked state services: use technology to transform the provision of service to  
new Zealanders

•	 During the 2006/07 financial year there have been a number of ongoing improvements aimed 
at stabilising the infrastructure and making better use of fixed assets.  
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•	 Improvements in national information systems have also been made ahead of the major works 
planned through the National Systems Development Programme.  

•	 The National Health Index, PHI3 Online, HPI, national collections and payments systems have all 
received attention throughout the year.

•	 The Ministry has initiated a National Systems Development Programme of investment in key 
national health information systems to ensure these systems continue to provide appropriate 
support to health policy-makers, administrators, providers and researchers.

• The Ministry is currently working through a website consolidation project that aims to bring the 
Ministry’s main website (www.moh.govt.nz) in line with State Services Commission  
e-government guidelines. 

• A refreshing of the Ministry’s Information Systems Strategic Plan was commenced during 2006.  

SSC Development Goal 4:  
Co-ordinated state agencies: ensure the total contribution of government agencies is 
greater than the sum of its parts

•	 The Ministry’s work on the development of a National Health Emergency Plan continued in 
2006/07.

•	 A number of joint outcomes relating to health information were achieved through membership 
of or participation in the following forums:

– information forums

– social services (Ministry of Social Development-led) forums

– joint DHB forums

– youth gangs and justice forums.

•	   A Career Pathing resource has been included as part of the wider Leadership Support 
Framework, aimed at new and existing managers. The framework includes a focus on building 
networks in the wider health sector.

SSC Development Goal 6: 
Trusted state services: strengthen trust in the state services, and reinforce the  
spirit of service

•	  Management control systems are in place for the control of key processes, including project 
management, asset management and service delivery. We have appropriate internal controls in 
place, which focus on key management systems and processes. There is also an internal audit 
programme for the risk management system and regular and ad hoc audit issues. 

•	 The Ministry’s system of six-monthly legislative compliance declarations has continued during 
2007/08 as an important instrument for reinforcing the need for the Ministry to perform its 
duties in a lawful manner.  

3  Public Health Intelligence
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Section 5: Statement of Service Performance

Statement of Objectives 
Generic quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for all policy advice and briefings 
supplied by the Ministry of Health follow. 

Quantity 
Policy advice and briefings will be supplied on the basis agreed between the Minister of Health and 
the Director-General of Health. Unanticipated briefing requests will be supplied to the minister as 
requested.

Quantity 
All policy advice will comply with the Ministry of Health’s standards for policy advice. Briefings and 
advice will: 

•	 be clear, concise and logical 

•	 be factually accurate, practical and complete 

•	 have a clear statement of purpose 

•	 be presented in the correct format 

•	 consider options and implications 

•	 consider legal, financial and health service implications 

•	 meet Cabinet Office requirements where relevant 

•	 comment on intersectoral implications 

•	 be peer reviewed 

•	 follow quality processes for briefings, recorded through the use of audit trails. 

These ranges of quality assurance procedures followed for ad hoc ministerial advice will depend 
on the type of advice and the timeframe in which it is requested. All advice will be signed out in 
accordance with delegated authority.  
 
The quality of policy advice and briefings is assessed by: 

•	 a formal request to the Minister each quarter to indicate his level of satisfaction with the quality 
of policy advice provided. This will request assessment of: the coverage of relevant issues; 
a clear statement of the purpose of the advice; logical argument; accuracy; the presentation 
of an adequate range of well-assessed policy options; evidence of adequate consultation; 
practicality; and presentation 

•	 90 percent of the above measures being rated as satisfactory or above by the Minister 

•	 regular meetings between the Minister and senior staff, and quarterly reports to the Minister on 
the Ministry’s progress against project outputs. 
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Timeliness
Timeframes for policy projects will be met as agreed between the Minister of Health and the 
Ministry, unless modified with the Minister’s agreement. Short-term and ad hoc ministerial 
requests will be supplied within the required timeframes. The Ministry manager is responsible for 
preparing the request will monitor timeliness. 

Cost 
The out-turn for the year is within budget, in accordance with the Financial Statement of Objectives.

Report
Policy advice and briefings, include unanticipated advice and briefings, were supplied on the basis 
agreed between the Minister of Health and the Director-General of Health. Policy advice complied 
with the Ministry of Health’s quality standards for policy advice. Policy advice with major financial 
implications was reviewed by the Treasury and the Ministry’s Corporate and Sector Finance Group.

Cabinet Papers prepared for the Minister of Health containing policy advice were reviewed by 
the Ministry’s Internal Cabinet Paper Committee to ensure the quality of that advice before being 
referred to the Minister. Other Government departments and agencies were consulted where 
appropriate and invited to comment on policy papers. Audit trails and internal peer review were 
also used to ensure that quality performance measures were met.

Minister’s satisfaction survey results for 2006/07
Quarterly satisfaction surveys were not completed during 2006/07 as the Minister opted to provide 
direct written feedback on individual policy advice provided where deemed necessary.

5.� Departmental output expense: Clinical Services
5.�.� Description
This output expense provides strategic leadership and policy advice on clinical services that 
contribute to the stated Ministry of Health outcomes. Current work aims to reshape health 
services to enable them to better respond to current and emerging critical issues, in particular the 
prevention and management of chronic disease in community settings.  

This output expense focuses on the following.  

Policy advice: the provision of policy advice to the Minister of Health on personal health  
services, including the analysis of clinical services, systems, and innovative projects to support 
ongoing clinical systems improvement. A core component is responsive policy advice on clinical 
services matters.  

Strategic leadership: leadership to the health sector in priority strategic initiatives, to facilitate 
and champion changes to the operating environment for clinical services. Strategic leadership 
activities bridge the gap between policy and implementation, and focus on preparing the 
health sector for policy changes. Changes will be conducted in a manner that builds trust and 
understanding between the Ministry, planners and funders, health providers, health professionals 
and communities. Strategic leadership also involves the capability to provide trusted professional 
leadership for responding to clinical services matters as they emerge, and managing relationships 
and risks.  
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Service development and implementation: leading clinical service development and improvement 
initiatives, managing interim implementation and other support for new policies of high strategic 
importance (such as the Primary Health Care Strategy), and transitioning these initiatives out to 
DHBs, PHOs and the whole sector.  

Statutory committees: these promote continuous improvement in providing safe and  
quality-focused health and disability services through secretariat support for the following 
statutory committees:

•	  Child Youth Mortality Review Committee

• National Health Epidemiology and Quality Assurance Committee (EPIQUAL)

• Perinatal Maternal Mortality Review Committee.

Delegated statutory duties (certification): promoting continuous improvement in the provision 
of safe and quality-focused health and disability services through the administration and 
enforcement of statutory obligations in the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001.  
This output expense also contributes to the following Ministry priority areas:

• Primary Health Care Strategy implementation

• Cancer Control Strategy implementation

• cardiovascular disease/diabetes initiatives

• child and youth services initiatives

• getting ahead of the chronic disease burden.

5.�.2 2006/07 highlights
• The roll-out of the Very Low Cost Access initiative began on 1 October 2006.

• The roll-out of 25–44-year-old funding was accomplished, and work with Health Care Aotearoa 
to support the sustainability of small PHOs is ongoing. 

• All four regional cancer networks are established and are developing work programmes.

• The Get Checked database was completed. 

• The initial review of the content of the Well Child Framework has been completed. 

• The Ministry completed Good Oral Health for All, for Life: The strategic vision for oral health 
in New Zealand in July 2007, which had been launched by the Prime Minister and Minister of 
Health on 24 August 2006. 

• EPIQUAL was revamped as the Quality Improvement Committee (QIC), with revised terms of 
reference and an increased membership, including a new chair.  

• The Evaluation of the Primary Health Care Strategy: Practice data analysis 2001–2005, funded 
by the Health Research Council, ACC and the Ministry, was completed.

• A communications strategy following the funding roll-out is under development.

• Significant progress has been made on the WAI 1315 claim.

• A programme to resolve PHO data issues (Geocoding) is affecting the ability to tie funding to 
high needs.

• The introduction of HealthRight into Care Plus ensures chronic disease management with a 
quality and outcomes focus.
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• Postgraduate training in chronic disease management for primary health care nurses.

• The roll-out of capitation funding to all PHOs was completed, along with reduced fees for all  
age groups.

• The development of a governance guide for PHOs was completed.

• A report was made to Cabinet on monitoring the Achievements December 2006 and follow-up 
reports on the issues arising from it.

• DHBs have developed district cancer plans, and are implementing service priorities with 
additional funding.

• Palliative care specialists service specifications have been completed and are being tested.

• Adolescent cancer services specifications have been completed, and adolescents care  
co-ordinators are operating in all six cancer centres.

• Auckland DHB is leading the development of a national familial bowel cancer registry.

• Contracts for community cancer support services pilots are being finalised.

• A cancer control workforce stocktake has been completed.

• A detailed study of the educational needs of cancer and palliative care nurses is under way.

• The first phase of the cancer capacity and capability study has been completed, and a report 
has been sent to DHBs.

• The second stage of redevelopment of the New Zealand Cancer Registry is under way.

5.�.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Report against measure

Quality 

All advice and briefings will meet the standards 
set out in the Statement of Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity 

Advice will be provided as agreed between the 
Minister and the Ministry.

Achieved.

Timeliness

 All milestones and timeframes as agreed between 
the Minister and the Ministry will be met.

Achieved.
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5.�.4 low-cost access
Performance measure Report against measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Policy advice and briefings relating to 
maintaining a low-fees environment 
(including under-sixes), the funding 
context, and strengthening the fees 
framework for the next two funding 
roll-outs will be delivered to the 
Minister. The funding formula will be 
reviewed, and preparation made for 
full devolution to DHBs following the 
July 2007 funding roll-out. Some of 
this will occur via the joint Ministry of 
Health and DHB work programme.

By June 2007:
• policy advice and briefings 

relating to maintaining a low-fees 
environment (including under-
sixes), the funding context, and 
strengthening the fees framework for 
the next two funding roll-outs will be 
delivered to the Minister.

• a review of the funding formula 
for capitation-based payments, 
and preparation for full devolution 
to DHBs following the July 2007 
funding roll-out, will be completed.

Achieved. As a result of the Very Low Cost Access initiative 
introduced on 1 October 2006, 24% of PHO enrolees benefit 
from very low fees. For 2006/07 these were set at a maximum 
of $15 for adults 18-years and over, $10 for the 6–17 years age 
group and zero fees for children under six years. The medium 
interim adult PHO practice fee is $26.

Achieved. Policy advice on encouraging more practices to  
offer the standard consultations to children under six has been 
provided to the Minister and Cabinet. As a result, from  
1 January 2008 a zero fees for under-six payments will be 
offered to PHO practices that agree to maintain zero standard 
fees for children under six. (Very Low Cost Access Practices 
already receive additional funding for this age group.)

A review of the first contact portion (the major portion) of PHO 
funding was completed in early 2007. The Minister decided not 
to proceed at the time. The terms of reference for the next stage 
(a wider strategic review) are being drawn up.

Achieved. Capitation funding has been devolved to DHBs.

5.�.5 Broaden the range of health professionals involved in  
continuum of care

Performance measure Report against measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Policy advice and briefings relating to 
the development of patient-centred 
teams in practices will be delivered to 
the Minister via the joint Ministry of 
Health and DHB work programme.

Achieved. Advice is provided on key issues on a daily basis 
and as required by the Minister. The funding roll-out was a fully 
collaborative joint project between the Ministry and DHBs. 
Other aspects of the joint work programme are being pursued 
by their respective leads. Both parties are regularly informed of 
progress. 
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5.�.6 Primary Health Care Strategy
Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Policy advice and briefings relating 
to key issues, including a low-fees 
environment, governance and 
ownership, and the integration of 
chronic disease policy into the Primary 
Health Care Strategy, will be delivered 
to the Minister via the joint Ministry of 
Health and DHB work programme.

Achieved.

By June 2007, the Ministry will:

• complete an evaluation of the 
implementation and intermediate 
outcomes of the Primary Health 
Care Strategy

Achieved. The evaluation report covers two years with a number 
of interim reports which are due before the final report in 2008. 
The Health Research Council, ACC and Ministry jointly funded 
Evaluation of the Primary Health Care Strategy: Practice data 
analysis 2001–2005, showing the impact of earlier low fees 
subsidies and accompanying commentary, was available in 
draft in June 2007 with the final report yet to be released. 

• continue delivery against the 
Ministry of Health and DHB joint 
work programme (including projects 
on service development, funding 
and access, and systems and 
infrastructure)

Achieved. Delivery against the joint work programme continued.  
The roll-out of 25–44-year-old funding was accomplished, and 
work with Health Care Aotearoa to support the sustainability of 
small PHOs is ongoing.

• provide policy advice on a number 
of key Primary Health Care Strategy 
issues.

Achieved.  

5.�.7 Strategic leadership

Development of business cases for national data capability and long-term conditions

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Business cases for a national data 
view for cardiovascular disease 
and diabetes and a national cancer 
management database will be 
developed by August 2006 and 
November 2006, respectively.

Achieved. Business cases for an integrated national data view 
of cardiovascular disease/diabetes and cancer (starting with 
breast cancer) are in an advanced state of development.  Further 
work (systems architecture) is required to align these business 
cases with the Maternal Systems Development Programme 
and Key Directions business case.  This is expected to deliver 
common design features that can be reused in other areas (such 
as maternal and newborn) and achieve considerable synergies 
and cost savings.

Business cases will be developed in 
accordance with the requirements 
in the National Capital Committee 
Guidelines.

Achieved. 
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Key directions for information systems to support the Primary Health Care Strategy

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A public document outlining the key 
directions for information systems 
to support the achievement of the 
Primary Health Care Strategy will be 
developed by November 2006.

Achieved. The Primary Health Care Strategy: Key directions for 
the information environment policy consultation document was 
made available to all interested stakeholders.

An implementation and change plan 
for the key directions for information 
systems project will be developed by 
June 2007.

Achieved. Written submissions were invited and eight 
regional workshops on the document were co-hosted with the 
Health Information Systems Action Committee.  Analysis was 
completed and a high-level implementation road map was 
developed by June 2007.

Both documents will be completed to 
a standard that enables the Capital 
Committee to make a well-informed 
decision on information systems 
to support the Primary Health Care 
Strategy.

Achieved. A stage I business case based on the Key Directions 
Policy Statement and road map is under development and 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet in October 2007.

Primary Health Care Strategy monitoring framework

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

An implementation plan for developing 
a monitoring framework for primary 
health care will be developed by March 
2007. This work builds on earlier work 
on understanding the outcomes for 
the Primary Health Care Strategy and 
includes:

Achieved. Health Report 20070693 was approved by the 
Minister in April 2007, and included the monitoring framework, 
gap analysis and the development pathway.

• a monitoring framework reflecting 
the key components of the Primary 
Health Care Strategy, by  
August 2006

• gap analysis of our current 
monitoring, reporting and 
evaluation approaches, including 
a performance-monitoring report 
based on best fit data currently 
available, by December 2006

• a development pathway to support 
ongoing development of the 
monitoring framework, including an 
implementation plan, by  
March 2007.
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Maternal and newborn Information System

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will report to the Minister 
on the feasibility, requirements, 
options, costs, benefits and 
change management implications 
of establishing and operating an 
enhanced Maternal and Newborn 
Information System, by January 
2007. In the meantime the Ministry 
will undertake a project to improve 
the quality of existing information 
available about the performance of the 
maternity system.

Achieved. The Ministry reported to the Minister in February 
2007 that establishing and operating an enhanced Maternal 
and Newborn Information System is feasible, and secured 
funds for 2006/07 and 2007/08 to take this forward in a 
staged approach. The quality of existing information has been 
considerably improved, largely due to a transition of data from 
Sybase to Oracle Datamart, a data-cleansing process; and the 
matching of maternal and newborn National Health Index (NHI) 
numbers, which has increased coverage from 83% to 96% of 
live births. A project team has been established to make further 
readily achievable enhancements and to develop a business 
case for more complex systems improvements.

5.�.8 Service development and implementation

Primary Health Care Strategy implementation

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A joint work programme between the 
Ministry of Health and DHBs will be 
operationalised by June 2007. This 
work programme will focus on ensuring 
that simple, highly cost-effective 
interventions occur dependably.

Achieved. The joint work programme is proceeding as planned, 
with clear definitions of boundaries between the two parties.  
Chronic care policy is focused on dependability, with a 
particular emphasis on simple, highly cost-effective intervention 
for common long-term conditions such as cardiovascular 
disease and diabetes.
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Focus on prevention and early detection

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry of Health will work with 
DHBs and the sector to reinforce a 
population approach to health and 
continue the development of the 
Leading for Outcomes approach.

Achieved. The Leading for Outcomes approach has become 
more systematically embedded in policy and practice.  
Performance data and indicators and supporting information 
systems development are oriented to a population health 
approach.

By June 2007, the Ministry will have 
contributed to the development of:

• PHO Performance Management 
phase II indicators

The PHO Performance Management Programme Phase 
II indicators relate to chronic diseases, starting with 
cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Each PHO is undertaking 
to develop a DHB-approved plan for risk assessment in their 
population, with an expectation that quantitative indicators 
will be in operation from January 2008. This represents a higher 
level of DHB/PHO engagement than originally anticipated.

• policy work on the Co-ordinated  
Care project

The high-level policy work on the Co-ordinated Care project 
has been completed, outlining features and directions with 
implications for evolving Care Plus, Get Checked and the High 
Use Health Card. Operational and implementation policy work is 
continuing, with close links to DHBs and selected PHOs.

• documenting the Leading for 
Outcomes rationale through the 
Leading for Outcomes website.

Achieved.

Cancer control

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Implementation of the Cancer 
Control Strategy will continue 
during 2006/07. By the end 
of 2006/07 DHBs will have 
established regional cancer 
networks.

Achieved. All four regional networks are established and developing 
work programmes.

The Cancer Control Council secretariat is working on the completion 
of the first Monitoring and Review Report. This report records the 
activities of all the phase 1 objectives of the Cancer Control Action 
Plan. The report was launched by the Minister of Health in  
August 2007.

Website development is taking longer to establish than was 
previously predicted. The Council has engaged with the cancer 
control sector to ensure key cancer control activities are captured and 
reported on the new website.
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Cardiovascular disease and diabetes

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A review of national outcomes will be 
completed by March 2007.

Achieved. Outcomes have been included in the Quality 
Implementation Plan. 

An agreed Quality Improvement Plan 
(Service Review), including initiatives 
across the diabetes/cardiovascular 
disease continuum, IT solutions, data 
analysis, prioritised service improvement 
initiatives and outcome measurement, will 
be delivered by June 2007.

not achieved: The Quality Improvement Plan is in final draft 
and being considered by the Advisory Group. PHOs still 
require database support while they are being upgraded. 
The delivery date has been extended to 30 September 2007.

The Get Checked (the annual free check 
for people with diabetes) information 
technology functional upgrade will be 
completed by June 2007.

The Get Checked database is complete. A reused schedule 
and additional requirements have been developed.

Well child services

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A draft review of the Well Child 
Framework will be delivered by June 
2007. This review will assess whether 
the framework is being delivered 
according to specification, whether 
vulnerable families and children are 
being reached, and whether there 
are positive improvements in the 
outcomes.

not achieved. The initial review of the content of the Well Child 
Framework has been completed. A preferred options paper and 
supporting evidence were sent out to stakeholders for feedback 
on 6 July 2007.

The second phase of the review after August 2007 will focus 
on how services can be improved through enhanced service 
delivery to families with greatest need, and improved  
co-ordination of services to improve child health outcomes and 
reduce inequalities.
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Strengthening oral health services for young people

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

By 30 June 2007, the Ministry will:

• publish a strategic vision for oral 
health

Achieved. The Ministry completed Good Oral Health for All, for 
Life: The strategic vision for oral health in New Zealand in July 
2006. The strategic vision was launched by the Prime Minister 
and Minister of Health on 24 August 2006.

• manage the initial funding roll-
out to DHBs for oral health capital 
upgrades and new service delivery 
design

Achieved. In 2006 the Ministry published the Business Cases 
Guidelines for Investment in Child and Adolescent Oral Health 
Services and Community Oral Health Services: Facility guidelines 
to support DHBs in developing business cases to access the 
new oral health funding. The Ministry has since also established 
a Technical Review Panel to evaluate the business cases and 
make funding recommendations.

Three business case submission rounds were held in  
2006/07, in which 10 business cases were received. The 
Technical Review Panel has made offers of funding to support  
phase 1 implementation for Taranaki, Wairarapa, West Coast, 
and Counties Manukau DHBs. The Ministry is continuing to work 
with all DHBs to ensure that business cases meet quality and 
financial standards, and that service design is appropriate.

• establish a strategic leadership 
group to oversee implementation 
(the group to include DHB CEO, 
Funding and Planning, and Māori 
health representatives, with timing 
dependent on the budget and 
consultation on the strategic vision).

Achieved. The NZ Child and Adolescent Oral Health Steering 
Group was established in 2006/07 to provide strategic 
leadership in the publicly funded child and adolescent oral 
health sector. The group is chaired by Dr Stewart Edward  
(Chair, Lakes DHB) and includes representation from the 
Ministry, DHB oral health portfolio managers, School Dental 
Service management, professional associations, Māori and 
Pacific providers, Te Ao Marama, and public health dentistry. 
The group met five times in 2006/07, and has provided useful 
input to the implementation of the strategic vision and future 
priority setting. 

Service Planning and new Health Interventions Assessment (SPnIA)

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The SPNIA framework will operate 
during 2006/07, with the annual 
decision-making round ending in 
February 2007 so that the 2007/08 
district annual plan process is 
informed on service changes and new 
interventions.

The SPNIA framework operated during 2006/07. At the national 
level, the National Service and Technology Review Advisory 
Committee (NSTR) met monthly and made its recommendations 
on the Position Emission Tomography Scanning business case. 
Three other business cases are under development.

•  left ventricular assist devices

•  the management of morbid obesity

•  photodynamic therapy.

Regional SPNIA processes were established in four DHB regions 
(Northern, Midland, Central, Southern).
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Statutory committees

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will provide secretariat 
support to the following committees 
in accordance with Ministry standards 
and committee expectations, in 
accordance with the committees’ 
annual work plans:

•  Child and Youth Mortality Review 
Committee

Work over 2006/07 has included:

• publication of the third Annual Report

• establishing information sharing with Child, Youth and Family

• liaison with the Australian Child Death Review Teams

• establishing a relationship with the new Chief Coroner, 
Forensic Pathology Group

• investigating a cluster of youth suicide in Otago

• supporting the work of the Taskforce for Action on Violence 
within Families

• orientation of five new committee members 

• a new local Child and Youth Mortality Review Group (CYMRG) 
in Nelson Marlborough (bringing the total coverage to 8 out of 
21 DHBs)

• work with Auckland DHBs to encourage the establishment of a 
local CYMRG

• a Web-based comment form being made available to families 
and friends of a child or youth who has died.

•  National Health Epidemiology 
and Quality Assurance Committee 
(EPIQUAL)

This Committee produced its second and final report and 
contributed to the production of the Scoping the Priorities for 
Quality in the Health and Disability Sector report. The Committee 
was revamped as the Quality Improvement Committee (QIC), 
with revised terms of reference and an increased membership, 
including a new chair. QIC is building on the Scoping Priorities 
report by developing national programmes, which include 
improving medication safety.

• Perinatal Maternal Mortality Review 
Committee (PMMRC)

Work over 2006/07 has included:

• selection of a logo

• appointment of a national co-ordinator

• setting up a national process for the collection of data on 
perinatal deaths, including the appointment of agents of the 
PMMRC in each DHB

• establishment of a Maternal Working Group

• a workshop with ACC on the reduction of neonatal 
encephalopathy

• orientation of one new Committee member.
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Delegated statutory duties (certification)

Performance measure Report on measure

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will review work carried 
out by designated audit agencies 
to ensure compliance with the 
standards approved under the Health 
and Disability Services (Safety) Act 
2001. Certificates will be issued 
within 15 working days of receiving 
all information required. Complaints 
will be responded to within seven 
working days of receipt. Reports will be 
completed within 15 working days of 
an investigation audit being completed 
and all relevant information having 
been obtained.

HealthCERT has issued 595 certificates, 382 of which were 
issued within 15 working days of receiving all the required 
documentation. Reasons for certificates issued outside the  
15 working-day period included:

• awaiting the outcome of complaint investigations

• awaiting the outcome of inquiries to other agencies (eg, HDC, 
the Nursing Council and some Ministry directorates, such as 
Mental Health and Disability Services)

• seeking clarification of audit reports and evidence submitted 
by designated auditing agencies

• seeking clarification of information from providers.

HealthCERT has received 148 complaints: 14 of these did not 
require a response, and 131 (98%) were responded to within 
seven working days of receipt.

HealthCERT investigated 62 complaints: 51 (82%) of the 
investigation reports were completed within 15 working 
days after all investigation material was obtained. The non-
completion of inspection reports within the 15 working days 
resulted from requests for further information.

Cost

Actual
30/06/06

$000  

Actual
30/06/07

$000

Main 
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07 

$000

12,920 

238 

�3,�58 

12,850 

308 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

13,378 

326 

�3,704 

13,416 

288 

12,175 

257 

�2,432 

12,432 

–   

13,378 

257 

�3,635 

13,635 

–   
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5.2 Departmental output expense: DHB Funding and 
Performance

5.2.� Description
This output expense covers the provision of the following.

Policy advice: advice to the Minister on funding and performance issues as they affect the DHBs 
and other health Crown entities, across funding, finance, service analysis and performance areas.

Service planning and purchasing: 

• funding and monitoring a range of national personal health services

• the purchase and monitoring of post-clinical education and training.

DHB and Crown entity ownership advice:

• developing the planning and reporting requirements for DHBs and other Crown entities, 
managing the DHB Crown funding agreements, and reviewing  the performance reports on each 
DHB and other Crown entities

• advice on the performance of DHBs and other health Crown entities in delivering the  
New Zealand Health Strategy and New Zealand Disability Strategy 

• advice on ministerial appointments to the governing bodies of both the DHBs and other Crown 
entity boards, and on the expectations of board members

• advice on industrial relations across the sector

• advice on DHB elections best practice and policy, and assisting DHBs to meet their legislative 
obligations in relation to DHB elections

•  leading the Crown Negotiation Team working towards the resolution of the Wai 692 
contemporary claim 

• advice on governance issues affecting DHBs and other Crown entities, including conflicts of 
interest, succession planning, codes of conduct, delegation policies, and approvals for  
co-operative and collaborative arrangements. 

DHB and Crown entity performance management:

• utilisation of the Monitoring Intervention Framework (MIF) for evaluating, recognising and 
encouraging improved DHB performance 

• assisting DHB boards with the resolution of governance issues affecting board performance, 
and the promotion of best governance approaches 

• reviewing DHB and Crown entities’ ongoing financial and non-financial performance, and the 
consideration of any appropriate interventions to achieve performance improvement

• alignment of DHB accountability and monitoring arrangements with the work of the Performance 
Management and Assessment steering group.  

This output expense also contributes to the implementation of the following Ministry priority:

• improving elective services overall.
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5.2.2 2006/07 highlights
• During 2006/07 all DHBs achieved compliance with their elective service patient indicators 

(ESPI). As at the end of June 2007 19 of the 21 DHBs were ESPI compliant, and six DHBs were 
compliant for all services.

• Achieving compliance on the ESPIs has enabled all DHBs to access the additional elective 
services funding for 2006/07.  

• In late 2006/07 a new clinical team to provide leadership and advice to the elective services 
programme was appointed.  

• The DHB sector financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2007 resulted in a sector 
surplus of $9.661 million compared to a planned deficit of $30.3 million.

• A new Nursing Entry to Practice Programme (NETP) for nurses was implemented in  
September 2006.  

• A new nursing purchasing strategy has been implemented.

• The Midwifery First Year of Practice programme commenced in February 2007.  

• All 21 DHBs had their 2006/07 district annual plans approved, and as at 30 June 2007 18 of the 
21 had had their 2007/08 district annual plans approved.

• Account managers accompanied the Minister on 21 DHB visits and provided briefings on the 
DHBs’ operating environment and progress against the Minister’s priorities.

• Facilitated by the Cancer Control Programme, and managed by the project management group, 
four regional cancer networks were established during the year. 

•  Following the decision of Justice Asher on Diagnostic Medlab versus the Auckland Region 
District Health Boards, advice was provided to DHBs and other health and disability sector 
Crown entities on the management of conflicts of interest and responsibilities regarding 
consultation.

•  The Ministry continues to work with the Electoral Working Party of the Society of Local 
Government Managers, the Department of Internal Affairs and DHBs in preparation for the 
October 2007 DHB elections.  

•  The Ministry has been leading publicity campaigns to encourage Māori to stand as candidates 
for the upcoming DHB elections. Promotional activities have included targeted advertisements 
and interviews on Māori Television and on Iwi radio, providing information to Māori health 
providers, speaking at hui with Māori, and utilising Te Puni Kōkiri regional promotion networks. 
Promotional activities have also been targeted to Pacific and minority groups to stand as 
candidates for DHB elections, to bring the voice of those groups to decision making. Activities 
include mailouts to Pacific health groups, DHB Pacific managers and the Ministry of Pacific 
Island Affairs.

•  In providing appointments advice to the Minister on candidates for the boards of DHBs and 
health sector Crown Entities, the Ministry seeks nominations for Māori appointments from Te 
Puni Kōkiri, the Ministry of Women's Affairs, the DHB Māori relationships boards and from Māori 
and iwi organisations. For Pacific and other ethnic groups, nominations are sought from the 
Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs and the Office of Ethnic Affairs.

•   Appointments of Māori members were made in 2006/07 to West Coast and Capital Coast DHBs.

•  Good progress has been made in agreeing the details of a range of initiatives to resolve the 
substantive issues of the WAI 692 contemporary claim. 
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5.2.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality 

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity 

Advice will be provided as agreed between the Minister and the Ministry. Achieved.

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes as agreed between the Minister and the Ministry 
will be met.

Achieved.

5.2.4 Service planning and purchasing

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Service agreements will be managed in 
accordance with the Ministry’s contracting 
standards.

A quarterly report will be provided to the 
Minister on the Ministry’s performance as a 
funder. The Ministry will undertake 12 routine 
service compliance audits on selected 
contracts, as detailed in the directorates’ 
audit compliance plan.

Implementation of a new Entry to Practice 
Programme for nurses will be implemented 
in September 2006, and an evaluation 
framework will be established.

Outcomes and accountabilities for the 
delivery of an additional 2500 cataract 
operations and a 75% increase in additional 
major joint volumes above the baseline 
(2002/03) volumes will be agreed with DHBs 
through their 2006/07 district annual plans.

Achieved.

Achieved. Quarterly Reports were provided to the Minister 
on the Ministry’s performance as a funder. Fourteen 
routine compliance audits were completed in 2006/07, 
including nine on provider contracts managed by the 
Clinical Training Agency (CTA) and five on provider 
contracts managed by the Provider Funding Team, DHB 
Funding and Planning.

Achieved.

Achieved. Increased services were agreed and included in 
all district annual plans.

The Cataract Initiative plan called for a 2500 (33%) 
increase in cataract operations to be attained in 2006/07. 
The increase achieved in 2006/07 was 3587.

The Orthopaedic Initiative Plan called for 3542 (75%) 
increase in major joint procedures to be attained in 
2006/07. The increase achieved in 2006/07 was 3358. 
Although less than planned, this is a good result given 
the pressures on capacity from the new electives initiative 
and the industrial relations environment.)
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5.2.5 DHB and Crown entity ownership advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

Accountability documents will be prepared 
in line with the reporting requirements 
and advice provided to the Minister on the 
expected and achieved performance of DHBs 
and Crown entities.

Management of the process for Board 
member appointments will adhere to relevant 
guidelines.  All other advice will be drafted 
in line with the Minister’s expectations as to 
quality and content.

Advice will be provided to the Minister and 
DHBs on emerging industrial relations issues.

Achieved. Accountability documents were submitted by 
DHBs and approved by the Minister. The Minister received 
advice on the performance of DHBs and Crown entities.  
Reports on financial and non-financial results were 
submitted on agreed monthly and quarterly cycles.

Achieved. Crown entity board member appointments 
adhered to relevant guidelines. Advice was drafted in line 
with Minister’s expectations.

Achieved. The Minister receives a regular weekly report 
regarding industrial relations issues in the sector. DHBs 
are provided with regular updates regarding emerging 
industrial relations issues.

Quantity 

Advice on 21 district annual plans, 
statements of intent, Crown funding 
agreements, performance agreements and 
annual reports will be prepared for 2007/08.

Advice on eight Crown entity statements of 
intent will be prepared for 2007/2008.

Advice on 21 district strategic plans will be 
provided.

Performance management processes will 
be put in place to support any DHBs with 
unapproved or unconsented plans or 
agreements at 1 July 2006.

Planning advice will be provided to support 
DHB preparation of district annual plans, 
statements of intent, Crown funding 
agreements, performance agreements and 
annual reports for 2007/08.

Appointments will be made in accordance 
with the relevant guidelines and processes, 
to timeframes agreed with the Minister.

Achieved. Advice was provided on 21 district annual 
plans to the Minister.

Achieved. The Minister received advice on the eight 
Crown entity draft statements of intent.

Not relevant in 2006/07.

Achieved.   

Achieved. A 2007/08 planning package, incorporating 
planning advice, was developed in consultation with 
DHBs and central government agencies. The planning 
package was distributed in December 2006.

Achieved.   

Timeliness 

All legislative timeframes will be met. Achieved. All legislative timeframes were met.
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5.2.6 DHB Crown entity performance management

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

Advice will be provided on performance 
matters to both the Minister and the 
DHBs through the following mechanisms:

• negotiation with DHBs on their 
planning and financial expectations

• monthly review of DHBs’ actual 
financial position against budget

• regular review of Crown entities’ actual 
financial position against budget

• reports on DHBs’ progress against the 
Crown funding agreement

• reports on Crown entities progress’ 
against output agreements and/or SOI 
(as appropriate in accordance with the 
Crown Entities Act 2004)

• assessments of DHB performance 
using indicators of DHB performance to 
demonstrate progress

• review of capital requests

• ongoing feedback to DHBs and Crown 
entities

• annual review of overall performance

• joint reviews of DHB effectiveness and 
efficiency.

Collection of data for medical, surgical 
and emergency departments will 
commence with the development of 
the National Non-admitted Patients 
(outpatients) collection (NNPAC).

 

Achieved.

Achieved. DHBs were reviewed on a monthly basis, with 
issues and a summary of performance reported to the 
Minister of Health.

Achieved. A quarterly review of Crown entities’ actual 
financial position against budget was carried out.

Achieved. The Minister received a quarterly report on the 
performance of DHBs against their output agreements.

Achieved. The Minister received a quarterly report on the 
performance of Crown entities progress against SOI.  

Achieved. Formal ongoing feedback to DHBs occurred 
through the quarterly reporting process, and informally 
through regular liaison with entities on specific issues.

Achieved. DHB requests for approval of capital projects 
were evaluated through the National Capital Committee as 
required.

Achieved. Formal ongoing feedback to Crown entities 
occurred through the quarterly reporting process, and 
informally through regular liaison with entities on specific 
issues.

Achieved. An annual review of DHBs’ overall performance was 
provided through the Minister’s annual letter to DHB Chairs.

Achieved.  Tairawhiti DHB Joint Review, Whanganui Joint 
Review and Whanganui Clinical Review completed.

Achieved. The NNPAC commenced on 1 July 2007. By the year 
end all boards were submitting data covering the full year.
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Quantity

• Twenty-one DHBs will be monitored in 
accordance with the MIF.

• Eight Crown entities will be monitored 
against the output agreements and/or 
SOI (as appropriate, in accordance with 
the Crown Entities Act 2004).

• Quarterly reports on DHBs’ progress 
against the Crown funding agreements 
will be made.

• Quarterly assessments of DHB 
performance using IDPs to demonstrate 
progress will be made.

• Regular reports on Crown entities’ 
progress against output agreements 
and/or SOI (as appropriate, in 
accordance with the Crown Entities Act 
2004) will be made.

• Ongoing feedback will be given to DHBs 
and Crown entities, as required.

• There will be between two and five joint 
reviews of individual DHBs*.  

Achieved. The MIF Committee reviewed DHB performance 
monthly in terms of the MIF framework.

Achieved. All eight Crown entities were monitored against 
their statements of intent. 

Achieved.

Achieved.

Achieved.

Achieved. Formal ongoing feedback to DHBs occurred 
through the quarterly reporting process, and informally 
through regular liaison with entities on specific issues.

Achieved. Tairawhiti DHB Joint Review, Whanganui Joint 
Review and Whanganui Clinical Review completed. This 
measure was incorrectly reported in the Statement of Intent 
as ‘There will be between five to nine reviews of individual 
DHBs’. The Ministry did not intend to conduct between five to 
nine reviews during 2006/07.

Cost

Actual
30/06/06

$000 	

Actual
30/06/07

$000

Main 
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07 

$000

17,318	

201	

�7,5�� 

16,699 

820 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

15,976 

219 

�6,��5 

16,342 

(�47)

16,520 

230 

�6,750 

16,750 

–   

15,976 

230 

�6,206 

16,206 

–   

The Ministry manages the maternity contracts. The deficit arose from business process changes to the new maternity notice as 
required under Section 88 of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000. 
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5.3 Departmental output expense: Disability  
Support Services

5.3.� Description
This output expense focuses on the provision of:

Policy advice:

• providing advice to the Minister of Health, who has responsibility for disability support services, 
policy and service development

• reporting on the implementation of the New Zealand Disability Strategy for the Ministry of 
Health.

Service planning and performance:

• funding disability support services, including negotiating service agreements with providers, 
payments for services, provider audit and monitoring, and payment of claims from people with 
a disability

• planning for and undertaking developments to improve the benefit of Ministry of Health-funded 
disability support services, including cross-agency co-operation and collaboration 

• ensuring the effective utilisation of disability support services funding, and analysing 
expenditure and service trends to inform budget monitoring

• the quality and safety of home-based support services.

This output expense also oversees/contributes to the implementation of the following Ministry 
priorities:

• progressing the New Zealand Disability Strategy

• quality and safety of support services

• improving the benefit of disability support service funding

• quality and safety of home-based support services.

Progressing the New Zealand Disability Strategy:

• improved participation of disabled people and their families/whānau in the planning for and 
provision of disability support services

• completing the de-institutionalisation programme by consolidating the closure of the Kimberley 
Centre for people with an intellectual disability.

The quality and safety of home-based support services:

•  completing the Home Based Support Service Training Initiative, which will lead to the wider  
roll-out of the national foundation certificate for home based support service workers.

Improving the benefit of disability support service funding, including improving the:

• capacity and capability of needs assessment and service co-ordination (NASC) organisations 

• provision of support services for people with autism spectrum disorder and their families  
and whānau

• provision of environmental support services

• quality and provision of services for Māori
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• planning of disability support services for disabled Pacific peoples

• provision of disability information and advisory services.

5.3.2 2006/07 highlights
• The last people left Kimberley Centre on 20 October 2006.  

• The Ministry commenced its annual series of consumer forums, fono and hui in March, and the 
final ones were held in June.  

• The Ministry developed and trialled an outcome-based audit and evaluation tool. 

• The Ministry started a joint work programme with ACC to review the Home Based Support 
Service specification.  

• The two-year Needs Assessment and Services Co-ordination (NASC) Development Programme 
(2005–2007) has been completed.  

• New disability information and advisory services (DIAS) have been set up for autism sensory 
disorder (ASD) and intellectual disability.

• Funding was allocated to perform 20 additional adult cochlear implants this year.

• The Environmental Support Services (ESS) Development Programme has made positive progress 
in addressing some of the short-term objectives of the programme, such as providing more 
information about how people can access equipment or modifications.

• For the 2006/07 financial year, increased funding of $57.951 million was allocated to providers.

5.3.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the 
standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved. 

Quantity

Advice will be provided as agreed between 
the Minister and the Ministry in 2006/07. 
Key policies that contribute towards this 
output expense are:

• implementation of the New Zealand 
Disability Strategy (NZDS)

• the operational policy manual

Achieved.

The final report on the Ministry’s implementation of 
the New Zealand Disability Strategy, which includes 
the work plans for 2007/08 and the Report on Progress 
for 2006/07, was finalised and submitted to Executive 
Leadership Team for final approval in July 2007 before 
being submitted to the Office for Disability Issues.

An operational policy manual was developed during this 
financial year, and as a living document continues to be 
updated when new or changed policies are created.
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• development of a research agenda 

• the following key projects include 
significant policy development 
components:

– improving the provision of environmental 
support services 

– improving the capacity and capability 
of needs assessment and service co-
ordination organisations. 

The Ministry will provide advice to the 
Minister on its contributions to interagency 
work on disability issues where these have 
significant implications for disability support 
services.

The research agenda was developed, and work has 
now commenced on an action plan for how it can be 
implemented.

This key project is reported under section 5.3.7.

This key project is reported under section 5.3.7.

Achieved. The Ministry is continuing to work with the 
Department of Education, Group Special Education, on 
the revision of therapy and equipment protocols, with ACC 
on the Home Based Support Service Specification Review 
and joint hearing projects, with the Office for Disability 
Issues on the Review of Long Term Disability Supports, 
and the development of a memorandum of understanding 
with Child, Youth and Family. The Ministry also completed 
the Auckland Inter-agency Pacific Disability Plan – Lu’i Ola.

Timeliness 

Key policy milestones and timeframes, as 
agreed between the Minister and Ministry in 
2006/07 for the above policies, are: 

• co-ordinate across the Ministry and 
quarterly reporting on the implementation 
of the New Zealand  Disability Strategy  

• finalise the operational policy manual, by 
30 June 2007

• a research agenda developed, by 30 June 
2007.

Advice on policy input into key projects will 
be reported on as per the timeframes noted 
under Service Planning.

The Ministry will provide timely advice on 
intersectoral work as set by the reporting 
requirements of those agencies.

Achieved.   

Achieved.   

Achieved.   

Achieved. Policy advice and development in key projects 
is provided as required, and is in line with the project 
milestones.

Achieved. Advice was provided in a timely basis as 
requested.
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5.3.4 Service planning and performance

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will plan and fund disability 
support services specific to people 
with sensory, physical or intellectual 
disabilities (generally aged under 65). 
This includes funding services such as 
community residential services, home 
support, respite, carer support and 
environmental support services.

Performance against an estimated 
1200 service agreements will be 
monitored against Ministry contract 
monitoring standards, and will include 
(if applicable) the promotion of service 
quality in the health and disability 
workforce.

A quarterly report will be provided to the 
Minister on the Ministry’s performance 
as a funder.    

Achieved. The Ministry continues to move to nationally 
consistent pricing. Key services such as home-based 
support services, community residential services within 
aged residential care facilities, and supported independent 
living services are all on national pricing models. The 
Ministry continues to work with the national representative 
organisation for residential service providers of people with 
an intellectual disability on the introduction of a national 
transparent pricing model. Initial developmental work has 
been undertaken to propose a range of new funding initiatives 
to improve and extend access to environmental support 
services (equipment and modifications) for disabled people of 
all ages.

There were 1242 service agreements monitored. Provider 
performance monitoring against service agreements continues 
to be monitored to the Ministry contract monitoring standards. 
Provider audits were carried out to support the monitoring 
process as per the annual audit schedule, and 167 routine 
audits of community residential homes were completed for 
this financial year.

Achieved.   
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5.3.5 Progressing the new Zealand Disability Strategy

Improved participation of disabled people in the planning for and provision of disability 
support services

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Two consumer consortiums will 
be held by 30 June 2007.

A series of consumer forums 
will be held throughout New 
Zealand by 30 June 2007.

Disability support services 
information on the Ministry 
website will be updated by  
30 September 2006.

Achieved. The first consortium meeting was held in November 2006 
and the second meeting in June 2007. At the second meeting the 
consortium reviewed its terms of reference. The meetings were well 
presented and a report to be presented to SMT in August will discuss 
consumer participation.

A series of consumer forums and hui around the country began in 
March 2007. The forums followed a similar format to last year, when we 
invited disabled people to meet with staff (including senior managers) 
to share their issues in relation to disability support services. We 
increased the number of forums this year and visited provincial towns 
and centres that we haven’t been to previously. The final forums, fono 
and hui for 2006/2007 were held in June. More than 30 were held over 
the final quarter, from Kaitaia in the north to Dunedin in the south, and 
a multitude of places in between. Issues raised via feedback forms 
have been distributed to Disability Services (DS) staff for response.  
These will be included in a report and will discuss responses and make 
recommendations to SMT.

The revamped website was completed and is now live. The new site 
provides significantly more information on funded disability support 
services, disability support services provided by other agencies, 
disability-related publications, news, service specifications, audit 
processes, contracting information, and links and contact details for 
NASCs, DIAS providers and DS local offices.
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Completing the Kimberley deinstitutionalisation programme

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A report will be completed that outlines 
how the local needs assessment 
and service co-ordination (NASC) 
organisations have enacted their 
service co-ordination responsibilities 
for ex-Kimberley residents, by  
31 December 2006.

Twenty percent of residential homes 
established for ex-Kimberley residents 
will be audited, by 31 March 2007.

By June 2007 the Donald Beasley 
Institute is to conduct independent 
research examining the outcomes of 
the resettlement of residents from the 
Kimberley Centre. The research focuses 
on a sample of 50 residents, their 
family/whānau and Kimberley staff.

 SMT accepted in February 2007 a report on the Kimberley 
de-institutionalisation work of the NASC agencies. The report 
noted that substantial progress had been achieved by the 
NASCs in working with the transitional NASC Life Unlimited, 
with providers, residents and the families of residents.  
It is noted that the senior NASC support person based at the 
Ministry had obtained the co-operation of the NASC managers. 
A Ministry view of the ‘proactive’ role of the designated  
NASC workers was adopted. A consistency of approach has 
been established, and training on a wide range of topics has 
been undertaken.

Achieved. Sixteen houses for former Kimberley residents have 
been audited, which represents 25% of the houses set up. A 
number of these same houses are required to be audited for 
certification as well. To minimise disruption for service users 
and providers, a parallel audit process is being co-ordinated by 
DS, whereby the designated audit agency for certification and 
the DS contracted audit agency do their audits and evaluation 
at the same time.

Achieved. The Donald Beasley Institute has completed all the 
requirements set by the Ministry for the completion of the 
report.  The report now continues under the guidance of the 
Health Research Council.
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5.3.6 Quality and safety of home-based support services

Improving the quality and safety of disability support services

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The trial intake of 1200 home-based 
support workers will be completed by 
31 December 2006.

The evaluation of the trial will be 
completed by 1 March 2007.

Improvements will be made to the 
assessment and training resources 
and processes, and the wider  
roll-out of the national  
foundation-level qualification will 
have commenced by 30 June 2007.

Thirty-six service providers had enrolled in the training initiative 
by 31 December 2006, generating enrolments from 911 workers. 
Nearly 80% of those workers who attained the National Certificate 
in Community Support (Foundation Skills) have expressed 
interest in undertaking a Level 3 qualification.

The completed evaluation has demonstrated that home-based 
support service (HBSS) providers can, with appropriate support, 
deliver workplace-based learning to the standard required for the 
achievement of national qualifications.  

The New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZQA) has approved 
the revised National Certificate in Community Support 
(Foundation Skills) for registration, thereby updating the 
qualification that was used during the trial. New resources have 
also been developed for each of the unit standards within the 
revised qualification. Roll-out of further training is planned for 
2007/08 and will fit within the context of the Ministry of Health’s 
workforce strategy for disability services.
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5.3.7 Improving the benefit of disability support service funding

Improving the capacity and capability of needs assessment and service co-ordination 
(nASC) organisations 

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

NASC induction materials will 
be developed, trialled and 
implemented with all funded NASCs 
by 30 September 2006.

An NASC national conference will be 
convened by 31 December 2006.

A national NASC information 
system will be developed and 
implemented for all NASCs 
funded by the Disability Services 
Directorate (DSD), by 31 March 
2007. Development work is 
proceeding well towards the new 
implementation date of  
mid-December 2007.

Disability, Pacific and Māori 
competency models will be 
established, and training of NASC 
staff for these will be undertaken by  
30 June 2007.  

Materials and trialling of induction training was completed by 
September 2006, with all NASCs completing a day’s training by 
November 2006. Materials developed have been distributed to 
NASCs for ongoing use. NASC managers also received training in 
methods of professional support, such as mentoring. 

Seeding funding supported the inaugural NASC national 
conference on 18–19 October 2006, with 300+ attendees and 
positive feedback. 

The revised timeframe for full implementation of the NASC 
Information System is now December 2007. Two factors 
contributed to the revised timetable.

• The original timeframe (March 2007) was based on an 
incomplete initial scoping of the project.

• Unforeseen difficulties were encountered with the connection 
between HealthPAC systems and the new information system.

There is also a need to ensure this development integrates 
effectively with the National Systems Development Project.

A Pacific Cultural Competency Framework for NASCs was signed off 
during 2005 and regional training delivered by a team including 
the author, disabled Pacific people, and regional Pacific NASC staff 
during November/December 2006. Toitu: A Māori best practice 
guideline for organisational development was the basis for a hui 
for NASCs at Turangawaewae on 17–18 February 2007, led by the 
developers of Toitu. Each NASC has developed an implementation 
plan, and some have collaborated regionally to continue training.

Training for Disability Culture, Awareness, Competence and 
Responsiveness was tendered, with input to the process from 
DSD’s consumer consortium. It was delivered through three 
regional workshops with a ‘train the trainer approach’, concluding 
on 1 June 2007. Resource materials have been supplied to the 
trainers for ongoing use. 

CareerForce’s Standard Setting Team (SST) signed off standards 
and a qualification proposal for assessment, planning and co-
ordination after several years’ work, and these were submitted to 
NZQA at the end of June 2007. 
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Improving the provision of support services for people with autism spectrum disorder 
(ASD) and their families/whānau

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and 
timeliness

The ASD Best Practice 
Guidelines will be printed and 
available for distribution by 
31 December 2006.

The first cross-sector ASD 
workforce development training 
programme will be completed, 
by 30 June 2007.

Consultation on the draft ASD guidelines closed on 16 March 2007, 
and the Ministry received 108 submissions. Work was undertaken on 
analysis and identification of the key themes. Revisions and additions 
will then be made to the draft guidelines on the basis of the feedback 
received. 

A consultation feedback workshop was held with workstream leaders 
and the technical editor on 15–16 May 2007, and it was acknowledged 
that the workstream leaders followed an evidence-based process with 
the intention of producing an evidence-based guideline. However, 
the search strategies used were not entirely systematic and may be 
perceived as introducing some bias. Details of these concerns and an 
approach to remedy them were presented to Ministers in a Health and 
Education Report on 28 June 2007, seeking the Chair of the Cabinet 
Social Development Committee to defer the reporting back on the 
recommendations of the final ASD guidelines, the impact analysis, 
and options for a response to the guideline from government until 
30 December 2007. It is proposed that the final version of the ASD 
guidelines will be a ‘living’ New Zealand guideline.  

The ASD guidelines impact analysis has included a stocktake of current 
ASD services, documentation review, analysis of data from an online 
survey, and key stakeholder interviews. Further work is required to 
ensure the final report and options for implementation are robust.   
The impact analysis will now be based on the final version – not the 
draft ASD guidelines. 

A modified version of Tips for Autism will be delivered to support 
workers across health, disability, education and welfare. A draft support 
and mentoring framework is complete, with the involvement of the 
Ministry of Education. The evaluation provider, jointly funded by Child, 
Youth and Family and the Ministry of Education, has been determined 
and the contract finalised (Massey University). The owner of Tips for 
Autism has begun preliminary work on the course adaptations to meet 
the needs of the participants. The first cohort is planned for Wellington 
in August, the second for Christchurch in September and the third in 
either Auckland or New Plymouth in September/November 2007.  
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Improving the provision of environmental support services

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Projects will be completed in line with the 
three-stage plan, and key developments 
will be reported quarterly.

The work programme is continuing within the three-stage 
plan:

• stage 1 was to be completed by June 07

• stage 2 by December 2007

• stage 3 by June 2008.

Stage 1 includes the development of consumer-friendly 
information about equipment and modification services. 
An information brochure has been published and will be 
translated into a range of accessible formats, including te reo 
Māori, three Pacific languages, audio tape and Braille. Most 
of the stage 1 work will be completed by 30 July 2007.

Work is also under way to align funding guidelines 
nationally. These guidelines will be republished in plain-
language format for use by assessors and service users.  
Development work is also being undertaken to implement 
new initiatives so that the equipment and modification 
needs of some specific groups of disabled people (such as 
the deaf and hearing impaired, deaf-blind, and children) can 
be more effectively met.

Stages 2 and 3 implementation plans have been completed. 
This involves allocation of new funding for 2007/08. 

 Improved participation of Māori disabled people in the planning for and provision of 
disability support services

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A series of Māori disabled consumer hui 
will be held throughout New Zealand by 
30 June 2007.

By 31 December 2006 the Ministry will 
fund a new initiative for the provision of 
disability information advisory services 
(DIAS) by Māori for Māori who are visually 
impaired, including those who are blind.

Disability support services information 
on the Ministry of Health website will be 
updated by 30 September 2006.

The Ministry held a series of consumer forums and hui 
around the country between March and June 2007. Hui were 
held in Christchurch, Gisborne, Dunedin, Hamilton, Kaitaia 
and Auckland. The final hui for 2006/07 was held in June. 
Issues raised via feedback forms have been distributed 
to DS staff for response. These will be included in a report 
that is being written and will discuss responses and make 
recommendations to SMT. 

The new Ngati Kapo website was launched in Parliament on 
3 March 2007, but it was funded on time in December 2006 
when the contract was signed.

The Ministry’s recently redesigned website, which includes a 
section specific to Māori disability issues and services, went 
live in October 2006.
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Improving the planning of disability support services for disabled Pacific peoples

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

An across-agency plan for improved 
support services for disabled Pacific 
peoples in Auckland will be completed, by 
30 September 2006.

A disability support service provider and 
workforce development plan for Auckland 
will be developed, by  31 December 2006.

A national Pacific disability support 
service plan will be developed, by  
30 June 2007.

The plan was finalised by all funders of disability support 
services during September 2006, and was presented to other 
sector stakeholders on 10–11 October 2006. The Lu’i Ola: 
Auckland Inter-agency Pacific Disability Plan was completed 
in September and a Pacific community launch of the core 
plan objectives was held at the Pacific Information Advisory 
Support Services	(PIASS) Trust Pacific Disability Fono on 8 
December 2006 following three other regional fono. The 
official media launch and signing of the Lu’i Ola: Auckland 
Inter-agency Pacific Disability Plan was held at the Telstra 
Pacific Events Centre in Manukau City on 20 April 2007. 

Achieved. A disability support service provider and  
workforce development plan for Auckland was developed  
by December 2006.

Achieved. The plan was also circulated to the Lu’i Ola Group 
for their input and comment.  
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Improving the access to disability support services by restructuring the funding and 
service provision of disability information and advisory services (DIAS)

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A funding implementation plan will be 
completed to improve DIAS, by  
30 September 2006.

DIAS service specifications will be revised 
by 31 March 2007.

A funding implementation plan will be 
implemented and the funding of DIAS 
services will be restructured, by  
30 June 2007.

The implementation plan was approved in August 2006 and 
implementation of several improvements is under way.

Following a review of the service specifications, a decision 
has been taken to do no further work on revising them until 
the Navigation project under the Office for Disability Issues’ 
Intersectoral Review of Long Term Disability Supports has 
progressed.

People First have been contracted as the first DIAS service 
for people with intellectual disability. A contract has been 
signed with a national provider and services will be rolled 
out in October. The provider is currently running a national 
roadshow to inform consumers of the new service. The 
Ministry is meeting monthly with People First to monitor 
progress towards implementing items identified in the  
pre-contract audit.

The Pacific Health Branch has provided Pacific Provider 
Development Funding for the Wellington region DHBs  
to conduct a needs analysis to scope the need for a  
Pacific DIAS.

Cost

Actual
30/06/06

$000  

Actual
30/06/07

$000

Main 
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07 

$000

10,291 

208 

�0,4�� 

9,471 

�,028 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

10,019 

156 

�0,�75 

10,119 

56 

9,754 

152 

�,�06 

9,906 

–   

10,019 

152 

�0,�7� 

10,171 

–   
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5.4 Departmental Output Expense: Information Services
5.4.� Description
This output expense focuses on the provision of:

Policy advice:

• good quality and timely health information, strategic and policy advice to the Minster of Health

• health information strategic and policy advice in a context that supports the New Zealand 
Health Strategy (NZHS) and New Zealand Disability Strategy (NZDS)

• health information strategic and policy advice on how to use information in innovative ways to 
improve the health status and independence outcomes for all New Zealanders.

National health information:

• the Health Information Strategy – custodianship of the Health Information Strategy for New 
Zealand (HIS-NZ)

• national collections – custodianship and operational responsibility for national collections of 
health and disability information on behalf of New Zealanders

• health records – custodianship and operational responsibility for national health event 
summaries on behalf of all New Zealanders

• data quality – the collection, processing, maintenance, analysis and dissemination of health 
data, statistics and information, including strategies to improve data quality

• information access – responsibility for providing health information to the sector and 
appropriate information to wider stakeholders

• national systems – the maintenance and ongoing development of key national systems

• anchoring framework – the maintenance and ongoing development of national indexes (ie, 
the National Health Index and Health Practitioner Index) to ensure connectivity to data stored 
across national collections

• stewardship support – providing advice and support to the Health Information Strategy Action 
Committee set up to provide stewardship governance to progress HIS-NZ and ensure consistent 
health information standards

Heath sector payments and administration: the administration and monitoring of service 
agreements and administering payments for health benefits and service agreements.

This output expense also contributes to the implementation of the following Ministry priority:

• developing health infrastructure (information).

5.4.2 2006/07 highlights
• New Zealand Health Information Service (NZHIS) submissions were made on the revision of the 

Health Information Privacy Code to allow for greater efficiencies.

• NZHIS continues to lead in the area of health informatics and clinical benchmarking with the 
development and use of analytical software to compare and assess the relative effectiveness 
and efficiencies of hospital-based services.  
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• New Zealand’s charter membership of the International Health Terminology Standards 
Development Organisation (IHTSDO) means that New Zealand now part owns and governs 
SNOMED CT (Systemised Nomenclature of Medicine Clinical Terms), which is the leading 
standardised vocabulary or terminology system for use in medical databases.  

• The winners of the 2006 Sharing Excellence in the Health and Disability Information 
Management Awards were announced and presented at the Health Information Informatics  
New Zealand (HINZ) Conference in August 2006. 

• A booklet showcasing the awards winners was produced. Entitled Sharing Excellence in Health 
and Disability Information Management 2006, it was distributed throughout the health and 
disability sector.

• World-class health statistics were made available with the publication of:

– Cancer: New registrations and deaths 2003

– Report on Maternity: Maternal and newborn information 2004

– Fetal and Infant Deaths: 2003 and 2004

– Mental Health Service Use in New Zealand 2004

– Cancer: New registrations and deaths 2004

– Selected Health Professional Workforce in New Zealand 2006.

• Health Sector Payments and Administration (HealthPAC): the Ministry successfully processed all 
correct claims and invoices (totalling 71,173,633) within agreed timeframes and in accordance 
with business rules, on behalf of the DHBs. The audit programme identified recoveries or 
savings of $13,410,722 from inappropriate claiming for health services and changes in claimant 
behaviour following audit intervention. This involved the completion of five prosecutions of 
service providers and commencement of another three.

• Programme Management Office: a reviewed and altered governance framework for information 
systems programmes and projects has been developed. In April 2007 the Ministry hosted a 
successful summit for 150 vendors to brief them on the Ministry’s information strategy and 
information technology work programme.  

• National Systems Development Programme: the stage 2 business case for the National Systems 
Development Programme was signed off by Ministers in July 2007.  

• Information Technology Services (ITS): the Ministry was the host for the World Health 
Organization (WHO) Western Pacific Regional Committee Meeting held in Auckland during 
September. Among other services, the Ministry supplied all IT, telephony and communications 
infrastructure, hardware and systems, and managed support for the delegates during the period 
of the meeting.  
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5.4.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the 
standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved. Advice has been provided as required.

Quantity

Advice will be provided as agreed between 
the Minister and Ministry. Aspects of the 
National System Development Programme 
will be implemented, as agreed between 
the Minister and Ministry.

Achieved. The National Systems Development Programme 
stage 2 Business Case was provided to the Minister of 
Health, Minister of Finance, Minister of State Services, and 
the Minister of Information Technology, in May 2007.

5.4.4 national health information

Performance measure
2006/07 
estimate

2006/07 
actual

Annual progress report

Quality

There will be development, 
maintenance and continuous 
improvement of key national 
collections systems.

Data loads for Mental 
Health Information National 
Collection (MHINC), breast 
cancer screening and 
treatment (BCST), National 
Minimum Data Set (NMDS) 
and National Booking Review 
System (NBRS) will be 
processed within 2 days of 
receipt.

Availability of National Health 
Index (NHI) reporting to the 
sector.

Quarterly

2 days

Monthly

Quarterly

2 days

Monthly

Achieved. through the National Collections 
Annual Maintenance Project (NCAMP), formerly 
known as the 1 July Changes Project. The 
project enabled enhancements to be made to 
the National Booking Reporting System, the 
National Minimum DataSet and the National 
Non-admitted Patient Annual Collection

Achieved.

Achieved.

Quantity

The Health Practitioner Index 
(HPI) will be progressively 
populated with practitioner-
level data.

80% 
populated

23% 
populated

A further 64% is now in the test system for 
checking before loading into the live system. 
The HPI has been populated with all available 
data.
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Performance measure
2006/07 
estimate

2006/07 
actual

Annual progress report

Data collected and stored 
within national collection 
systems will be utilised to 
deliver a minimum of six 
published publications.

The NHI and Medical Warning 
System (MWS) availability  
(of time).

6

98%

6

99%

Six publications were completed and approved 
for publication. These were:

• Cancer: New registrations and deaths 2003

• Report on Maternity: Maternal and newborn 
information 2004

• Fetal and Infant Deaths: 2003 and 2004

• Mental Health Service Use in New Zealand 
2004

• Cancer: New registrations and deaths 2004

• Selected Health Professional Workforce in 
New Zealand 2006. 

Achieved and exceeded.

Timeliness

Requests for information from 
the clinical coding help desk 
will be delivered in a timely 
manner (as agreed with 
clients).

NHI technical help desk 
availability.

Requests for information from 
client stakeholders will be 
delivered in a timely manner 
(as agreed with clients).

95%

24/7

95%

95%

24/7

95%

Achieved.

Achieved.

Achieved. Information has been delivered 
within timeframes agreed with clients.
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5.4.5 Health sector payments and administration

Performance measure
2006/07 
estimate

2006/07 
actual

Annual progress report

Quality

Claims and invoices 
processed and paid.

Agreements produced and 
processed.

Monitoring reports 
loaded into the contract 
management system.

Applications for eligibility 
processed.

75,000,000

12,000

16,000

280,000

70,885,897

17,116

14,714

255,906

Achieved. All claims submitted were 
processed. Less claims than anticipated 
were received.

Achieved. All agreements were produced 
and processed.

Achieved. 14,714 monitoring reports 
were loaded into the contract 
management system (CMS). Annual 
figures are less than forecast because 
a number of agreements that had 
monitoring requirements were 
rationalised or removed by the funder.  

Achieved. All eligibilities received were 
processed.

Timeliness

Percentage of applications 
for eligibility processed 
within agreed timeframes.

Percentage of correct 
claims and invoices paid 
within agreed timeframes.

Percentage of client calls 
answered successfully 
(measured as an 
abandonment rate of no 
greater than 5%) by the 
call centre.

Percentage of approved 
agreements issued to 
providers within five 
working days of approval.

100%

100%

95%

99%

100%

100%

93%

100%

Achieved. all applications for eligibility 
were processed within agreed 
timeframes.

Achieved. all correct claims and 
invoices were processed within agreed 
timeframes.

The volume of calls to the Wellington 
Contact Centre doubled following the 
relocation of the HealthPAC Dunedin 
Contact Centre to Wellington and an 
0800 number being disconnected.  This 
affected service levels for two months.  
May and June service levels were 
exceeded and are now on target.  

Achieved.
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Quality

An audit programme 
will be conducted as 
specified in the Ministry 
of Health – District Health 
Boards’ memoranda 
of understanding 
and monitored by the 
Information Liaison Group.

A memorandum of 
understanding with the 
DHBs will be undertaken.

Agreements will be peer 
reviewed prior to issuing 
to providers.

Payments of claims and 
invoices will be according 
to business rules within 
agreements.

The audit programme undertaken by the Ministry identified recoveries or 
savings of $13,410,722 from inappropriate claiming for health services and 
changes in claimant behaviour following audit intervention. This represents 
a return of more than four to one on investment. Over the year:

• 374 health service provider audits were completed

• 41 health service provider fraud investigations were conducted

• five prosecutions of service providers were completed and three 
commenced

• 72 carer support (members of the public) fraud investigations were 
undertaken, with 13 successful prosecutions completed 

• 12 risk assessment reports were undertaken for DHBs identifying areas of 
risk relating to claims and payments. 

Audit and Compliance undertook statistical analysis of most claims to 
identify possible fraud or non-compliance.

A revised memorandum of understanding has been distributed for 
consultation.

HealthPAC have implemented new processes within the agreements 
area to improve the turnaround time between DHBs and HealthPAC when 
processing new agreements. A quality peer-review process is now in place 
to ensure agreements contain complete and accurate information.

Payments have been made in accordance with business rules.
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5.4.6 national systems review: national Systems Development Programme

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Work progresses to further review, develop, maintain and 
continuously improve national systems collections.  

These key areas of potential development include:

• payments and claiming

• information integration

• identity management

• data quality

• next generation health monitoring

• collection development.

This is envisaged as a two-year programme of work spanning 
2006/07 to 2007/08.

The National Systems Development 
Programme stage 2 Business Case 
was provided in May 2007 and 
signed off by the Minister of Health, 
Minister of Finance, Minister of State 
Services, and Minister of Information 
Technology in July 2007.

Cost

Actual

30/06/06

$000  

Actual

30/06/07 
$000

Main

estimates

30/06/07 
$000

Supp.

estimates

30/06/07 
$000

51,576 

1,739 

53,3�5 

53,268 

47 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

61,873 

1,232 

63,�05 

63,718 

(6�3)

49,616 

661 

50,277 

50,277 

–

61,873 

1,161 

63,034 

63,034 

–

The Ministry manages the maternity contracts system. The deficit arose from system modifications for the new maternity notice 
as required under Section 88 of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000. 
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5.5 Departmental output expense: management of 
national screening programmes

5.5.� Description
This output expense ensures the effective delivery of national screening programmes (currently 
the National Cervical Screening Programme, BreastScreen Aotearoa, Newborn Metabolic Screening 
Programme, Newborn Hearing Screening Programme and Antenatal HIV Screening Programme), 
and the provision of advice on screening in other strategic areas.

The delivery of national screening programmes is overseen by the National Screening Unit, which 
provides the following.

Policy advice: provision of policy and strategic advice on the national co-ordination and leadership 
of screening programmes, and on reducing inequalities within screening programmes.

Service planning and funding:

• contracting with screening service providers for specified screening services, and ensuring 
these contracts are funded and managed

• auditing and monitoring the contracted service providers against their contracts and the 
applicable national quality standards, in accordance with the National Screening Unit 
monitoring and audit frameworks and the National Screening Unit quality framework.

This output expense also contributes towards the following Ministry priorities and initiatives:

• National Cervical Screening Programme

• breast cancer screening 

• phased implementation of universal routine-offer antenatal HIV screening for women in  
New Zealand

• colorectal cancer screening 

• universal newborn hearing screening

• antenatal screening for Down syndrome

• Newborn Metabolic Screening Programme.

5.5.2 2006/07 highlights
Antenatal HIV

• A contract was signed with eight DHBs for the provision of an antenatal HIV screening 
programme.

• Information resources for women have been developed and are ready to distribute.

Antenatal screening of Down syndrome

• Policy advice was provided to the Minister on whether a national antenatal screening of Down 
syndrome ought to be established.

• Antenatal Down Syndrome Screening in New Zealand 2007 was published.
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newborn Metabolic Screening Programme

• A policy for expanded metabolic screening was implemented.

• A national education programme for practitioners involving expanded screening.

Breast screening

• Full implementation of the BSA age extension policy was completed. 

• Eight new providers are in place with expanded facilities and capacity to screen the eligible 
population.

national Cervical Screening Programme 

• Guidelines for management of women with abnormal cervical smears were completed.

Colorectal cancer screening

• Advice was given to the Minister on a colorectal cancer screening programme for New Zealand.

universal newborn Hearing Screening Programme

• Detailed planning is under way for a 1 July commencement for Waikato, Tairawhiti and 
Hawke’s Bay DHBs.

5.5.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity

All advice will be provided as agreed between the Minister and the Ministry in 
2006/07.

Achieved.

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes as agreed between the Minister and the 
Ministry will be met.

Achieved.

 5.5.4   Service planning and funding

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

An audit programme will be conducted for monitoring service agreements. Achieved.

Quantity

Performance against an estimated 100 service agreements for the delivery of 
national screening programmes will be monitored against Ministry contract 
monitoring standards.

Achieved.
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5.5.5 Breast cancer screening

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timelines

A national approach to recruitment and retention of medical radiation 
technologists and radiologists will be developed by 30 June 2007. 

Achieved. A national 
approach is in place.

5.5.6 Phased implementation of universal routine-offer antenatal HIV 
screening for women in new Zealand

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timelines

Agreement will be sought with a further seven DHBs to implement the 
universal routine offer of antenatal HIV screening by June 2007.

Guidelines for health professionals will be developed by June 2007.

Programme standards and monitoring and evaluation requirements 
will be developed by June 2007.

Information resources for women will be developed by June 2007.

Achieved.

Health Report completed.  
A new date has been agreed for 
October 2007.

Health Report completed. A new 
date has been agreed for  
October 2007.

Achieved.
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5.5.7 Colorectal cancer screening (CRC), universal newborn hearing 
screening, antenatal screening for Down syndrome, newborn 
Metabolic Screening Programme

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards 
set out in the Statement of Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity

All advice will be provided as agreed between 
the Minister and the Ministry in 2006/07.

Achieved.

Timeliness

Colorectal cancer screening

• The Ministry is reassessing colorectal cancer 
screening in New Zealand and is developing 
advice on whether a national colorectal cancer 
screening programme should be implemented 
in New Zealand, which will be provided in 
February 2007.

Universal newborn hearing screening

• The Ministry plans will provide further detailed 
policy on newborn hearing screening and an 
implementation plan, by December 2006.

Antenatal screening for Down syndrome

• A detailed Health Report will be completed on 
whether a national screening programme for 
antenatal Down syndrome screening should 
be established, including options for the 
Minister of Health by 31 January 2007.

Newborn Metabolic Screening Programme

• Policy for expanded metabolic screening will 
be developed by June 2007.

• Best practice guidelines for practitioners will 
be developed by June 2007.

• Policy and potential legislative options on the 
storage, retention and use of Guthrie Cards 
will be developed by June 2007.

• New consumer pamphlets will be developed 
by June 2007.

Health Report completed.  The Minister agreed 
to support colorectal cancer screening in future, 
contingent upon a feasibility study. The delay was due 
to the Final Report of the Colorectal Cancer Advisory 
Group being delivered outside agreed timeframes.  
The final report was provided in March 2007.

Achieved. Health Report completed.  Short of a 
screening programme is agreed for 1 July with a three-
year roll-out.  

A Health Report was completed in March 2007.  
The Minister has requested further detailed 
implementation planning and a noting paper to 
Cabinet by October 2007.  Although slightly delayed, 
a series of Health Reports on Down Syndrome were 
provided to the Minister in 2006 updating him on 
progress of the Antenatal Down Syndrome Screening 
Advisory Group.  

Achieved. 

Achieved.

not achieved. in 2006/07, a variation has been 
approved to December 2008.

Achieved. 
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Cost

 
Actual

30/06/06
$000

 
 
 
 

 
Actual

30/06/07
$000

Main
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07

$000

9,260 

63 

�,323 

9,148 

�75 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

9,737 

80 

�,8�7 

9,354 

463 

8,443 

67 

8,5�0 

8,510 

–

9,737 

67 

�,804 

9,804 

–  
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5.6 Departmental output expense: Māori health  
5.6.� Description
This output expense purchases Māori advice and policy analysis provided to the Minister of Health 
on the health and disability sector. This output expense provides:

Policy advice:

• advice on interventions to improve Māori health outcomes, including the reorientation of 
the health and disability sector, which is needed to improve Māori health and independence 
outcomes and reduce inequalities

• advice on the impact of policy and legislation in relation to reducing inequalities and Māori 
health aspirations and needs

• intersectoral co-ordination to ensure improved coverage and appropriate services to Māori, 
which will also impact on improved health outcomes

• the development of policy for the health and disability sector, including in relation to the 
operating and monitoring environment for DHBs and other service funders and providers, 
service development, and implementation of Māori health strategies to improve Māori health 
outcomes

• administration of the Māori Provider Development Scheme

• the allocation of funds from the Māori Provider Development Scheme to improve Māori health 
outcomes

• supporting collaboration and co-ordination within and across sectors

• providing leadership on Māori strategic policy and service development issues that span the 
health and disability sector, the strategic direction of the health and disability sector with 
respect to Māori health and disability (including advice on Māori provider and workforce 
development), and how to improve access to, and the quality and effectiveness of, services to 
Māori consumers and whānau

• supporting the enhancement of relationships between Māori communities and DHBs

• providing international liaison and advice on indigenous health issues.

This output expense also oversees/contributes to the implementation of the following Ministry 
priorities:

• He Korowai Oranga

• reducing inequalities.
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5.6.2 2006/07 highlights
• In December 2007 the Associate Minister of Health, Hon Mita Ririnui, launched Whakatātaka 

Tuarua: Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011.

•  The Ministry of Health is managing a portfolio of research, evaluation and statistical information 
as an integral part of providing an evidence-based system that contributes to the achievement 
of whānau ora, more effective service delivery for Māori, and improved health and disability 
outcomes for whānau.

•  A new web resource was created to provide an easy-to-use and accessible source of health data 
for Māori (see http://www.Maorihealth.govt.nz/moh.nsf/menuma/Statistics).

•  Māori Health Review, an online monthly journal that reviews research relevant to the health and 
wellbeing of Māori, was launched in February 2007 (see: www.maorihealthreview.co.nz). 

•  The Ministry and the Health Research Council of New Zealand completed an evaluation of the 
Hauora Māori Scholarship Programme (part of the Māori Provider Development Scheme).

•  The Ministry held two workshops for researchers and those working in the health and disability 
sector. The first was on journeys in Māori health research and the second was a PHI workshop 
on Māori health statistics from a national, regional and local perspective.

•  In April 2007 the Associate Minister of Health, Hon Mita Ririnui, launched the Whānau Ora 
Health Impact Assessment tool (Whānau Ora HIA) at Parliament. This is the first indigenous 
health impact assessment tool in the world and is intended for use by sectors outside the 
health and disability sector.

•  Over the past year the Ministry of Health has been continuing to work with Māori oral health 
providers to strengthen their capacity to provide high-quality services to their communities in a 
sustainable way.

•  The Biannual Whānau Ora Awards 2006 were celebrated in Wellington in November 2006, 
showcasing Māori health provider excellence and innovation and their ability to implement the 
whānau ora concept in the health and disability sector.

•  The Ministry and the Health Research Council of New Zealand completed an evaluation of 
the Hauora Māori Scholarship Programme (part of the Māori Provider Development Scheme). 
The  scholarship programme was proven to have made a substantial contribution to the 
development of the Māori health and disability workforce.

•  More than 500 scholarships were granted to assist students studying health and disability 
issues, with a particular focus on Māori health.

•  The Ministry has been working with the DHB Chief Executives and/or senior managers of 
Tairawhiti, Northland, Whanganui and Lakes DHBs on the Four DHBs Inequalities Project. The 
project aims to address the inequalities identified in the report Monitoring Neighbourhood 
Inequality through Neighbourhood Life Expectancy: Public Health Intelligence occasional 
bulletin no. 28 by working closely with these DHBs to improve their respective average levels of 
health and distribution of health through a suite of targeted interventions.

•  Three Ministry of Health-led governance training sessions (Te Matawhānui) were held for Māori 
DHB board members. Te Manu Whakahīato, the Māori governance training programme for DHB 
Māori Relationship Boards was implemented and these governance training sessions will be 
adapted for PHO governance boards in 2007/08.

•  Taonga Tuku Iho, the Rongoā Development Plan, was implemented with significant engagement 
of the rongoā sector. (The next step is the establishment of a national rongoā body.)
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5.6.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set 
out in the Ministry’s Communication Standards.  
Managerial and peer review will be maintained to 
ensure the quality standards are met. 

Research produced will be undertaken in conjunction 
with the Health Research Council. Each research 
application will be reviewed according to criteria by at 
least three independent reviewers.

Achieved.

Achieved.

Quantity

An annual report will be made to the Reducing 
Inequalities Officials Committee as requested. 

Quarterly progress reports will be made to the 
Minister on the implementation of He Korowai Oranga 
(Whakatātaka, the action plan). 

A Health Report on the research projects will be 
produced, as required.

not applicable. There were no Reducing 
Inequalities Officials Committee requests in the 
2006/07 year.

Achieved. The Ministry completed the quarterly 
reporting on Whakatātaka: Māori Health Action 
Plan in December 2005. The first quarterly report 
for Whakatātaka Tuarua was forwarded to the 
Associate Minister, Hon Mita Ririnui, in  
April 2007.

Achieved. Research projects were detailed in 
Health Reports. 

Timeliness

Quarterly progress reports to the Minister on the 
implementation of He Korowai Oranga (Whakatātaka, 
the action plan) will be delivered on time, as  
agreed to.

Annual reports to the Reducing Inequalities Officials 
Committee will be delivered on time, as agreed to by 
the Committee.   

Other advice and reports will be delivered to Ministers 
within the timeframes negotiated.

Achieved.

not applicable. There were no Reducing 
Inequalities Officials Committee requests in the  
2006/07 year.

Achieved.
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 5.6.4 Statutory committees (national Kaitiaki Group)

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

Secretariat support will be provided for the National Kaitiaki Group.  
Meetings are held four times a year.

Achieved.

Quantity

The applications will be assessed against criteria  (under the Kaitiaki 
Regulations) by the National Kaitiaki Group.

 

Achieved.

Timeliness

Under the regulations, the National Kaitiaki Group is required to consider 
applications as soon as reasonably practicable.

Achieved.

5.6.5 Administration of the Māori Provider Development Scheme

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

Decisions on the allocation of funds will be 
in line with guidelines of the Māori Provider 
Development Scheme (MPDS). The relevant 
DHB and Māori provider organisations will be 
involved in decisions, where appropriate.

Achieved. All 2006/07 MPDS applications were jointly 
assessed with DHBs and, where relevant, the three 
northern Māori Co-Purchasing Organisations (MAPO).

In February 2007 the MPDS reference group convened 
and approved the 2007/08 MPDS Funding Strategy. 
The Ministry is currently undertaking a joint 2007/08 
MPDS application assessment process with DHBs and, 
where relevant, the three northern Māori Purchasing 
Organisations (MAPO).

Quantity

Funds will be allocated to successful 
applicants across four categories.

 

Achieved. All 2006/07 MPDS funding has been allocated 
to Māori provider infrastructure, workforce development, 
quality/best practice and service integration.

Timeliness

Requests for applications, assessments, 
advice and payment of funds meet the 
timeframes stated for the 2006/07 funding 
round.

Achieved. All stated timelines have been met. 
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5.6.6 Supporting collaboration and co-ordination within and across sectors

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

The Ministry will engage with whānau, hapū, iwi and 
Māori communities and other stakeholders in the 
health and disability sector to develop Whakatātaka ll: 
Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011.

The Ministry will meet the standards set out in 
the Ministry’s Communication Standards and the 
consultation set in Ko Tātou: Building and Maintaining 
Relationships with Māori. A guide for District Health 
Boards.

Achieved. Fifteen general hui were held. Four 
regional meetings with DHB representatives and 
a forum* with relevant government agencies 
were also conducted. Overall the response to 
the discussion document was largely positive. 

Achieved. There was widespread support for 
the resulting action plan, with the exception of 
the perceived removal of the Treaty of Waitangi. 
The Whakatātaka forum met to discuss the 
DHB-led actions for inclusion in Whakatātaka 
Tuarua: Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011. 
The Ministry received full endorsement from the 
forum for the DHB-led actions (and joint actions 
with the Ministry) within the plan. 

Quantity

The Ministry will hold at least 10 hui with whānau, 
hapū, iwi and Māori communities and other 
stakeholders in the health and disability sector to 
develop Whakatātaka ll: Māori Health Action Plan 
2006–2011.

 

Achieved. Extensive consultation on the 
discussion document commenced on  
22 June 2006. Fifteen public consultation 
hui, four regional meetings with DHBs and a 
workshop with a range of government agencies 
were held and 36 written submissions received 
through the consultation process. Of these, 
seven were individual submissions, with the 
remaining 29 submissions representing a range 
of organisations within and associated with the 
health and disability support sector. 

Timeliness

The Action Plan will be launched to the health and 
disability sector by December 2006.

Achieved. The Action Plan was launched on 
Tuesday 5 December 2006. A wide range of 
participants from the health and disability sector 
attended the launch.  

*  DHB Chief Executive representatives and Te Tumu Whakarae (District Health Board Māori Managers’ Collective Forum)  

Cost

 
Actual

30/06/06
$000

 
 
 
 

 
Actual

30/06/07
$000

Main
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07

$000

3,588 

40 

3,628 

3,508 

�20 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

3,843 

58 

3,�0� 

3,857 

44 

3,698 

44 

3,742 

3,742 

–   

3,843 

44 

3,887 

3,887 

–   
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5.7 Departmental output expense: Mental health  
Improving mental health 
This output expense focuses on leading the implementation of the Government’s mental health 
priorities. It also focuses on administering mental health regulations for compulsory assessment 
and treatment. 

This output expense will purchase: 

• policy advice on improving health outcomes, reducing inequalities and increasing participation 

• the administration of mental health legislation 

• service development and review. 

This output expense also contributes to the implementation of the Mental Health Strategy.  
It includes the following areas: 

• updated framework for services for children’s and young people’s mental health and alcohol 
and other drug problems 

• regulatory framework for compulsory interventions in alcohol and drug addiction 

• alcohol and drug addiction regulatory framework 

• key performance indicator framework 

• revised forensic framework and implementation plan 

• Annual Report of the Office of the Director of Mental Health. 

5.7.� Mental health highlights
•  The document Child and Youth Mental Health and Alcohol and Other Drug Services was finalised 

and sent to the Minister for approval to publish.  

•  A section-by-section analysis of the options for the review and repeal of the Alcoholism and 
Drug Act was completed and a preferred option (repeal and replacement) and complementary 
work programme were provided to and supported by the Minister at the end of June. 

• The inaugural Office of the Director of Mental Health Annual Report was published in  
November 2006, and the draft 2007 report, which integrates the reporting of electro-convulsive 
treatment data and the use of seclusion data, has been completed.
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5.7.2 Policy advice

Performance measure
Annual progress 
report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Standard of Objectives. Achieved.

Quantity

All advice will be provided as agreed between the Minister and the Ministry.

 

Achieved.

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes will be met as agreed between the Minister and the 
Ministry.

Achieved.

5.7.3 Administration of legislation

Performance measure
Annual 
progress report

Quality, quantity, timeliness

All timeframes for regulatory and investigative activities, as set out in legislation or 
agreed between the Minister and Ministry in the output specifications below, will be met.

Achieved.

5.7.4 Service development and review

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity, timeliness

Performance against an estimated 100 service agreements will be 
monitored against Ministry contract monitoring standards. 

A quarterly report will be provided to the Minister on the Ministry’s 
performance as a funder.

Performance against 93 service 
agreements were monitored 
against Ministry contract 
monitoring standards.

Quarterly reports have been 
provided by the due dates.
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5.7.5 updated framework for services for children’s and young people’s  
 health and alcohol and other drug problems

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quantity

By 30 June 2007 the Ministry will have produced an 
updated framework for services for children’s and 
young people’s mental health and alcohol and other 
drug problems. The framework will consider:

•  access to services

•  children with parents or other whānau with mental 
illness

•  youth forensic issues

•  severe behaviour disorders

•  responsibility for children and young people with 
alcohol or other drug problems

•  maternal and infant mental health

•  low-prevalence disorders

•  the role of primary health services in child and 
youth mental health. 

An improved framework for child and adolescent 
mental health services will increase access and 
contribute to ensuring that children and young people 
with mental health and alcohol and other drug 
problems, and their families and whānau, receive 
services that are recovery focused, provide choice, 
promote independence (as far as is age appropriate), 
and are effective, efficient, responsive and timely. 
This output links to the Ministry outcomes of direction 
of leadership, operating environment and system 
capability.

The document Child and Youth Mental Health 
and Alcohol and Other Drug Services was 
finalised and sent to the Minister for approval 
to publish. The document identifies key issues 
and priorities for action from Te Kōkiri in child 
and youth mental health and alcohol and other 
drug services over the next three to five years to 
ensure the quickening pace of the development 
of access to services for children and youth.

Three companion papers, developed by the 
mental health workforce centres, will be made 
available along with the Child and Youth Mental 
Health and Alcohol and Other Drug Services 
document. They contain information that will 
be helpful to anyone working with children and 
youth, especially for DHB planners and funders, 
practitioners and service planners. These 
companion papers are:

• a Te Rau Matatini paper on Māori Child and 
Youth Mental Health and Alcohol and Other 
Drug Services

• an update by the Werry Centre of the stocktake 
of child and adolescent mental health services 
in New Zealand

• a Werry Centre paper on a review of evidence-
based age-appropriate interventions for 
children and youth.

Quality

The framework will be designed with regard to 
the views of a wide range of mental health sector 
representatives, and will have the support of a range 
of significant stakeholder groups including DHBs, 
NGOs, young people, families and whānau.

The framework will be based on up-to-date 
epidemiology and internationally supported best 
practice, address gaps, and reflect specific population 
needs.

 

The process for developing the final document 
has included:

• establishment in 2006 of a sector-based key 
informants group to assist the Ministry with 
the development of a new document

• a literature review on epidemiological 
evidence and evidence-based practice for 
child and youth specialist service provision

• sector feedback and comment on a draft 
document through targeted networks, and 
final revision based on that feedback.

Timeliness

The framework will be completed by 30 June 2007. Achieved.
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5.7.6 Regulatory framework compulsory interventions in alcohol and drug 
addiction

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quantity

By 30 June 2007 the Ministry will have produced 
advice on policy options for repeal or amendment 
of the Alcoholism and Drug Addiction Act 1966, 
for Government consideration. The advice will: 

• outline the current regulatory framework for 
compulsion in addiction services, the place 
of the Alcoholism and Drug Addiction Act 
1966 in that framework and its effectiveness, 
consistency with other government policy, and 
current problems with the framework

• describe international approaches to this 
area and their effectiveness and fit with New 
Zealand policy approaches

• identify policy options to address issues with 
the current regulatory framework

• outline the implications of and proposed future 
work programmes for the options identified.

An improved regulatory framework for addiction 
services will minimise unnecessary constraints 
on the provision of and access to services. It will 
also improve coherence and understanding of the 
system in which addiction services are provided 
and accessed.

In February 2007 a Health Report was provided 
to the Minister outlining the background, use, 
effectiveness, problems and relevant international 
approaches in relation to the Alcohol and Drug 
Addiction Act 1966.

The Ministry has recently completed a section-by-
section analysis of the Act and considered three 
possible options for review of the Act:

1. a complete repeal of the Act, which involves 
consideration of the current powers in the Act and 
whether existing legislation may substitute for 
these powers

2. a minimal revision of the Act, involving identifying 
how a minimal revision might look if undertaken 
and what particular parts of the Act might be 
updated

3. a complete revision of the Act, involving 
identifying how the Act might be completely 
overhauled, what shape it might take, and what 
issues need to be taken into account in any rewrite 
of the Act.

At the end of June 2007 the Ministry provided 
the Minister of Health, Hon Pete Hodgson, with a 
report outlining the impact of these options and its 
preferred option, along with a complementary work 
programme.  

The Minister has approved the Ministry’s preferred 
option, which is a complete revision of the Act 
(option 3 above).  

Quality

The advice provided will meet the standards set 
out in the Statement of Objectives.

 

Achieved.

Timeliness

The framework will be completed by  
30 June 2007.

Achieved.  
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5.7.7 Key performance indicator framework

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quantity

By 30 June 2007 the Ministry will 
have completed the development of 
a proposed national key performance 
indicator  framework (the KPI 
Framework) for use in mental health 
services in New Zealand. The KPI 
Framework for mental health services 
will provide indicators to assess the 
quality of services, and will include 
recommendations on a process for 
ongoing benchmarking activities 
among mental health services.

The KPI Framework will create improved 
system-level accountability by enabling 
tracking of progress against national 
priorities, enabling benchmarking 
among mental health services, and 
providing a tool for driving service 
quality improvement at the local level.

Phase 1:  Achieved. The Framework has been designed to 
enable services to learn about the practices that lead to 
improved outcomes for service users. This will take place 
through provider-led benchmarking forums that will explore the 
reasons behind the differences among services.

From over 100 indicators considered, 30 have been selected 
for this first version of the Framework. The Framework was 
influenced by the following design principles:

• the Framework will utilise the nine Australian domains

• the first version will be a generic framework 

• indicators will provide information about health inequalities 
and how to reduce them

• indicators will support a recovery focus

• indicators will be designed for organisational-level reporting 

• indicators need to be supplemented by contextual 
information to assist interpretation

• indicators are intended for use as tools for quality 
improvement

• indicators can be defined without setting targets

• a suite of indicators is needed to understand mental health 
and addiction performance 

• indicators should be developed on a staged basis 

• indicators will be a mix of inputs, processes, outputs and 
outcomes 

• indicators must meet basic criteria 

• the smallest number of indicators should be selected for 
maximum value. 

The business case for further phases is being developed for 
implementation in 2007/08.

Quality

The proposed KPI Framework will be 
designed with regard to the views 
of a wide range of mental health 
sector representatives and will have 
the support of a range of significant 
stakeholder groups, including DHBs, 
NGOs, consumers and carers/whānau.

 

Achieved. 

Timeliness

The final report on the proposed KPI 
Framework will be completed by  
30 June 2007.

Achieved.
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5.7.8  Revised forensic framework and implementation plan

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quantity

By 30 June 2007 the Ministry will have completed the 
development of a revised forensic framework and an 
implementation plan for the framework. The aim will be to revise 
the forensic framework and develop an implementation plan 
to guide the planning of forensic mental health services across 
New Zealand for the next 5 to 10 years.  An updated forensic 
framework will address service gaps, the provision of forensic 
services in inpatient settings, future capacity and capability 
needs, and issues relating to increasing numbers in the criminal 
justice system.

The framework has been completed 
and sent to all DHBs; all DHB general 
managers, funder and planners; and 
all regional services. The expectation 
is that the five-year regional plans 
from DHBs will be tabled by 30 
September  2007.

Quality

The proposed forensic framework project will be designed with 
regard to the views of a wide range of mental health sector 
representatives and will have the support of a range of significant 
stakeholder groups including DHBs, NGOs, Departments of 
Corrections, Courts, Justice, and Police.

 

Consultation with the appropriate 
stakeholder groups has occurred. 

Timeliness

The final report on the proposed project framework and 
implementation plan will be completed by 30 June 2007.

Achieved.  

5.7.� Annual Report of the Office of the Director of Mental Health

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity, timeliness

By 30 June 2007 the Ministry will have produced the Annual 
Report from the Office of the Director of Mental Health. The 
Annual Report will be of the standard required for Ministry of 
Health publications.

The Annual Report will include description, comment and 
statistics on the Mental Health Review Tribunal, district 
inspectors, area mental health services, numbers of people 
on compulsory treatment orders, special patients, guideline 
development, and other work of the Office. The production of the 
Annual Report is a key means of making the statutory functions 
more transparent, enhancing the administration of the Mental 
Health (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 1992 
throughout the sector, and providing a context for the statutory 
functions within other mental health policy work of the Ministry.

The inaugural Office of the Director 
of Mental Health Annual Report was 
published in November 2006 and the 
draft 2007 report, which integrates 
the reporting of electro-convulsive 
treatment data and the use of 
seclusion data, has been completed.
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Cost

 
Actual

30/06/06
$000

 
 
 
 

 
Actual

30/06/07
$000

Main
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07

$000

6,285 

52 

6,337 

6,539 

(202)

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

6,839 

1,071 

7,��0 

7,889 

2� 

6,302 

53 

6,355 

6,355 

–

6,839 

1,053 

7,8�2 

7,892 

–   
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5.8 Departmental output expense: Ministerial Support 
Services

5.8.� Description
This output expense involves providing support services to the Minister of Health and Associate 
Ministers of Health. This includes preparing draft responses to ministerial correspondence, 
Parliamentary questions, requests for briefing reports and speeches; the provision of replies 
to questions asked by the Health Committee in respect of the Estimates and Financial Review 
examinations; and appointments to ministerial and occupational statutory bodies and committees.

The priority areas for 2006/07 will be the achievement of timeliness standards for all areas (but 
specifically for ministerial correspondence), and responses to requests for briefing papers and 
speeches, and to requests for official information.  

5.8.2 2006/07 highlights
In 2006/07 it was forecast that there would be 8100 items of ministerial correspondence, written 
parliamentary questions, requests for official information, requests for briefing papers and 
speeches, and replies to questions from the Health Committee referred to the Ministry of Health 
for draft reply. The actual number was 10,617. The increase in the volume of written parliamentary 
questions was particularly significant, with 2696 being received against an estimate of 1500, and 
this increase had an adverse flow-on effect for performance against the timeliness standard for 
Ministerial correspondence because priority was accorded to replies to the questions.  

In December the performance standards for ministerial correspondence were renegotiated 
with the Minister of Health and arrangements were made for the Minister’s office to prioritise 
correspondence by the importance of the issue rather than by the status of the author. This was 
necessary because up to 30 percent of correspondence was being prioritised for reply within  
10 days or less, which was becoming difficult to manage. A minimum of 10 working days for the 
preparation of an urgent reply is now allowed.   

Despite the high volume of correspondence, the quality of responses prepared by the Ministry 
improved over the previous year, with 98 percent of draft replies being signed off without 
amendment. For the current financial year 89 percent of ministerial correspondence is being 
completed within the required time frame of 90 percent on time – a significant improvement.  
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5.8.3 Ministerial Support Services

Performance measure
2006/07 
estimates

Annual 
update

Quantity

Number of items of ministerial correspondence received for the preparation  
of a draft reply

Number of written parliamentary questions received for the preparation  
of a draft reply

Number of requests for official information

Number of requests for briefing papers and speeches

Number of ministerial appointments to statutory bodies and committees

Number of replies to Health Committee written questions concerning the 
2006/07 Estimates and the 2005/06 Financial Review of the Ministry

5000

1500

700

550

120

350

5907

2696

897

656

180

461

Quality

Percentage of replies that are factually correct  

Percentage of replies peer reviewed and signed out in accordance with  
delegated authority

Percentage of appointments in accordance with Cabinet and State Services 
Commission guidelines

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Timeliness

Percentage of draft replies to ministerial correspondence completed within the 
required timeframe

Percentage of draft replies to parliamentary questions completed within the 
required timeframe 

Percentage of requests for briefing papers and speech notes completed by the 
requested time

Percentage of appointments made before the expiry of the term of appointment 
(except where the incumbent ceases to hold office prior to the expiry of their term 
of appointment)

90%

100%

100%

100%

80%

86%

88%

100%

Cost

 

Actual

30/06/06

$000

 

 

 

 

 

Actual

30/06/07

$000

Main

estimates

30/06/07

$000

Supp.

estimates

30/06/07

$000

2,805 

119 

2,�24 

2,831 

�3 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

3,103 

43 

3,�46 

3,007 

�3� 

2,480 

36 

2,5�6 

2,516 

–   

3,103 

36 

3,�3� 

3,139 

–   
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5.� Departmental output expense: Public Health
5.�.� Description

This output expense focuses on:

• the provision of policy advice to the Minister of Health in relation to public health services and 
policy

• managing public health issues (including public health information and radiation protection)

• planning and funding of public health services.

This output expense also contributes towards the following Ministry priorities and initiatives:

• Health Eating – Healthy Action

• tobacco control

• reducing alcohol use.

This output expense also contributes to the following:

•  establishment of the Australia-New Zealand Therapeutic Products Authority:

– implementation of a new risk-based regulatory scheme of therapeutic products (prescription 
and over-the-counter medicines, complementary medicines and medical devices)

– establishment of a joint therapeutic products regulatory agency (JTA) with Australia to 
administer the new regulatory scheme

• Pacific health:

– provision of policy advice on strategic frameworks and services to improve the health status 
of Pacific peoples in New Zealand

– implementation of the Pacific Health and Disability Workforce Development Plan

– administration of the Pacific Provider Development Fund to promote Pacific provider and 
workforce development

– liaison with the Pacific health provider sector

• drafting of the proposed Public Health Bill and supporting it through parliamentary processes, 
to replace the Health Act 1956:

– preparation of a draft Cabinet paper to outline key policy proposals

– finalisation of a draft Bill that gives effect to Cabinet decisions

– passage of the Public Health Bill, including the select committee process

– initiation of a review of current regulations associated with the Health Act 1956.
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5.�.2 2006/07 highlights
• Sewage and fluoride subsidies were implemented, including fluoridation of Kaitaia and Kaikohe 

water supplies, the provision of safe sewage treatment and disposal in Greymouth, Stewart 
Island and Renwick, and more communities with schemes being built safeguarding  
53 communities (52,000 people) from public health risks due to unsafe sewage disposal.

•  Drinking-water standards, guidelines and a grading regime were maintained, with 
improvements in drinking-water quality and safety, as shown in annual reports.

• Safe drinking-water programmes were developed for six Pacific Island countries.

• Eligibility criteria for capital assistance for small water supplies were approved by Cabinet.

• More than 200 water supplies are now enrolled and participating in the Drinking-water 
Assistance Programme.

• The Ministry has been working with EECA, including providing funding, to retrofit homes to 
improve insulation and ambient temperatures to reduce the public health effects of cold homes. 

• The International Health Regulations 2005 (the WHO global framework for preventing the control 
and spread of disease between countries) entered into force on 15 June 2007.

• The Healthy Eating – Healthy Action (HEHA) team has implemented approximately 60 of the  
87 HEHA actions identified in the HEHA Implementation Plan 2004–2010. 

5.�.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity

Advice will be provided as agreed between the Minister and Ministry in 
2006/07.

 

Achieved.

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes will be met as agreed between the Minister and 
Ministry.

Achieved.
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5.�.4 Healthy Eating – Healthy Action

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

Planning and initiation of HEHA in seven 
key areas will be completed by June 2007.

Leadership:

• regional intersectoral co-ordination 
functions will be initiated by 31 December 
2006.

Achieved.

• DHB Crown funding agreement variations for leadership 
and co-ordination have been signed by all DHB by  
31 December 2006.

• All DHBs have been visited and the leadership and  
co-ordination role has been well received.

• A new electronic database has been designed to support 
DHB reporting requirements against the DHB planning 
documents.

• Ministry-approved plans were submitted to the Ministry 
by the end of April 2007. 

School setting:

• phase 3 of Fruit in Schools will be rolled 
out by 31 October 2006

• a contract will be in place to support the 
roll-out of Ministry of Education food 
and nutrition guidelines by 31 December 
2006

• a framework to manage the nutrition fund 
will be developed by 31 December 2006.

Achieved.

• DHBs with phase 3 Fruit in Schools (FIS) have been 
identified and fully implemented by 31 October 2006.

• FIS intersectoral groups have been set up in all DHBs.

 • FIS now includes decile 1 intermediate schools in the 
programme.

• There has been joint planning with the Ministry of 
Education to support the nutrition guidelines roll-out, 
and the Ministry of Education has released the final 
version of the guidelines. An education programme 
commenced from the second term to promote the 
guidelines in the education setting.  A four-day workshop 
was held in mid-February 2007 to enhance the concept 
being adopted. It should be noted that the HEHA Team 
sought a variation to 31 March 2007 to deliver on this 
indicator due to a delay by Education in developing and 
publishing the guidelines.

• The framework to manage and promote the nutrition fund 
has been developed and is being implemented through 
the DHB Crown funding agreement variations.
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Breastfeeding:

• support will be provided to the Baby 
Friendly Hospital Initiative by 31 March 
2007

• scoping of a national breastfeeding 
promotion campaign prioritising Māori 
and Pacific peoples will be completed by 
30 June 2007.

Achieved.

• The New Zealand Breastfeeding Authority is continuing 
to support smaller maternity hospitals to achieve Baby 
Friendly Hospital status.

•  Scoping work to inform a national breastfeeding 
promotion campaign has been completed. Planning 
is due to begin on the design of the campaign. The 
campaign prioritises Māori and Pacific peoples.

Communication:

• a public awareness campaign will 
be planned in conjunction with key 
stakeholders by 31 March 2007.

Achieved.

• A public awareness campaign (Feeding our Futures) 
has been developed in partnership with the Health 
Sponsorship Council and was launched in late May 2007.

HEHA in the community:

• the Ministry will expand existing activity 
(eg, increasing the coverage of existing 
programmes) in the food industry by  
31 July 2006.

Achieved.

• Ministry officials met regularly with representatives from 
the Food Industry Group (FIG).  

• FIG have developed specific goals with measurable 
outcomes for the 2007/08 year. These cover projects 
including expanding FIG’s membership and influence; 
food reformulation to reduce fat, sugar and salt in food 
products; a new rating system for food advertising in 
children’s television time; and working with employers to 
provide healthier workplaces. 

• FIG will develop a website and database to track progress 
made on these projects. 

• Meetings were held with industry to brief them on the 
food and beverage classification system, and their 
concerns and questions were recorded in a report. 

• The Ministry entered into a three-year agreement with 
Horticulture NZ to improve the quality of chips. 

• A voluntary school beverage agreement for the removal 
of sugary beverages from schools was signed by the 
Minister and Coca-Cola and Frucor late last year.

Primary health care:

The Ministry will:

• fund further innovative DHB, PHO and 
HEHA proposals by 31 December 2006

• undertake scoping for the development 
of national guidelines for the treatment of 
overweight and obesity by June 2007.

Achieved.

•  Four further innovative HEHA proposals have been 
identified and agreements implemented.

• The guidelines project is well under way with the 
development of a draft project plan and a Ministry 
contract with the Clinical Trials Research Unit at the 
University of Auckland for an evidence-based literature 
review. Both these pieces of work will be used to inform 
the Guidelines Steering Group currently being set up 
to steer the development and implementation of the 
National Guidelines for the Management of Overweight 
and Obesity.  
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Monitoring, research and evaluation:

• a monitoring plan will be completed  
by 30 June 2007

• a research strategy will be prepared for 
consultation by 31 December 2006.

Achieved.

• The HEHA Strategy evaluation approach and 
measurement framework has been developed and key 
stakeholders consulted. This approach includes a focus 
on monitoring.  

• The contract for a detailed scoping of the HEHA Strategy 
evaluation has been signed. The evaluation will be 
initiated by 31 December 2007. Two new monitoring 
initiatives have been developed, which will be 
implemented in the 2007/08 year.  

• The Ministry’s joint venture with the Health Research 
Council – the Primary Prevention of Cancer and Other 
Chronic Diseases Research Strategy – is under way. The 
first request for proposals for the HEHA component of 
the research strategy was advertised and a preferred 
provider selected.

5.�.5 Tobacco control

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will provide advice to the Government on an 
amendment to the Smoke-free Environments Regulations 1999 
to meet New Zealand obligations as a party to the Framework 
Convention on Tobacco Control, by 30 June 2007.

Achieved.  
New Smoke-free Environments 
Regulations were made on  
27 February 2007.

5.�.6 Reducing alcohol use

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

The Ministry will manage the government-led review of the 
regulatory framework for alcohol advertising and provide 
secretariat and policy advice, by 30 June 2007.

Achieved.  
The review report was delivered to 
the Associate Minister of Health  
on 4 April 2007.

5.�.7 Service planning and purchasing

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Performance against an estimated 458 service agreements will be monitored 
against Ministry contract monitoring standards.

A quarterly report will be provided to the Minister on the Ministry’s performance 
as a funder.

Achieved.

Achieved.
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5.�.8 Public Health Intelligence

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All publications released by Public Health Intelligence (PHI) will be peer-
reviewed by national/international experts.

Achieved.

Quantity

A survey programme will be conducted to monitor the health of the New 
Zealand population.

Achieved.

Timeliness

An annual monitoring report on a set of health indicators will be produced 
by June 2007. PHI also publishes issue-specific monitoring reports and 
occasional bulletins, which provide data for the annual monitoring report.

Achieved. 
A draft has been produced.

5.�.� Radiation Protection Services

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

An estimated 3000 licensing applications will be 
processed.

Achieved. In the year 1 July 2006 to 30 June 
2007 a total of 4270 applications, for either new 
licences or licence renewal, were processed.

Timeliness and quantity

Licence renewals: 95% will be completed within  
20 working days of receipt of the application.

New licences: 95% will have the licensing process 
commenced within three working days and completed 
within 30 working days of receipt of the application.

Achieved. 3646 applications for licence renewal 
were processed and 3638 (99.8%) were 
completed within 20 working days of receipt.

Achieved. 624 applications for new licences 
were received, and in all cases the process was 
commenced within three working days and 
completed within 30 working days.
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5.�.�0 Regulation of therapeutics

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

An estimated 300 new medicine applications 
and 1500 changed medicine notifications will be 
processed.

An estimated 2500 applications for licences for 
activities under the Medicines Act 1981 and Misuse of 
Drugs act 1975 will be processed.

Achieved. 356 new medicine applications and 
1302 changed medicine notifications were 
processed.

Achieved. 2565 applications under the 
Medicines Act 1981 and Misuse of Drugs Act 
1975 were processed. 

Timeliness 

Legislative timeframes for approvals and licences will 
be met.

Achieved. All changed medicine notifications 
were processed within the legislative timeframe.

Quantity

The requirements under the Medicines Act 1981 and 
Misuse of Drugs Act 1975 and regulatory guidelines 
will be met.

Achieved.

5.�.�� Establishment of the Australia new Zealand Therapeutic  
Products Authority

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Statement 
of Objectives.

Achieved.

Quantity 

Advice will be provided to the Minister of State Services (who has 
delegated responsibility for the trans-Tasman aspects of this project) 
and the Minister of Health to support:

• the development and passage of the Therapeutic Products Bill and 
the Medicines Bill, including the select committee processes

• the development of the regulatory scheme to be administered by the 
authority

• the New Zealand member on the Therapeutic Products Interim 
Ministerial Council

• change management processes as Medsafe transitions into the new 
authority

• activities as otherwise agreed between the Minister and Ministry in 
2006/07.

Achieved. Regular (generally 
fortnightly) briefings have 
been provided to update the 
Minister on progress with the 
development of the Medicines 
and Therapeutic Products Bill. 
In addition, the Minister has 
been briefed on issues as they 
have arisen.

Timeliness

Subject to parliamentary processes, all milestones and timeframes as 
agreed between the Minister and Ministry in 2006/07 will be met.

Achieved.
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5.�.�2 Pacific health

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Advice will be prepared in consultation with relevant Ministry, government 
and Pacific health sector stakeholders.

An estimated 25 service agreements will be monitored against the Ministry’s 
contract monitoring standards. 

The relationship between Pacific health sector stakeholders and the Ministry 
will be supported and maintained.

Achieved. 

Achieved.

Achieved. Over 30 
service agreements 
were entered into and 
monitored

Achieved.

Quantity 

Advice will be provided to the standard agreed between the Minister and the 
Ministry.

Pacific Provider Development Funding (PPDF) of $5 million will be allocated 
in accordance with the funding categories published in the PPDF Purchasing 
Strategy 2005/06–2007/08.

Achieved. 

Achieved.

Timeliness

Advice will be provided to the time frames agreed between the Minister and 
the Ministry.

Achieved.
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5.�.�3 Drafting of the proposed Public Health Bill and supporting it through 
parliamentary processes, to replace the Health Act ��56

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice will meet the standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives; and consultation processes will continue to take 
into account the views of other government agencies.

Achieved. 

Quantity 

Advice will be provided to the Minister of Health to support:

• the preparation of a draft Cabinet paper to outline key policy 
proposals

• the finalisation of a draft Bill that gives effect to Cabinet 
decisions

• the preparation of a draft Cabinet paper that proposes 
introduction of the draft Bill

• the passage of the Public Health Bill, including the select 
committee processes

• the initiation of a review of current regulations associated 
with the Health Act 

• activities as otherwise agreed between the Minister and 
Ministry in 2006/07.

not Achieved. Cabinet policy  
re-confirmation of the Bill occurred 
on 21 November 2006 [CAB Min (06) 
43/5 refers]. Detailed comments on 
the draft ‘Outline’ of the Bill were 
provided to the Parliamentary Counsel 
Office between December 2006 and 
March 2007. In April the date for the 
completion of the draft LEG paper was 
changed to ‘no later than 31 August 
2007’ (HR 20070482).  However, on 8 
May 2007 the Parliamentary Counsel 
Office advised that a target date of 
August for introducing the Bill was no 
longer achievable. As a consequence, 
the Director-General decided that the Bill 
would become a ‘special project’ and 
that he would act as the sponsor. The 
Ministry advised that it is committed to 
finalising a draft Bill to be available for 
consideration by LEG in November 2007.

Timeliness

Subject to parliamentary processes, all milestones and 
timeframes as agreed between the Minister and Ministry in 
2006/07 will be met.

Achieved. Refer above.

Cost
 

Actual

30/06/06

$000

 

 

 

 

 

Actual

30/06/07

$000

Main

estimates

30/06/07

$000

Supp.

estimates

30/06/07

$000

33,580 

8,812 

42,3�2 

42,534 

(�42)

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

29,269 

13,364 

42,633 

42,821 

(�88)

24,300 

8,231 

32,53� 

32,531 

–   

29,269 

13,194 

42,463 

42,463 

–   

The deficit arose from a revaluation adjustment on the Ministry's property utilised by the National Radiation Laboratory. 
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5.�0 Departmental output expense: Sector Policy
5.�0.� Description
This output expense provides strategic policy advice and analysis to the Minister of Health on the 
health and disability sector in New Zealand. It focuses on the following.

Policy advice:

• providing an integrated view of the overall performance of the health and disability sector 

• providing an integrated view of the future directions, design and priorities for the health and 
disability sector

• assessing external and domestic influences on the sector, including the determinants of 
demand for health and disability support services and the wider environment in which the 
sector operates

• providing strategic advice on where and how best to achieve gains in health and independence, 
improve service quality and reduce inequalities for the population

• providing strategic advice on ethics and innovations and the associated regulatory frameworks

• operational policy on services for older people.

Facilitating collaboration and co-ordination within and across sectors: leading strategic 
policy issues that span the whole or part of the health sector, in particular on sector funding, 
therapeutics, and the health and disability support workforce.

Statutory committees and ministerial support:

• administrative and advisory services to some statutory and advisory committees where parallel 
advice is sourced from this output expense

• logistical and administrative support for international fellowships, international visits, and 
relationship management with international organisations

• New Zealand’s international engagements for the health and disability sector.

This output expense also oversees the implementation of the following Ministry priorities:

• developing health infrastructure (workforce)

• Health of Older People Strategy

• getting ahead of the chronic disease burden.

5.�0.2 2006/07 highlights
• High-quality analysis and support were provided for the introduction and consideration by 

select committee of the Therapeutic Products and Medicines Bill and Human Tissue Bill (the 
latter in conjunction with consideration of a private member’s Bill in the name of Jacqui Blue).

• New Zealand hosted a very successful 57th session of the World Health Organization (WHO) 
Western Pacific Regional Committee, in Auckland in September 2006.

• New Zealand was elected on to the WHO Executive Board for the term 24 May 2007 to  
May 2010.
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• The evaluations of ASPIRE (Assessment of Services Promoting Independence and Recovery in 
Elders) and InterRAI (a new assessment tool) were completed, and advice on the next steps was 
provided to the Minister.

• The 2007 Budget included a major initiative for improving employee conditions for workers in 
aged care and disability support services.  

5.�0.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

All advice and briefings will meet the standards set out in the Statement of 
Objectives.

Achieved. 

Quantity 

Advice will be provided as agreed between the Minister and Ministry. Achieved. 

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes as agreed between the Minister and Ministry will 
be met.

Achieved.
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5.�0.4 Statutory committees and ministerial support

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality

The administration of statutory and ministerial 
committee meetings will be provided in 
accordance with the committees’ annual work 
plans.

Achieved. 

Quantity 

Secretariat support will be provided for the:

• National Health Committee

• Public Health Advisory Committee

• Health Workforce Advisory Committee

• seven health and disability ethics committees 

• National Ethics Advisory Committee

• Advisory Committee on Assisted Reproductive 
Technology

• Ethics Committee on Assisted Reproductive 
Technology.

Support for international fellowships, 
international visits, and relationship 
management with international organisations 
will be provided as agreed between the Minister 
and Ministry in the 2006/07 Output Plan.

Achieved. The Health Workforce Advisory Committee 
was disestablished by the Minister. The Workforce 
Taskforce has been established and completed its first 
task on 30 March 2007 (on schedule).

National Health Committee and Public Health Advisory 
Committee meetings have been held and secretariat 
support provided.

Secretariat support for the Advisory Committee on 
Assisted Reproductive Technology was increased to 
support the committee’s high statutorily imposed 
workload for the year.

The agreed International work programme is on track. 
Highlights included briefing support for the Minister’s 
attendance at the APEC Health Ministers’ Conference, 
6–8 June 2007, in Sydney, and preparations for his 
attendance at the Regional Committee Meeting for the 
WHO Western Pacific Region, 10–14 September, in 
South Korea.

Timeliness

All milestones and timeframes as agreed 
between the statutory and ministerial 
committees and the Ministry in annual work 
plans will be met.

Achieved.
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5.�0.5  Developing health infrastructure (workforce)

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

A  process for review of the Health Practitioners 
Competence Assurance Act (2003) will be 
developed by 30 June 2007.

The Health Workforce Advisory Committee 
(HWAC) will be supported in its role, while 
noting that the work programme is determined 
by agreement between the Minister and  
the Committee.

A process for engaging the education  
sector on strategies to meet the education 
and training needs of the Health and Disability 
sector workforce will be developed, by  
31 December 2006.

Achieved. A process with draft terms of reference was 
completed and distributed for sector consultation.

Achieved. HWAC was disestablished in September 
2006. Final reports were published. The Minister 
established the Workforce Taskforce, and this was 
supported in its  
first task.

Achieved. A process of engagement was agreed to 
timeline, with regular meetings between TEC, the 
Ministry and DHBs. 
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5.�0.6  Health of Older People Strategy

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

• Complete 2006/07 milestones 
for the implementation of 
the Health of Older People 
Information Strategic Plan.

• A progress report on the 
implementation of Ageing in 
Place initiatives by DHBs will be 
made, by 30 June 2007.

• Implement, by 30 June 2007, in 
conjunction with the Ministry of 
Social Development and DHBs, 
legislative changes to income 
and asset testing.

• Report by 30 June 2007 on 
progress on work with the 
sector to improve quality 
and safety of residential care 
services, including improving 
recruitment and retention.

• A service specification for 
specialist health services 
for older people, home-
based support services and 
assessment will be developed, 
by 30 June 2007.

• The Ministry will report back to 
Cabinet in December 2006 with 
a further update on work on 
the long-term sustainability of 
disability support services.

 A business case and implementation plan for the national health of 
older people information collection was not completed because the 
task was more complex than envisaged. A review will be carried out 
on how to proceed with information system development, and this is 
expected to be incorporated and prioritised within the context of the 
processes for the Ministry-wide National Systems Review rather than 
as a stand-alone system.

The Ministry reported to the Minister in June 2007 updating him on 
DHB progress in implementing new service developments and plans 
for progressing the Care and Support in the Community project. This 
work included extensive discussions with the sector in May and June 
on the Care and Support in the Community issues paper, which also 
summarised the findings and implications of the ASPIRE evaluations 
completed earlier in the year.

Achieved.

Achieved. The primary health of older people initiative in Budget 
2007 focused on improving recruitment and retention in the aged 
and disability sectors through improving wages. A progress report 
was provided on 30 May 2007. In the lead-up to this initiative, the 
DHBs and other funders, the Council of Trade Unions, policy officials 
from Labour and the Ministry of Health, the two Ministers’ offices and 
provider representatives have been working together to consider the 
key issues to progress in response to workforce concerns.   
A second phase of work will be undertaken in 2007/08.

Service specifications for specialist health services for older people 
were completed and await a decision to place them on the national 
service framework from the Service Framework Group. Given the 
policy work under way on new assessment services and new 
community services, service specification changes did not go ahead 
for home-based support services and assessment.  

The Ministry submitted a paper to the Social Development 
Committee, Vote Health: Sustainability of health of older people/
disability support services in December 2006. This reported updated 
the future direction for community services and short-term funding 
expectations.
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5.�0.7  Getting ahead of the chronic disease burden – long-term support  
     for chronic medical conditions

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Report back to the Minister of Health on chronic 
medical conditions boundary issues, by 
September 2006.

Achieved. A Health Report and report to Cabinet were 
provided at the end of August. Further advice on 
resolving boundary issues was provided in June 2007.

Cost

 

Actual

30/06/06

$000

 

 

 

 

 

Actual

30/06/07

$000

Main

estimates

30/06/07

$000

Supp.

estimates

30/06/07

$000

12,470 

117 

�2,587 

11,660 

�27 

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

12,682 

159 

�2,84� 

12,626 

2�5 

14,258 

131 

�4,38� 

14,389 

–

12,682 

131 

�2,8�3 

12,813 

–   
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5.�� Departmental output expense: Quarantine and 
Biosecurity

5.��.� Description
This output expense focuses on providing policy and strategic advice on quarantine and 
biosecurity health issues, including: 

• the planning and funding of public health quarantine and biosecurity services and regulatory 
activities

• the administration and enforcement of the quarantine provisions of the Health Act 1956 and the 
Biosecurity Act 1993

• ensuring public health activities are consistent with, and contribute to compliance with, the 
International Health Regulations

• pandemic planning as it relates to quarantine and border control.

This output expense also contributes towards the following activities:

• administration of regulatory activities

• border inspection and quarantine

• disease and vector surveillance

• emergency response.

5.��.2 2006/07 highlights
• Border pandemic guidelines were developed, and were exercised in the Border Working Group’s 

information-sharing exercise to enable more effective targeting of risk arrivals, and in Exercise 
Cruickshank.

• Activities relating to planning for a pandemic border response resulted in raised awareness of 
the risks of international travellers carrying communicable diseases.

• The ship sanitation regime was implemented by 15 June 2007, and New Zealand issued what 
may have been the first-ever ship sanitation control certificate on that date.

• The Ministry initiated development of a health protection programme for human health border 
environments, including compliance with IHR 2005.

• The National Saltmarsh Surveillance Programme was fully implemented, with 1420 potential 
sites identified based on aerial surveillance, public health unit records and SMS-NZB records.  

• The Southern Saltmarsh Mosquito Eradication Programme was transferred to the  
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF), and eradication at Whangaparaoa was completed 
during the year.  
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5.��.3 Policy advice

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

• Policy advice will be provided to the Minister, 
other central government agencies and the 
public health sector.

• Technical advice will be provided as required 
to the Minister, public health practitioners, 
government agencies, industry organisations 
and international agencies on quarantine and 
biosecurity health issues.

• The Ministry will participate in international 
and intersectoral initiatives to maximise 
progress in quarantine and biosecurity 
health policy and effective management of 
quarantine and biosecurity health risks.

Achieved. Policy advice was provided as required 
through briefings, items in the weekly report, and 
contribution to the briefings or Cabinet papers of other 
agencies.

Achieved. Advice was provided throughout the year, 
particularly on border health protection planning for 
pandemic responses and the implementation of the 
International Health Regulations.

Achieved. During the year health officials participated 
in the Pandemic Border Working Group, the WHO 
International Health Regulations Working Group, the 
Biosecurity Chief Executives Forum (and subordinate 
forums), and ad hoc meetings as required.

5.��.4 Administration of regulatory activities

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

• Strong leadership will be provided to the 
health sector on the surveillance, control 
and exclusion of exotic mosquitoes of public 
health significance.

• Advice will be provided on the implementation 
of the quarantine provisions of the Health 
Act 1956 and the Biosecurity Act 1993, and 
on the surveillance and control of exotic 
mosquitoes of public health significance 
in monthly circular letters to public health 
services, as required.

• Advice will be provided on the implementation 
of the International Health Regulations in 
relation to health quarantine and border 
control.

Achieved. Visits were made to all public health units 
at least once during the year to discuss issues and 
provide localised training and advice.

Achieved. Updates and advice on border health 
protection, including mosquito control, were provided 
in each monthly circular letter.

Achieved. The implementation of a ship sanitation 
programme by 15 June 2007 was achieved to ensure 
New Zealand complies with the International Health 
Regulations 2005. A health official attended the 
WHO’s IHR Transportation Group. The Cruise Vessel 
Sanitary Survey Programme commenced in October 
2006, with nearly all cruise ships being surveyed on 
first arrival in New Zealand by public health staff.



�7 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2007

5.��.5  Border inspection and quarantine

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

• Comment will be provided to MAF 
on any public health implications 
of draft import health standards, 
as required.

• Advice and support will be 
provided to public health 
services staff responding 
to interceptions of exotic 
mosquitoes of public health 
significance.

• Advice and guidance will be 
provided on potential quarantine 
and border control responses 
to communicable disease 
pandemics.

Achieved. Comment was provided as required within  
the timeframes.

Achieved. During the year 13 interceptions of exotic mosquitoes  
of public health significance were responded to, along with 
suspected interceptions (which after investigation were  
determined not to be exotic mosquitoes). Enhanced surveillance 
was conducted following the responses and did not detect any 
evidence of exotic mosquitoes. 

Achieved. Following finalisation of version 16 of the Pandemic 
Action Plan, the preparation of operational guidelines for border 
response were completed. The Border Working Group held an 
information-sharing exercise to enable more effective targeting 
of risk arrivals. A workshop was held in November 2006 to look 
at the logistics of this possibility and to clarify the roles and 
responsibilities of all the relevant agencies. The Ministry and 
public health staff participated in Exercise Cruickshank. Activities 
relating to planning for a pandemic border response have resulted 
in raised awareness of the risks of international travellers carrying 
communicable diseases, which has resulted in a pleasing increase 
in the numbers of reports of ill people arriving, allowing for a timely 
public health response.

5.��.6 Disease and vector surveillance

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Facilitate a training event for 
authorised persons and other 
public health services designated 
officers on the enforcement of 
the Biosecurity Act 1993 and 
the surveillance of fresh-water 
container-breeding mosquito 
species.

Manage the national saltmarsh 
mosquito surveillance programme.

Achieved. The National Border Health Protection Training Course 
was held during the first quarter. The Advanced Mosquito 
Surveillance Workshop was held in the second quarter.

Achieved. The saltmarsh surveillance programme was delivered to a 
high standard, with milestones achieved on time and on budget.
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5.��.7 Emergency responses

Performance measure Annual progress report

Quality, quantity and timeliness

Ensure and maintain a nationally 
distributed, 24-hour, 365-day per-
year capability to investigate and 
report on health quarantine and 
border protection issues, including 
border responses to potential 
communicable disease pandemics.

Achieved. Public health units are contracted to provide 24-hour, 
365-day per-year emergency response capability. Health officials 
ensure at least one environmental health team member is available 
at all times to provide support for public health emergency 
responses.  

Cost  Vote Biosecurity – Policy Advice

 
Actual

30/06/06
$000

 
 
 
 

 
Actual

30/06/07
$000

Main
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07

$000

 1,713

5   

�,7�8   

1,713   

5   

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

–

– 

– 

– 

– 

1,698   

–   

   �,6�8   

1,698      

�,6�8   

–   

–   

–   

–   

–      

Cost  Policy Advice and Facilitation

 
Actual

30/06/06
$000

 
 
 
 

 
Actual

30/06/07
$000

Main
estimates
30/06/07

$000

Supp.
estimates
30/06/07

$000

–			

–

–   

–			

–

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

1,698	

3	

�,70� 

1,588	

��3 

–   

–

–   

–

–   

1,698 

–   

�,6�8 

1,698 

–
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Cost  Specific Pest Disease and Response

 

Actual

30/06/06

$000

 

 

 

 

 

Actual

30/06/07

$000

Main

estimates

30/06/07

$000

Supp.

estimates

30/06/07

$000

7,004 

–   

7,004 

7,056 

(52)

Crown Revenue

Third Party Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Expenditure

net surplus

–   

–

–   

–

–   

1,149 

–   

�,�4� 

1,149 

–

–   

–

–   

–

–   
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Section 6

6.� Statement of Responsibility
In terms of section 45C of the Public Finance Act 1989, I am responsible, as Director-General 
of Health, for the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements and statement of service 
performance, and for the judgments made in them.

I have the responsibility of establishing and maintaining, and I have established and maintained, 
a system of internal control procedures that provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of financial reporting.

In my opinion, these financial statements and statment of service performance fairly reflect the 
financial position and operations of the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2007.

Stephen McKernan
Director-General of Health
28 September 2007

Countersigned by:

Paul D Helm
Chief Financial Officer
28 September 2007
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6.2 Audit Report to the readers of the Ministry of Health’s 
Financial Statements and Performance Information 
for the year ended 30 June 2007 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Ministry of Health (the Ministry). The Auditor-General 
has appointed me, Stephen Lucy, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry 
out the audit on his behalf. The audit covers the financial statements and statement of service 
performance and schedules of non-departmental activities included in the annual report of the 
Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2007. 

unqualified opinion
In our opinion:

•	The financial statements of the Ministry on pages 104 to 126:

– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

– fairly reflect:

– the Ministry’s financial position as at 30 June 2007; and

– the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

•	The statement of service performance of the Ministry on pages 23 to 99:

– complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

– fairly reflects for each class of outputs:

– its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards 
outlined in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the 
financial year; and

– its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast 
revenues and output expenses outlined in the statement of forecast service performance 
adopted at the start of the financial year. 

•	The schedules of non-departmental activities on pages 127 to 137 fairly reflect the assets, 
liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the 
Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2007. 

The audit was completed on 28 September 2007, and is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Director-General of Health and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements and statement of 
service performance did not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would 
affect a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have 
referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. We assessed the results of those procedures in 
forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

• determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be 
relied on to produce complete and accurate data;

• verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

• performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

• reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Director-General of Health;

• confirming year-end balances;

• determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

• determining whether all financial statement and statement of service performance disclosures 
are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial 
statements or statement of service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements 
and statement of service performance. We obtained all the information and explanations we 
required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Director-General of Health and the Auditor
The Director-General of Health is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement 
of service performance in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2007 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. The statement 
of service performance must fairly reflect, for each class of outputs, the Ministry’s standards of 
delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, as compared with the 
forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the financial year. In addition, 
the schedules of non-departmental activities must fairly reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, 
expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the Ministry on behalf of the 
Crown for the year ended 30 June 2007. The Director-General of Health’s responsibilities arise from 
sections 45A, 45B and 45(1)(f) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
statement of service performance and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from 
section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 45D(2) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 
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Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Ministry.

S B Lucy
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements
This audit report relates to the financial statements of the Ministry of Health (the Ministry) 
for the year ended 30 June 2007 included on the Ministry’s website. The Director-General  
of Health is responsible for the  maintenance and integrity of the Ministry’s website. We 
have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Ministry’s website. We accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they 
were initially presented on the website. 

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited 
financial statements and related audit report dated 28 September 2007 to confirm the 
information included in the audited financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Section 7: Financial Statements

7.� Introduction to the financial reports
The Ministry receives funding from Parliament for its own operations which is included in 
its departmental appropriations. The Ministry also receives and manages significant other 
appropriations to administer on behalf of the Crown to fund third party service providers including 
District Health Boards and Non-Government Organisations.  Some of this funding is for operational 
purposes and other funds are for capital.  All the funding appropriated by Parliament and 
administered by the Ministry is known collectively as Vote Health.

Whilst the funding for Vote Health is appropriated on an annual basis, the Government also 
provides indicative funding in the out years to give the health and disability sector stability and 
the ability to forward plan the provision of health and disability services for the New Zealand 
population. The Government has also agreed that the Minister of Health, as Vote Minister, 
has flexibility to manage pressures and risks in Vote Health funding over time.  As part of this 
arrangement, Vote Health is able to seek Cabinet approval on the re-appropriation of unspent 
funds from the previous year. A major component of the additional health funding received each 
year is for inflation and demographic changes to the New Zealand population.

A similar arrangement exists for the capital funding received for Vote Health. A four year capital 
envelope provides a longer time horizon to prioritise and fund capital projects, and is particularly 
suited to large-scale projects such as those recently completed or being undertaken at a number 
of District Health Boards. With such projects, the certainty of ongoing funding is of considerable 
benefit to the health and disability sector.

Funding of the sector continues to undergo change with the ongoing devolution of funding to 
District Health Boards. Significant additional funding developed during 2006/07 included funding 
transferred to District Health Boards for the implementation and roll-out of the Primary Health Care 
Strategy.

With these changes, the funding directly controlled by the Ministry continues to reduce in 
percentage terms, as shown in the following diagrams.
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Figure 7.�:   2006/07 departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure 

Note: Total actual expenditure $184.737 million.   

Figure 7.2:    Comparable data for 2005/06 departmental operational appropriations  
– actual expenditure

Note: Total actual expenditure $177.277 million.   
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Figure 7.3:     2006/07 non-departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure

Public Health Service Purchasing
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Other Non-Department
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Note: Total actual expenditure $9.978 billion.

Figure 7.4:     Comparable data for 2005/06 non-departmental operational appropriations  
– actual expenditure
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�07  Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2007 

7.2 Statement of accounting policies for the year ended  
 30 June 2007

Reporting entity
The Ministry is a government department as defined by section 2 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

These are the financial statements of the Ministry prepared pursuant to the Public Finance Act 1989.

In addition, the Ministry has reported the Crown activities and trust monies that it administers.

Measurement system
The financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis modified by the 
revaluation of certain assets.

Accounting policies
The following particular accounting policies, which materially affect the measurement of financial 
results and financial position, have been applied.

Budget figures
The Budget figures in the Statement of Financial Performance and major budget variations  
(Note 16) are those presented in the budget night estimates (main estimates).

The Supplementary Estimates figures are those Budget figures as amended by the Supplementary 
Estimates (Supp. Estimates) and any transfer made by Order in Council under section 26A of the 
Public Finance Act 1989.

Revenue
The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the Crown and for services to third 
parties. Such revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it 
relates.

Cost allocation
The Ministry has determined the cost of outputs using a cost allocation system, which is outlined 
below.

• Cost allocation policy: Direct costs are charged directly to outputs.  Indirect costs are charged to 
outputs based on cost drivers and related activity/usage information.

• Criteria for direct and indirect costs: Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output.  
Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified, in an economically feasible manner, with 
a specific output.

• Direct costs assigned to outputs: Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Depreciation 
is charged to Business Units on the basis of asset utilisation with the balance being charged 
as indirect costs.  Direct personnel costs are allocated directly to the output expenses with 
the balance being charged as indirect costs.  For the year ended 30 June 2007, direct costs 
accounted for 85 percent of the Ministry’s costs (2006: 84 percent).
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• Basis for assigning indirect and corporate costs to outputs: Indirect costs (Corporate Services) 
are allocated over the output expenses based on the proportion of full-time equivalent staff and 
contractors, and funding per output.

For the year ended 30 June 2007, indirect costs accounted for 15 percent of the Ministry’s costs 
(2006: 16 percent).

Debtors and receivables
Receivables are recorded at estimated realisable value after providing for doubtful and 
uncollectible debts.

Operating leases
Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the leased items are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease costs are recognised on a 
systematic basis over the period of the lease.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings are stated at fair value as determined by an independent registered valuer. Fair 
value is determined using market-based evidence. Land and buildings are revalued at least every 
three years. Additions to fixed assets between revaluations are recorded at cost.

The results of revaluing land and buildings are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve 
for that class of asset. Where a revaluation results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the 
debit balance will be expensed in the Statement of Financial Performance.

All other fixed assets, or groups of assets (other than IT equipment) that are material in aggregate, 
costing more than $4,000, are capitalised and recorded at cost. IT equipment costing more than 
$1,000 is capitalised and recorded at historical cost. Any write-down of an item to its recoverable 
amount is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Employee entitlements
Provision is made in respect of the Ministry’s liability for annual, long service, and retirement leave.  
Annual leave, and other entitlements that are expected to be settled within 12 months of reporting 
date, are measured at nominal values on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of pay.

Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as long service and retirement leave, have 
been calculated on an actuarial basis based on present value of expected future entitlements.
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Depreciation
Depreciation of fixed assets, other than work in progress and freehold land (which are not 
depreciated), is provided on a straight line basis so as to allocate the cost (or valuation) of assets, 
to their estimated residual value over their useful lives.

The useful lives of major classes of assets and associated depreciation rates have been estimated 
as follows:

Buildings      40 years 2.5%

Motor vehicles      5 years 20%

Furniture and fittings 5–10 years 10–20%

Machinery      5 years 20%

Leasehold improvements 5–10 years 10–20%

IT equipment   3–5 years 20–33.3%

Software   3–5 years 20–33.3%

Scientific equipment 5–10 years 10–20%

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the unexpired period of 
the lease or the estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.

Work in progress is not depreciated. The total cost of work in progress is transferred to the 
appropriate asset class upon its completion and then depreciated.

Statement of cash flows
• Cash means cash balances on hand and held in bank accounts.

• Operating activities include cash received from all income sources of the Ministry and record the 
cash payments made for the supply of goods and services.

• Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current 
assets.

• Financing activities comprise capital injections by, or repayment of capital and surplus to, the 
Crown.

Financial instruments
The Ministry is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations.  These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, debtors and creditors.  All financial instruments are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position and all revenues and expenses in relation to financial 
instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Except for those items covered by a separate accounting policy all financial instruments are shown 
at their estimated fair value.
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Goods and services tax (GST)
The Statement of departmental actual expenses and capital expenditure is exclusive of GST. The 
Statement of financial position is exclusive of GST except for Creditors and payables, and Debtors 
and receivables, which are GST inclusive.  All other Statements are GST exclusive.

The amount of GST owing to or from the Inland Revenue Department at balance date, being the 
difference between Output GST and Input GST, is included in Creditors and payables or Debtors 
and receivables (as appropriate).

Taxation
Government departments are exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of the Income Tax 
Act 2004. Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been provided.

Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into as at 
balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed 
obligations.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident.

Taxpayers’ funds
The Crown’s net investment in the Ministry is shown as taxpayers’ funds.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.

Transition to new Zealand equivalent international 
standards
The Ministry is required to commence reporting under New Zealand equivalents of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) for the financial year commencing 1 July 2007. 
Management of the transition to NZ IFRS is being overseen by the Ministry’s Audit Finance and Risk 
Committee which has already considered the likely impact of changes in accounting policies that 
will result from the adoption of NZ IFRS.  

Differences in accounting policies expected to arise from adoption of NZ IFRS are unlikely to give 
rise to a material effect on the Ministry’s financial statements, however the final impact remains 
unknown and could vary from estimates presented to date especially given that exposure drafts 
continue to be issued for revisions and additions to approved NZ IFRS.  
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7.3 Statement of financial performance  
for the year ended 30 June 2007

     Main Supp.  
 Actual   Actual estimates estimates  
30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

  Revenue
 168,810 Crown  168,417 150,393 168,417

 1,520 Department  2,752 1,770 3,200

 10,074 Other 2 14,025 8,092 13,191

 �80,404 Total operating revenue  �85,��4 �60,225 �84,808

  Expenditure
 89,728 Personnel costs 3 102,984 80,837 90,346

 69,197 Operating costs 4 63,583 61,535 74,645

 9,683 Depreciation 5 8,268 11,155 10,933

 7,224 Rentals and leasing  8,298 5,399 7,224

 1,128 Capital charge 6 1,289 1,056 1,282

 297 Audit fees  309 273 312

 – Fees to auditors for NZ IFRS transition  6 – –

  Fees to auditors for other   

 22 services provided  – – –

 (2) Bad debts expense  – – –

 �77,277 Total expenses  �84,737 �60,255 �84,742

 3,�27 net surplus  457 – 66

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.4 Statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds  
for the year ended 30 June 2007

     Main Supp.  
 Actual   Actual estimates estimates  
30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

 �4,0�� Taxpayers’ funds as at � July  �7,0�7 �7,0�8 �7,0�8

 3,127 Net surplus for the period  457 – 66

 — Increase/(decrease) in  436 – – 
  revaluation reserves    

 3,�27 Total recognised revenues and   8�3 – 66 
  expenses   

 2,998 Capital contribution  1,400 – 1,400

  Provision for repayment of surplus  
 (3,127) to the Crown  (457) – (66)

 2,��8 Movements in taxpayers’ funds  �,836 – �,400 
  for the year

 �7,0�7 Taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June 7 �8,�33 �7,0�8 �8,4�8

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.5 Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2007
     Main Supp. 
 Actual   Actual estimates estimates
 30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

  Taxpayers’ funds  
 14,733 General funds 7 16,133 14,733 16,133

 2,364 Revaluation reserve 7 2,800 2,365 2,365

 �7,0�7 Total taxpayers’ funds  �8,�33 �7,0�8 �8,4�8

  Represented by:

  Assets

  Current assets
 7,431 Cash  1,677 10,522 20,505

 454 Prepayments  540 919 454

 18,868  Debtors and receivables 8 15,275  4,798 1,116

 26,753 Total current assets  �7,4�2 �6,23� 22,075

  non-current assets
 29,889 Fixed assets � 34,503 31,752 32,907

 2�,88� Total non-current assets  34,503 3�,752 32,�07
 56,642 Total assets  5�,��5 47,��� 54,�82

  liabilities

  Current liabilities
 28,239 Creditors and payables �0 24,092 24,012 28,239

  Provision for repayment of 
 3,127 surplus to the Crown �� 457 _ 66

 6,074 Employee entitlements �2 6,779 5,861 6,074

 37,440 Total current liabilities  3�,328 2�,873 34,37�

  non-current liabilities
 2,105 Employee entitlements �2 1,734 1,020 2,105

 2,�05 Total non-current liabilities  �,734 �,020 2,�05

 3�,545 Total liabilities  33,062 30,8�3 36,484

 �7,0�7 net assets  �8,�33 �7,0�8 �8,4�8

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.6 Statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2007

     Main Supp.
 Actual   Actual estimates estimates
 30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

  Cash flows from operating activities  

  Cash was provided from:   
    Supply of outputs to:

 164,494   Crown  172,333 150,393 186,169

 1,644   Department  3,320 1,770 3,200

 12,285   Others  15,994 8,092 13,125

 1,564   Net GST received/(paid)  (1,361) – –

  Total cash provided from   
 �7�,�87 operating activities  ��0,286 �60,255 202,4�4
  Cash was disbursed to:

  Produce outputs:

 88,222   Personnel  103,734 80,295 89,728

 72,275   Operating  76,434 67,749 82,799

 1,128   Capital charge  1,289 1,056 1,282

 �6�,625 Total cash to operating activities   �8�,457 �4�,�00 �73,80�

  net cash inflow/(outflow)      
 �8,362 from operating activities �3 8,82� ��,�55 28,685

  Cash flows from investing activities

  Cash was provided from:  
 32   Sale of fixed assets  84 – 78

  Cash was disbursed to:     
  11,413   Purchase of fixed assets  12,941 12,278 13,963 
 
  net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
 (��,38�) investing activities  (�2,857) (�2,278) (�3,885)

  Cash flows from financing activities  

  Cash was provided from:

   2,998   Capital contribution  1,400 – 1,400

  Cash was disbursed to:  

    6,260   Repayment of surplus to the Crown  3,126 10,100 3,126

  net cash inflow/(outflow) from  	
 (3,262) financing activities  (�,726) (�0,�00) (�,726)
  	
 3,7�� net increase/(decrease) in cash held (5,754) (��,223) �3,074
 3,712 Add opening cash balance  7,431 21,745 7,431

 7,43� Closing cash balance  �,677 �0,522 20,505

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.



��5  Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2007 

7.7 Statement of unappropriated departmental    
expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2007

unappropriated  Actual  unappropriated 
 expenditure   expenditure Appropriation expenditure  
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 to 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

 – Information Services 62,593 61,873 720

 – DHB Funding and Performance 16,342 16,206 136

The unappropriated Information Services and DHB Funding and Performance expenditure arose 
from system modifications for, and business process changes to, the new maternity notice as 
required under Section 88 of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000.

The unappropriated expenditure has been approved under section 26B of the Public Finance  
Act 1989.

7.8 Statement of commitments as at 30 June 2007

 Actual  Actual  
 30/06/06  30/06/07   
 $000  $000  

   Operating lease Commitments 

 8,033 Less than one year 7,410

 7,239 Between one and two years 6,512

 17,061 Between two and five years 14,737

   17,829 More than five years 14,534

 50,�62 Total operating lease commitments 43,��3

 50,�62 Total commitments 43,��3

The Ministry has medium-to-long term leases on its premises in Auckland, Christchurch, Dunedin, 
Hamilton and Wellington. The annual lease payments are subject to regular reviews ranging from 
one year to four years. The amounts disclosed above as future commitments are based on the 
current rental rates.

The Ministry has entered into non-cancellable contracts for computer maintenance, building 
services and other contacts for services. These non-cancellable contracts totalled $0.437 million 
as at 30 June 2007 (2006: $0.640 million).

7.� Statement of contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2007

The Ministry had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2007 (2006: Nil).

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.�0   Memorandum accounts  
  for the year ended 30 June 2007

�. national Radiation laboratory

   Balance   Balance 
    as at   as at  
   �/07/06 Expenses Revenue 30/06/07 
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Licensing fees   218 402 745 561

Total   2�8 402 745 56�

licensing fees
A memorandum account was established on 1 July 1998 for National Radiation Laboratory 
licensing activities required by the Radiation Protection Act 1965.

2. Problem gambling

Since October 2004 the Ministry has, in accordance with the Gambling Act 2003, received 
an appropriation for problem gambling that over time is intended to be fully funded from the 
levies collected from the industry on behalf of the Crown by the Inland Revenue Department. 
The following table shows a comparison between the Ministry’s appropriation for, and actual 
expenditure on, initiatives in relation to problem gambling and the levies collected to date.

     levies 
     Collected 
   Appropriation^† Expenditure* (IRD) 
   $000 $000 $000
Transition costs prior to introduction of levy strategy – 1,291 

Prior years non-departmental amount 27,122 25,846 

Prior years departmental amount 1,396 1,272 

Total to 30 June 2006 28,5�8 28,40� 23,536

2006/07 year non-departmental amount 19,824 17,210 

2006/07 year departmental amount 698 1,078 

Total for 2006/07  20,522 �8,288 �4,�84

Total to 30 June 2007 4�,040 46,6�7 38,520

^ Accumulated appropriation figures exclude output expense amounts carried forward to the following year.

† Accumulated appropriation figures for each year include $357,333 per year from within the Public Health departmental appropriation 
and $349,444 from within the Mental Health departmental appropriation.

* Actual figures for 2004/05 were previously reported as GST inclusive within the memorandum accounts of that year.

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.�� Statement of departmental actual expenses and   
capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2007

 
 Actual   Voted^ 
 expenditure  Remeasurement† Adjusted˜ appropriation 
 30/06/07 Adjustment expendiuture 30/06/07 
 $000 $000 $000 $000

Vote Health 
Appropriations for classes of outputs

Sector Policy 12,626 – 12,626 12,813

DHB Funding and Performance 16,342 – 16,342 16,206

Ministerial Support Services 3,007 – 3,007 3,139

Māori Health 3,857 – 3,857 3,887

Public Health 42,821 (436) 42,385 42,463

Disability Services 10,119 – 10,119 10,171

Mental Health 7,889 – 7,889 7,892

Clinical Services 13,416 – 13,416 13,635

Management of National Screening  
Programmes 9,354 – 9,354 9,804

Quarantine and Biosecurity  
Policy Advice 1,588 – 1,588 1,698

(Expenses restricted by revenue)*  

Information services* 63,718 – 63,718 63,034

Total Vote Health �84,737 (436) �84,30� �84,742

† This adjustment relates to the exclusion of the ‘remeasurement’ of an asset or liability from the scope of output expenses incurred 
within an appropriation under section 4(2)(a) of the Public Finance Act 1989.

˜ Actual expenditure in both DHB Funding and Performance, and Information Services exceeded their appropriations.  Under section 
26B of the Public Finance Act 1989 the Ministry can incur expenditure in excess of appropriation by up to 2% of the individual 
appropriation providing the spending remained within the scope of the appropriation. Approval by the Ministers of Health and 
Finance has been granted under section 26B.

^ These amounts include adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates. 

* These are expenses incurred pursuant to section 21 of the Public Finance Act 1989, whereby costs may be incurred up to the amount 
of revenue expected to be earned by that class of outputs from parties other than the Crown. 

The accounting policies on pages 107 to 110 and notes set out on pages 118 to 126 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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7.�2 notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2007

note �: Budget composition

 Main Supp. Supp. 
 estimates estimates estimates 
   changes  
 30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000 $000 $000

Revenue   
Crown 150,393 18,024 168,417

Department 1,770 1,430 3,200

Other 8,092 5,099 13,191

Total revenue �60,255 24,553 �84,808

Expenditure   
Personnel costs 80,837 9,509 90,346

Operating costs+ 67,207 14,974 82,181

Depreciation 11,155 (222) 10,933

Capital charge 1,056 226 1,282

Total expenses �60,255 24,487 �84,742

net surplus – 66 66

+  Operating costs include audit fees, rental and leasing, bad debts, asset write-offs and other operating expenses – Note 4.

note 2: Other revenue

    Main Supp. 
 Actual  Actual estimates estimates 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

 3,937 Medicines registration 7,048 3,086 5,007

 4,212 Service fees 4,719 4,072 6,604

 1,602 Annual licence and registration fees 1,766 920 1,492

 7 Gain on sale of fixed assets 66 – 66

 316 Other 426 14 22

 �0,074 Total other revenue �4,025 8,0�2 �3,���
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note 3: Personnel

    Main Supp. 
 Actual  Actual estimates estimates 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

 81,584 Salaries and wages 95,798 76,210 85,172

 1,763 Staff training 1,544 2,105 2,353

 1,914 Superannuation 2,223 1,499 1,676

 577 ACC 617 446 499

 1,694 Recruitment 2,495 344 385

 2,196 Other 307 233 261

 8�,728 Total personnel costs �02,�84 80,837 �0,346

note 4: Operating costs

    Main Supp. 
 Actual  Actual estimates estimates 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

 8,755 Travel 8,972 6,903 8,375

 6,420 Communication 6,444 4,778 5,796

 839 Maintenance and consumables 593 512 621

 5,472 Consultancy services 7,692 12,094 14,671

 16,788 Contractors 13,963 8,540 10,359

 8,673 Computer services 6,144 7,015 8,509

 14,068 Professional and specialists fees 11,172 12,802 15,529

 1,462 Occupancy costs 733 1,239 1,503

 205 Asset write-offs 831 – –

 6,515 Other operating costs 6,592 7,652 9,282

 – Foreign Exchange Loss 11 – –

 – Revaluation Loss on Property 436 – –

 6�,��7 Total operating costs 63,583 6�,535 74,645
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note 5: Depreciation

    Main Supp. 
 Actual  Actual estimates estimates 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

 8,522 IT equipment and software 6,957 9,831 9,386

 292 Furniture and fittings 389 423 403

 579 Leasehold improvements 685 612 817

 15 Machinery 18 – –

 73 Motor vehicles 58 63 73

 202 Scientific equipment 161 226 254

 �,683 Total depreciation 8,268 ��,�55 �0,�33

note 6: Capital charge

The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and  
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for this financial year was 7.5 percent  
(2006: 8.0 percent).

note 7: Taxpayers’ funds

Taxpayers’ funds comprises two components: general funds and revaluation reserve.

    Main Supp. 
 Actual  Actual estimates estimates 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  $000 $000 $000

  General funds
 11,735 General funds as at 1 July 14,733 14,733 14,733

 3,127 Net surplus 457 _ 66

 2,998 Capital contribution 1,400 – 1,400

 �7,860  �6,5�0 �4,733 �6,���
  Provision for repayment of   
 (3,127) surplus to Crown (457) _ (66)

 – Repayment of capital – – –

 �4,733 General funds as at 30 June �6,�33 �4,733 �6,�33

  Revaluation reserve  
  (land and buildings)

 2,364 Balance brought forward 2,364 2,365 2,365

  Revaluation changes at 30 June 436 – –

 2,364 Revaluation reserve as at 30 June 2,800 2,365 2,365
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note 8: Debtors and receivables

 Actual  Actual 
  30/06/06  30/06/07 
  $000  $000

   459 Debtors – other 526

 17 Debtors – departmental 605

 122 Accrued revenue  – departments –

 518 Accrued revenue  – other 308

 – Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts –

 17,752 Debtor Crown 13,836

 �8,868 Total debtors and receivables �5,275

note �: Fixed assets

 Actual  Actual   
 30/06/06  30/06/07  
 $000  $000

  land 

 4,000 At valuation 4,000               

 4,000 Land – net carrying value 4,000

  Buildings
 – At valuation –

        – Accumulated depreciation –     

       – Buildings – net carrying value –

  IT equipment hardware 

   37,379 At cost 33,361 

  (30,647) Accumulated depreciation (29,435)

     6,732  IT equipment hardware – net carrying value 3,926   

  IT equipment software 
   21,412 At cost 25,113 

  (14,503) Accumulated depreciation (17,084)

     6,909  IT equipment software – net carrying value 8,029

  Furniture and fittings 
     6,096 At cost 4,501      

    (3,367) Accumulated depreciation (1,570)

      2,729 Furniture and fittings – net carrying value 2,931   

  leasehold improvements   
  12,710 At cost 7,364

    (8,923) Accumulated depreciation (2,939)

 3,787 Leasehold improvements – net carrying value 4,425

Continues next page ...
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 Actual  Actual   
 30/06/06  30/06/07  
 $000  $000

  Machinery 

 837 At cost 870

       (828) Accumulated depreciation (830)

  9  Machinery – net carrying value 40   

  Motor vehicles 
    520  At cost 446

       (325) Accumulated depreciation (325)

  195 Motor vehicles – net carrying value 121

  Scientific equipment 
    2,233  At cost 2,394

       (1,906) Accumulated depreciation (2,022)

  327 Scientific equipment – net carrying value 372

  Work in progress 
 24 Furniture and fittings 26

 697 IT equipment hardware 8,104

 4,169 IT equipment software 2,529

 300 Leasehold improvements –

 11 Machinery –

 5,201 Work in progress – net carrying value 10,659

  Total fixed assets
   4,000 At valuation 4,000

 86,388 At cost 84,708

 (60,499) Accumulated depreciation (54,205)

 2�,88� Total carrying value of fixed assets 34,503

Land and buildings have been revalued at fair value on 15 June 2005 by an independent registered 
valuer, W Blake ANZIV/SNZPI of Simes Limited.

The valuation was based on the following assumptions.

• The property is owner occupied, however, a short term commercial based lease exists.

• The market value of land was determined by sales of similar vacant commercially zoned 
parcels of land.  
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note �0: Creditors and payables

 Actual  Actual 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 
  $000  $000

  Current liabilities
 1,964 Creditor – intercompany 1,976

 3 Payables and provisions – departments 61

 1,160 Payables and provisions – other 4,929

 113 Accrued expenses – departments –

 19,763 Accrued expenses – other 10,592

 3,550 Creditors – GST payable 2,189

 267 Creditors for fixed assets _

 1,419   Income in advance 4,345

     28,23� Total creditors and payables 24,0�2 

 
note ��: Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown

 Actual  Actual 
  30/06/06  30/06/07 
  $000  $000

 3,127 Net surplus 457

 3,�27 Total provision for repayment of surplus 457

note �2: Employee entitlements

 Actual  Actual 
  30/06/06  30/06/07 
  $000  $000

  Current liabilities
 4,646 Annual leave 5,034

 1,428 Accrued salaries  1,745

 6,074 Total current portion 6,77�

  non-current liabilities 
 2,105 Retirement and long service leave  1,734

 2,�05 Total non-current portion �,734

 8,�7� Total employee entitlements 8,5�3
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note �3:  Reconciliation of the net surplus to the net cash from operating  
 activities for the year ended 30 June 2007

     Main Supp.
 Actual   Actual estimates estimates
 30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 3,�27 net surplus  457 – 66

  Add/(less) non-cash items:  
 9,683   Depreciation  8,268 11,155 10,933

 –   Other non-cash items  436 – –

 �,683 Total non-cash items  8,704 ��,�55 �0,�33	

  Add/(less) movements in                                                     
  working capital items:
 2,154   (Inc)/dec in debtors and receivables (321) – –

 (4,316)   (Inc)/dec in debtor Crown  3,916 – 17,752

 465   (Inc)/dec in prepayments  (86) – –

 317   Inc/(dec) in creditors and payables  1,884 – –

 –   Inc/(dec) in provision for restructuring 450 – –

 1,298   Inc/(dec) in current employee entitlements 333 – –

 1,564   Inc/(dec) in GST paid/(received)  (1,361) – –

 3,685   Inc/(dec) in accrued liabilities  (8,045) – –

 394   Inc/(dec) in deferred liabilities  2,964 – –

  5,56� Working capital movements – net  (266) – �7,752

  Add/(less) investing activities items:
     (7)  Net loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets (66) – (66)

 (2) Other items   – –

 (�) Total investing activity items  (66) – (66)

 �8,362  net cash flow from operating activities 8,82� ��,�55 28,685
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note �4: Financial instruments

The Ministry is party to financial instrument arrangements as part of its everyday operations. These 
include instruments such as bank balances, investments, accounts receivable and trade creditors.

Credit risk.  Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, 
causing the Ministry to incur a loss. In the normal course of business, the Ministry incurs risk from 
bank balances and accounts receivable. Bank balances are held with Westpac in accordance with 
Treasury policy.  A provision for doubtful debts is maintained in respect of accounts receivable, 
and this is reassessed on a regular basis.  The Ministry, in respect of bank balances and short term 
investments, holds no collateral as the entities dealt with have high credit ratings.  There are no 
significant concentrations of credit risk for other financial instruments.

Fair value.  The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying value disclosed in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Currency risk and interest rate risk.  The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk or 
currency risk on its financial instruments. 

Credit facilities.  The Ministry did not have bank overdraft facilities as at 30 June 2007.

note �5: Related party transactions

The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown.  The Government significantly influences the 
roles of the Ministry as well as being its major source of revenue.

The Ministry enters into numerous transactions with other government departments and Crown 
agencies including District Health Boards on an arm’s length basis.  Neither these transactions nor 
any other transactions of the Ministry are considered to be related party transactions.
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note �6: Major budget variations

 Main Supp.  Main vs
 estimates estimates Actual actual
 30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07
 $000 $000 $000 $000

Statement of financial performance   

Personnel costs (a) 80,837 90,346 102,984 22,147

Operating costs (b) 61,535 74,645 63,583 2,048

Statement of financial position    

Cash (c) 10,522 20,505 1,677 (8,845)

Debtors and receivables  (d) 4,798 1,116 15,275 10,477

Statement of cash flows
Cash was provided from:

  Crown (e) 150,393 186,169 172,333 21,940   
  Others (f) 8,092 13,125 15,994 7,902

Statement of financial performance

(a) Personnel costs increased due to both higher staff numbers and increases in remuneration and 
associated leave entitlements. The increases were required to implement initiatives approved 
in Budget 2006, while reducing contracting staff.

(b) Although the expectation that much of the work on the additional initiatives would be 
conducted by contractors, and consultants, most was instead covered by increases in 
permanent and temporary staff.

Statement of financial position

(c) The decrease in cash is primarily related to how close overall expenditure for the year was to 
budget, and a reduction in the level of creditors and payables.

(d) The apparent increase in debtors and receivables is primarily related to the extent that Crown 
revenue was not drawn down at 30 June. Debtors and receivables have reduced in comparison 
to 2005/06.

Statement of cash flows

(e) This increase relates to additional Crown revenue being drawn down to cover expenditure 
requirements that were close to full appropriation.

(f) This increase relates to additional third party revenue received; in particular through Medsafe 
and the National Radiation Laboratory.



�27  Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2007 

7.�3 Statement of trust monies  
for the year ended 30 June 2007

	 	 	 	
 Balance      Balance  
 as at     as at  
 0�/07/06     30/06/07 
Account $000 Contribution Distribution Revenue Expenses $000

Medicines Review   
Objectors Deposit 
Trust Account * – – – – – – 

District Health  
Boards Deposit 
Trust Account ^ 300 4,332,794 4,332,514 – 497 83 

 300 4,332,7�4 4,332,5�4 – 4�7 83 

*   This trust account was set up to hold deposits made by those new medicines applications that have been rejected by the Medicines 
Assessment Advisory Committee (MAAC). Deposits are made when they request the Medicines Review Committee to consider their 
objections to recommendations made by MAAC. Once the Medicines Review Committee completes its review, these deposits are 
refunded to depositors subject to the deduction of any costs ordered by the Committee.  The current balance remains under $500. 

^   This trust account was set up to hold funds received from District Health Boards for the delivery of processing services and 
disbursements.
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7.�4 Statement of accounting policies for  
non-departmental statements and schedules

Reporting entity
The Non-departmental Schedules for the Crown: Vote Health and Vote Biosecurity – Health have 
been prepared by the Ministry and present the public funds managed by the Ministry that are not 
incorporated in its financial statements.

The Ministry is responsible for an effective and efficient management of revenue, expenditure, 
assets and liabilities on behalf of the Crown. These have been produced pursuant to the Public 
Finance Act 1989.

Measurement system
The non-departmental schedules have been prepared on an historical cost basis modified by the 
revaluation of certain assets.

Revenue and receipts
Revenue from ACC recoveries and capital charges from District Health Boards is recognised when 
earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates.

Debtors and receivables
Receivables from ACC recoveries are recorded at the value of the contract with ACC.  Receivables 
from capital charges are recorded at estimated realisable value.

Residential care loans
Residential care loans are recorded at the cost to providers of residential care.

Payables and provisions
Payables and provisions are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay.

Accrued expenses
These are recorded at either the value of funding entitlements owing under Crown Funding 
Agreements or the estimated value of contracts already started but not yet been completed.

Financial instruments
The Crown, Vote Health, and Vote Biosecurity – Health are party to financial instruments as 
part of their normal operations. These financial instruments include bank accounts, short term 
deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of non-
departmental assets and non-departmental liabilities and all revenues and expenses in relation 
to financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of non-departmental revenue and non-
departmental expenses. 
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Goods and services tax (GST)
Apart from the usual inclusion of GST within accounts receivable and accounts payable all other 
figures within the other non-departmental statements and schedules are stated exclusive of GST. 

Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into as at 
balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed 
obligations.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies since the date of the last audited financial 
statements. All policies have been applied on a basis consistent with last year.
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7.�5 Schedule of non-departmental actual expenses and  
capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2007

The Schedule of expenditure and appropriations details expenditure and capital payments incurred 
against appropriations. The Ministry administers these appropriations on behalf of the Crown.  

    Actual    Actual Appropriation 
 expenditure    expenditure voted 
 30/06/06    30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000   note $000 $000

  Vote Health:    

   Health and disability support services for  
  District Health Boards (DHBs): 

 309,847 Northland DHB   332,175 332,758

 750,912 Waitemata DHB   841,754 841,754

 716,301 Auckland DHB   796,126 808,100

 724,655 Counties Manukau DHB   799,410 799,410

 593,660 Waikato DHB   646,792 661,792

 199,470 Lakes DHB   208,093 208,093

 380,636 Bay of Plenty DHB   417,799 417,799

 96,365 Tairawhiti DHB   103,625 103,625

 213,939 Taranaki DHB   224,352 224,352

 290,586 Hawke’s Bay DHB   314,470 314,470

 136,014 Whanganui DHB   145,386 145,386

 299,428 MidCentral DHB   329,110 329,110

 235,376 Hutt Valley DHB    255,901 255,901

 424,535 Capital and Coast DHB   478,106 478,106

 81,588 Wairarapa DHB   88,616 88,616

 246,023 Nelson-Marlborough DHB   275,079 275,079

 82,921 West Coast DHB   90,215 90,215

 843,617 Canterbury DHB    920,154 920,154

 108,664 South Canterbury DHB   116,589 116,589

 352,085 Otago DHB   378,444 378,444

 190,208 Southland DHB   212,137 212,137

   Total health and disability support  
 7,276,830 services for DHBs   7,�74,333 8,00�,8�0

 699,351  Disability support services – national  755,028  755,908

 288,503  Public health services purchasing �  312,059 328,795

   Management of residual health liabilities    
 806 and Crown Health  Enterprise debt  1,674 1,674 
 449,886 National services  2 517,366 539,681

 331  National advisory and support services   320 340

The accompanying accounting policies on pages 128 to 129 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Continues next page ...
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   Monitoring and protecting health  
 12,245  and disability consumer interests  12,626 12,991

 52,017 Meningococcal vaccine    7,533 7,730

 87,378 Health services funding  3  55,318 116,605

 15,460 Problem gambling  4 17,210 20,324

  Scientific advice to support pest mangement 
 _ strategies as they affect Public Health  49 53

  Total appropriations for  
 8,882,807 non-departmental output classes  �,653,5�6 �,785,���

  Other expenses to be incurred  
  by the Crown   
 13 Australian Kidney Foundation   15 15

 2,225  International health organisations  2,226 2,230

 31,781 Legal expenses  5 3,455 10,287

 14,269 Provider development   13,651 13,889

   Total appropriations for other expenses  
 48,288 to be incurred by the Crown   ��,347 26,42�

   Capital contributions to other persons  
  or organisations  

 40,500 Deficit support for DHBs   6 2,400 38,000

 19,018  Equity for capital projects for DHBs  7 17,996 42,984

 11,897 Health sector projects  8 17,412 21,177

 85,845 New lending to DHBs   � 145,600 181,047

 93,500  Refinancing of DHB private debt �0 – –

 13,762 Residential care loans   �� 10,430 20,000

  Rollover of Crown Health Funding     
 194,845 Authority loans   92,253 92,253

  Total appropriations for capital  
   contributions to other persons or  
 45�,367 organisations   286,0�� 3�5,46�

 21,431 Response to significant health  
  emergencies   �2 19,157 20,230

  Total appropriations for purchase or 
 2�,43� development of capital assets by Crown   ��,�57 20,230

 �,4��,8�3 Total appropriations for  Vote Health  �,�78,��� �0,228,�03

  Vote Biosecurity     
   Scientific advice to support pest management 
 44 strategies as they  affect public health   

 44 Total appropriations for   Vote Biosecurity  – –

 �,4��,�37 Total appropriations   �,�78,��� �0,228,�03

The accompanying accounting policies on pages 128 to 129 are an integral part of these financial statements.

    Actual    Actual Appropriation 
 expenditure    expenditure voted 
 30/06/06    30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000   note $000 $000
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The accompanying accounting policies on pages 128 to 129 are an integral part of these financial statements.

7.�6 Schedule of non-departmental revenue  
for the year ended 30 June 2007 

Non-departmental revenues are administered by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown. As these 
revenues are not established by the Ministry nor earned in the production of the Ministry’s 
outputs, they are not reported in the Ministry’s financial statements. 

 Actual    Actual Supp. 
 revenue    revenue estimates 
 30/06/06    30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000   note $000 $000

  Current revenue 

  Reimbursement from the ACC+

  ACC – Reimbursement of  
 1,397 complex burns costs   6,275  6,300

   ACC – Reimbursement of work-related  
 19,577 public hospital costs   20,288  19,662

   ACC – Reimbursement of non-earners’  
 181,745  account   190,892 185,180

   ACC – Reimbursement of earners’  
 58,926  non-work-related public hospital costs  60,967  56,358

   ACC – Reimbursement of motor  
 46,608  vehicle-related public hospital costs  47,704  46,687

 1,613 Medical misadventure   2,588 1,716

 2,864 Self employed work accidents   4,278 5,368

 3�2,730 Total ACC reimbursements   332,��2 32�,27�

 109,137  Payment of capital charge by DHBs  �3 137,572  199,709

 (22,533) Net surplus/(deficit) from DHBs *  9,661 (10,200)

 2,125  Other Crown entities surplus/(deficits)^  114 –

 390 Crown health funding agency rental  524 278

 –  Crown health funding agency interest  – –

 109 Miscellaneous   61  –

 40�,�58 Total current revenue    480,�24 5��,058

  Capital receipts
 14,823  Repayment of residential care loans   12,780  24,000

 22,002  Repayment of DHB debt   48,999 49,445

 36,825 Total capital receipts   6�,77� 73,445

 438,783  Total Crown revenue and receipts  542,703 584,503

+   Accident Compensation Corporation.

*   Based on District Health Boards’ unaudited financial statements.

^ Based on unaudited financial statements of the other Crown entities.
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The accompanying accounting policies on pages 128 to 129 are an integral part of these financial statements.

7.�7 Schedule of non-departmental assets  
as at 30 June 2007

 Actual   Actual Main Supp. 
 assets   assets estimates estimates 
 30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07 
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

  Current assets
 74,535 Cash �4 36,606 71,665 92,019

 30,748 Inventory �5  46,167 49,058 50,978

  Debtors:

 20,982   District Health Boards �6 51,845 194,041 48,214

 74,211   ACC �7  160,588 – –

 1,964   Intercompany Debtors  1,976 – –

 3,540   Others  1,550 – –

 960 Prepayments �8 2,843 – –

  non-current assets  
  Advances:

 70,811   Residential Care Loans �� 66,594 76,700 70,811

  Other Advances  7,220 – –

  Investment:

 2,631   Leasehold Land  2,631 – 2,631

 280,382 Total assets  378,020 3��,464 264,653

7.�8 Schedule of non-departmental liabilities  
as at 30 June 2007

 Actual   Actual Main Supp. 
 liabilities   liabilities estimates estimates 
 30/06/06   30/06/07 30/06/07 30/06/07
 $000  note $000 $000 $000

  Current liabilities
  Payables:

 8,977   District Health Boards  4,940 8,957 8,977

 –   Other Crown entities   – –  –

 –   Other payables  – 2,094  –

  Accrued liabilites and provisions:
 151,262   District Health Boards 20 234,795 379,706 151,263

 1,195    Other Crown entities  1,090 – 1,195

 202,584   Other accrued liabilities  182,312 –  202,584

 364,0�8 Total liabilities  423,�37 3�0,757 364,0��
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The accompanying accounting policies on pages 128 to 129 are an integral part of these financial statements.

7.�� Statement of non-departmental commitments  
as at 30 June 2007

The Crown has the following capital and operating commitments for the supply of goods and 
services.

 Actual  Actual 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 
 $000  $000

  Capital commitments
 262,500 Less than one year 330,040

 131,000 Between one and two years 176,600

 186,700 Between two and five years 124,100

 – More than five years –

  Operating commitments
 8,250,988 Less than one year 9,199,802

 238,680 Between one and two years 281,808

 82,410 Between two and five years 53,032

 1,965 More than five years 3,909

 �,�54,243 Total commitments �0,�6�,2��

7.20 Statement of non-departmental contingent liabilities  
as at 30 June 2007

 Actual  Actual 
 30/06/06  30/06/07 
 $000  $000

 90,719 Legal proceedings and disputes  71,404

 �0,7�� Total contingent liabilities 7�,404
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7.2� notes to the non-departmental schedules

note �: Public health service purchasing
This was under spent due to a combination of delays in establishing, and failure to achieve 
targeted volumes on, a number of contracts. 

note 2: national services
The under spend largely represents the amount of $14.3 million allocated to funding for the 
change to the Income and Assets Testing regime to DHBs. Funding provided later proved to be 
greater than the actual costs.  

Other items contributing to the under spend were slow development of the Mental Health ‘Blue 
Print’ strategy causing delays in establishing some full year contracts ($2.1 million), a slower than 
anticipated take up by DHBs of the Non-Admitted Patient Database ($1.1 million), and a slower 
than expected implementation of the Cancer Control Strategy ($3.5 million).

note 3: Health services funding
This under spend arises from funds that were set aside for future initiatives and risk management 
having not been fully utilised during 2006/07. Subject to cabinet approval, the unspent portion 
will be re-appropriated into the risk reserve for 2007/08.

note 4: Problem gambling
The increase in the appropriation from $16.5 million to $20.3 million was not matched by a 
comparative increase in spending, leaving an under spend of over $3 million due to a decline in 
presentations for treatment. 

note 5: legal fees
This under spend arose from legal claims against the Crown not being settled by June 2007. The 
unused funding is expected to be re-appropriated to 2007/08 to cover future claim payments.

note 6: Deficit support for District Health Boards
Against an appropriation of $38 million only one request for cash support as a result of running a 
deficit was received. $21 million of the unused balance of the appropriation will, subject to cabinet 
approval, be re-appropriated back to deficit support in 2007/08 with the remainder to Health 
Services Funding for risk management reserves.

note 7: Equity for capital projects for District Health Boards
This under spend arose from late timing of draw down of equity required for DHBs’ capital projects.  
This is due to the slower than anticipated completion of projects, in particular the Wellington 
regional hospital.

note 8: Health sector projects
This under spend mainly relates to the remaining portion of capital contribution to Joint Trans-
Tasman Therapeutic Products Agency not yet having been paid to the Agency.
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note �: new lending to District Health Boards
In 2006/07 a total of $145.6 million was drawn down by DHBs relating to capital projects against 
an appropriation of $181 million. The total comprised Capital and Coast DHB $109.4 million, Bay 
of Plenty DHB $15 million, MidCentral DHB $4.1 million, Canterbury DHB drew down $9 million, 
and Waitemata DHB $8.1 million respectively. This under spend arose from the slower than 
anticipated completion of projects, in particular the Wellington regional hospital.

note �0: Refinancing of District Health Boards’ private debt
There were no private bank loans due for refinancing in 2006/07.  

note ��: Residential care loans
The funding for residential care loans is demand driven and the reduction in loans from 2005/06 
to 2006/07 reflects the lower level of new loans granted during the 2006/07 fiscal year.

note �2: Response to significant health emergencies
This under spend arose from the delay in delivery of some of the pandemic supplies. The 
remainder of the supplies were delivered early in the 2007/08 year.

note �3: Payment of capital charge by District Health Boards
Compared to 2005/06, there was an increase in capital charges from DHBs as a result of the 
2005/06 DHB property revaluations. Due to Auckland DHB not revaluing one of its sites, and 
Capital and Coast DHB’s Wellington Hospital extension running behind schedule, DHB equity 
levels were lower than expected resulting in capital charge receipts being lower than budgeted for 
2006/07. 

note �4: Cash
In comparison to the 2005/06 year, expenditure relating to output expense appropriations for 
2006/07 was $19 million closer to budget. Also at June 2007 money held from revenue received 
on behalf of the Crown was $11 million lower than at June 2006. These items accounted for  
$30 million of the $37 million reduction in cash available at year end.

note �5: Inventory
In 2006/07 stock of Tamiflu vaccine held for health emergency increased by $19 million, 
while meningococcal vaccine stock held reduced by $4 million as the programme was nearing 
completion.  

note �6: Debtors – District Health Boards
These relate to capital charges which increased as a result of the higher level of capital charges 
(see also note 13).

note �7: Debtors – Accident Compensation Commission
This relates to services delivered by hospitals under ACC claims in 2005/06 and 2006/07 that 
remain unpaid by ACC at June 2007. The amount owing at June 2007 compared to June 2006 
increased by $86 million due to a change in the invoicing and accrual process between ACC and 
the Ministry that caused the fixed amount invoice for the last quarter to remain unpaid and the 
adjustment to actual figures for four months of services to be outstanding at 30 June.
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note �8: Prepayments
The balances are represented by Service Contract prepayments and World Health Organization 
payments.

note ��: Residential care loans
The funding for residential care loans is demand driven and the reduction in loans from 2005/06 
to 2006/07 reflects the lower level of new loans granted during the 2006/07 fiscal year.

note 20: Accrued liabilities – District Health Boards
Accruals relate to services provided by DHBs in 2006/07 that will be paid for in a later period.  
The increase in accruals from 2005/06 to 2006/07 relates to an increase in funding for devolved 
elective services and general forecast funding track and demographic increases relating to side 
contracts. 
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